
BCP Council Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 11 September 2024 at 6.00 pm 

Venue: HMS Phoebe, BCP Civic Centre, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 
 

Membership: 

Chairman: 

Cllr C Rigby 

Vice Chairman: 

Cllr D d'Orton-Gibson 

Cllr J Bagwell 
Cllr B Chick 
Cllr J Clements 
 

Cllr C Goodall 
Cllr J Martin 
Cllr L Northover 
 

Cllr Dr F Rice 
Cllr V Ricketts 
Cllr G Wright 
 

 

All Members of the Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 
summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of business set out on the agenda 

below. 
 

The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: 
 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5913 
 

If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Rebekah Rhodes or email rebekah.rhodes@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

  

A
v
a
ila

b
le

 o
n
lin

e
 a

n
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 
 

GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 3 September 2024 

 



 

 susan.zeiss@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 



 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 

 

 

2.   Substitute Members  

 To receive information on any changes in the membership of the 
Committee. 

 
Note – When a member of a Committee is unable to attend a meeting of a 
Committee or Sub-Committee, the relevant Political Group Leader (or their 

nominated representative) may, by notice to the Monitoring Officer (or their 
nominated representative) prior to the meeting, appoint a substitute 

member from within the same Political Group. The contact details on the 
front of this agenda should be used for notifications. 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 

 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 8 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
15 May 2024. 

 

 

5.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 

for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1 

The deadline for the submission of public questions is mid-day Thursday 5 
September (3 clear working days before the meeting). 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is mid-day Tuesday 10 
September (the working day before the meeting). 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is Tuesday 27 August (10 

working days before the meeting). 
 

 

 ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

 
 

6.   Plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets: discussion paper 9 - 32 

 Following questions to Council from several members of the public on the 
Council’s stance on plant-based diets in relation to climate change, the 

Chair and Vice Chair of the Environment & Place Overview & Scrutiny 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

Panel requested a preliminary discussion paper on the issue in order to 

stimulate debate. 
 

7.   O & S Budget Presentation  

 The Environment and Place Committee will receive a Budget Awareness 

presentation as part of the enhanced scrutiny engagement for the 2025/26 
budget. The presentation will cover budget, pressures, assumed savings for 

those areas within the remit of the Committee. The Committee will have the 
opportunity to ask questions around the budget and is also asked to 
consider how it wishes to engage further with the development of the 

2025/26 budget. 
 

 

8.   O&S Budget working group - scoping report 33 - 42 

 The O&S Committee is asked to confirm the establishment of a budget 

working group, including membership and key lines of enquiry, to undertake 
detailed scrutiny work to contribute to the developing 2025/26 council 

budget during September – November 2024. 
 

 

9.   Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 43 - 132 

 This is the annual report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer on Overview and 
Scrutiny (O&S) activity within BCP Council.  There is a requirement to 

report on the work of O&S to Council, to ensure good visibility of the 
function and Council ownership of activity and any improvements required. 

The annual report contains a summary and analysis of O&S activity during 
2023-24, reflections on working practices and an action plan identifying 
strategic improvements to the O&S function. 

All O&S committees will receive the annual report for consideration, 
providing opportunity for comment prior to the supply of the final report to 

Council. 
 

 

10.   Work Plan 133 - 174 

 The Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) Committee is asked to consider and 

identify work priorities for publication in a Work Plan. 
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 May 2024 at 6.00 pm 
 

Present:- 

Cllr C Rigby – Chairman 

Cllr D d'Orton-Gibson – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr J Clements, Cllr J Martin, Cllr S Moore, Cllr Dr F Rice, 

Cllr V Ricketts, Cllr B Chick and Cllr G Wright 
 

Also in 

attendance: 

Cllr C Adams, Cllr S Aitkenhead, Cllr R Burton, Cllr A Chapmanlaw, 

Cllr M Earl, Cllr G Farquhar, Cllr C Goodall, Cllr A Hadley, 
Cllr E Harman, Cllr M Howell and Cllr A Keddie 

 
 

1. Apologies  
 

Apologies received from Councillor Lisa Northover 

 
2. Substitute Members  

 

The were no substitute members 
 

3. Election of Chair  
 

It was agreed that Councillor Chris Rigby be Elected Chair for the municipal 

year 2024/25. 
 

4. Election of Vice-Chair  
 

It was agreed that Councillor David D’Orton-Gibson be elected Vice-Chair 

for the Municipal year 2024/25. 
 

5. Declarations of Interests  
 

There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 

 
6. Confirmation of Minutes  

 

The minutes of the Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 24 February 2024 were approved as a correct record. 

 
7. Public Issues  

 

Please see Appendix A to these minutes in the Minute Book 
 

8. Improvement of the environment in Poole Park through a trial closure of a 
park entrance to motor traffic  
 

5

Agenda Item 4



– 2 – 

ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 May 2024 

 
The Portfolio Holder for Climate Response, Environment and Energy 

presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. The Committee was informed that from 17 January 2024, BCP 

Council began a trial 24-hour daily closure to motor vehicles of one 
entrance / exit point in Poole Park.  

On the same day the trial began, BCP Council launched a four-week 
consultation with the public, to understand the impact of reducing vehicles 
movements in Poole Park. The consultation results are considered in this 

report alongside other evidence, the strategic management of the park and 
the wider impact of a closure.  

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) on the closure confirmed that on 
balance there are no significant impacts on protected characteristic groups, 
including older people and those with disabilities. The public consultation 

did show that older people and those with a disability were more likely to 
disagree with the proposal. The purpose of the Cabinet report was to 

assess the strategic management of the environment within Poole Park and 
to seek a decision as to whether the trial arrangement and road closure 
shall be adjusted or made permanent. 

 
A Ward Councillor stated that residents feel passionate about the closure 
and along with a fellow Ward Councillor in Parkstone had engaged with 

residents and delivered over 700 letters to those closest to the gate. It was 
mentioned that residents said there was increased safety for children and 

mobility scooters. 
 
It was stated in Poole Town Ward it was a difficult issue as there was a lot 

of disagreement and campaigning in the area. Walking and talking to 
people in the park it was stated that more were in favour of keeping the 

gate closed than they were keeping it open.  Not a lot of residents of Poole 
Town had gardens and felt the park was like their garden. 
The report from DOTs had been read which listed how the closure of the 

gate effects the elderly and disabled, there were various issues raised.  It 
was confirmed that DOTs was independent. 

It was stated there was no perfect solution and a park should not be used 
for through traffic.  It was also stated that it would be a positive step if 
adopted by the Council.  Most people who visited the park and spoke to 

councillors said it was marvellous that it was closed. 
 

Members of the Committee said they had received lots of letters from 
residents, although some were emotive, rude and unhelpful.  Residents had 
stated that they drove through the park as they were unable to walk.  It was 

also stated that the scenic drive was therapeutic and fulfilled psychological 
needs and the ability to drive through the park needed to remain.  

 
It was stated that the park encompassed a lovely scenic view that should 
be protected.  You cannot get the view anywhere else and it can be seen 

from the hospital. 
 

It was stated that traffic levels dropped over the last 20 years as the 
number of offices on Parkstone Road decreased. 

6



– 3 – 

ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 May 2024 

 
 

A compromise was suggested of only closing the gate at peak times but it 
was stated that it would be difficult to do and could cause conflict if 
intermittent closure was introduced. 

 
RECOMMENDED that 

1.  Cabinet refer the matter to Full Council for decision. 
 
Voting: 6 for, 1 against and 2 abstentions 

 
9. Work Plan  

 

The Chairman presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to 
each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'C' to these 

Minutes in the Minute Book. The Environment and Place Overview and 
Scrutiny (O&S) Committee was asked to consider and identify work 

priorities for publication in a Work Plan. 
 
The Chair invited the Overview and Scrutiny specialist to update the 

Committee. There was a request from a member of the public regarding the 
use of phosphates in Chemicals used for weed killing, it was explained that 
any scrutiny request received has to go to the next available meeting for the 

Committee to decide if it wishes to conduct further scrutiny. 
 

The Joint Service Unit Head for Environmental services gave a 
presentation on weed killing, attached to these minutes. 
 

It was highlighted that BCP had a statutory responsibility to ensure the 
highway was safe. BCP encouraged residents to support removing weeds 

along boundary lines. Only approved chemicals were used.  Chemicals 
were not used in play areas and were applied directly to the weeds and not 
as blanket coverage. 

 
The Committee decided that they wanted to keep an eye on this and have it 

added to the forward plan and the Chair would consult with officer about 
this. 
 

The Forward Plan was divided into pre-cabinet and pro-active scrutiny.  
Reactive scrutiny may appear if required as issues arise. 

 
It was noted that the Urban Forest Strategy will go to July Cabinet and to 
the Committee the week before. 

 
The Forward Plan has been themed for meetings that are similar for 

example Climate and housing which was in the remit for the committee. 
 
 
RESOLVED that 

1. the O&S Committee consider, update and confirm its Work Plan 

and agree to delegate to the Chair and Vice-Chair arrangements 
for the items. 

7



– 4 – 

ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 May 2024 

 
 

Voting: Unanimous 
 
 

 
 

 
The meeting ended at Time Not Specified  

 CHAIRMAN 

8



ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

Report subject  Plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets: discussion 
paper 

Meeting date  11 September 2024  

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Following questions to Council from several members of the public 
on the Council’s stance on plant-based diets in relation to climate 
change, the Chair and Vice Chair of the Environment & Place 
Overview & Scrutiny Panel requested a preliminary discussion 
paper on the issue in order to stimulate debate. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 Environment & Place Overview & Scrutiny Panel consider the 
information presented in the discussion paper in order to give their 
views on possible approaches Cabinet may wish to take in relation 
to the promotion of plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets. 
These proposals will then be subject to further evidence-gathering 
and consultation.  

Reason for 
recommendations 

To explore the issue and assist Cabinet select the most appropriate 
way forward for the promotion of plant-based and reduced meat 
and dairy diets in the organisation and community, in order to 
achieve emissions reduction and meet our climate commitments.  

  

9

Agenda Item 6



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley, Portfolio Holder for Climate Mitigation, 
Environment and Energy 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Report Authors Gail Scholes, Interim Head of Policy, Sustainability and Inclusion 

Neil Short, Strategic Lead: Climate, Resources and Sustainability  

Becky Beaumont, Sustainability Officer 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. According to the United Nations, approximately one third of all human-caused 
greenhouse gas emissions are linked to the global food system. Food needs to be 
grown and processed, transported, distributed, prepared, consumed, and sometimes 
disposed of. Each of these steps creates greenhouse gases that contribute to 
climate change. The largest portion coming from agriculture and land use. Animal-
based foods, especially red meat, dairy, and farmed shrimp, are generally 
associated with the highest greenhouse gas emissions. Plant-based foods – such as 
fruits and vegetables, whole grains, beans, peas, nuts, and lentils – generally use 
less energy, land, and water, and have lower greenhouse gas intensities than 
animal-based foods.  

2. In order to meet the Net Zero by 2050 target, the UK Climate Change Committee 
recommends a 20-50% reduction in all meat and dairy consumption. In response, 
local authorities have adopted various approaches, ranging from endorsement of the 
Plant-Based Treaty advocating veganism to support of the Countryside Alliance in 
support of farmers and retaining locally sourced meat on the menu.  

3. In response to public questions at Full Council on 23 July 2024, the Leader 
reiterated the Council position on the issue: ‘Changing to a meat and dairy-free diet 
is an important component in reducing our personal carbon footprint. However, we 
do feel we should promote and encourage rather than mandating plant-based 
options.’ 

4. The Plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets discussion paper presented at 
Appendix 1 has been compiled in order to allow debate as to the possible 
approaches the Council can take to facilitate this promotion and encouragement. 

Options Appraisal 

5. Option 1: Environment & Place Overview & Scrutiny Panel discusses and reaches 
consensus on approaches to promote and encourage plant-based and reduced 
meat and dairy diets for further evidence-gathering and consultation. 

6. Option 2: Environment & Place Overview & Scrutiny Panel discusses but is unable 
to reach consensus on approaches to promote and encourage plant-based and 
reduced meat and dairy diets. 

10



Summary of financial implications 

7. Dependant on the views of the Panel, any actions proposed will need to be subject 
to further assessment to establish any financial implications (e.g. procuring vegan 
products instead of meat for internal catering may have cost implications). 

Summary of legal implications 

8. Dependant on the views of the Panel, any actions proposed will need to be subject 
to further assessment to establish any legal implications 

Summary of human resources implications 

9. Dependant on the views of the Panel, any actions proposed will need to be subject 
to further assessment to establish any human resources implications. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

10. Adopting plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets is intended to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and lessen environmental impact on the planet, therefore 
their promotion and encouragement should be of benefit. However, dependant on 
the views of the Panel, any actions proposed will need to be subject to further 
assessment to establish sustainability impact. Decision Impact Assessment no. 680 
has been completed and resulted in a Low carbon footprint rating for this initial 
activity. 

Summary of public health implications 

11. Adoption of plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets can have health benefits 
if implemented correctly, ensuring essential nutrient levels are maintained for good 
health. Any recommendations will be subject to consultation with the appropriate 
bodies to ensure this is achieved. 

Summary of equality implications 

12. The discussion paper itself will not mandate any changes. However, if changes were 
to be made to the availability of plant-based and reduced meat and dairy foods in 
Council catering and promotions, there would be positive equalities outcomes. 
Faiths and cultures that are not able to consume certain animal products would be 
ensured of suitable food and drink at Council functions and outlets, as ethical 
veganism is a protected belief under the Equalities Act 2010. Therefore, action to 
increase availability of plant-based foods is in line with diversity and inclusion 
objectives. The EIA conversation/screening document is available and is awaiting 
approval by the EIA panel.  

Summary of risk assessment 

13. Dependant on the views of the Panel, any actions proposed will be subject to a risk 
assessment. 

11

https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/neil_short_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/ERmHWOYl8ixLrLx3ckoz1WsB77kg2K2EM2BFv21h3JGnFg?e=mXSGZ4


Background papers 

Published works: 

 The Sixth Carbon Budget: The UKs path to Net Zero – Climate Change Committee 

 The National Food Strategy: The Plan - National Food Strategy Team 

 The Plant-Based Treaty  

 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 - Plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets: discussion paper 

 

 

12



 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

Plant-based and reduced 
meat and dairy diets: 
discussion paper  

 
Environment and Place Overview & Scrutiny Panel  

11th September 2024 

 
11th July 2024 

Appendix 1 

13



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
1 

Plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets: discussion paper 

 

Contents  

 

 Page 
 

1 The link between food and climate change 
 

2 

2 How to reduce food-related emissions 
 

3 

3 Proposals for the UK 
 

4 

4 Action taken by UK local authorities 
 

6 

5 BCP Council’s declared position 
 

10 

6 BCP Council’s plant-based food offers and procurement 
 

11 

7 Current food initiatives in the BCP area 
 

14 

8 Plant-based diets and the Council’s climate commitments 
 

15 

9 DRAFT Position Statement 16 
 

Appendix A: The Plant Based Treaty 17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose of this paper: 

Following questions to Council on the organisation’s stance on plant-based diets in 

relation to climate change, the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Environment & Place 

Overview & Scrutiny Panel requested this preliminary discussion paper on the issue 

in order to stimulate debate. 

 

  

14



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
2 

1 The link between food and climate change 

 
According to the United Nations, it is estimated that globally, approximately one third of all 
human-caused greenhouse gas emissions are linked to food1. 
 

Our food needs to be grown and processed, transported, distributed, prepared, consumed, 
and food waste disposed of. Each of these steps creates greenhouse gases that contribute 
to climate change, the largest portion coming from agriculture and land use.  
 
Animal-based foods, especially red meat, dairy, and farmed shrimp, are generally associated 
with the highest greenhouse gas emissions. This is because:    

 Meat production often requires extensive grasslands, created by cutting down trees, 
releasing carbon dioxide  

 Cows and sheep emit methane as they digest grass and plants  

 Cattle waste on pastures and chemical fertilizers used on crops for cattle feed emit 
nitrous oxide 

 Shrimp farms often occupy coastal lands, formerly mangrove forests which had 
stored huge amounts of carbon.  

 
Plant-based foods – such as fruits and vegetables, whole grains, beans, peas, nuts, and 
lentils – generally use less energy, land, and water, and have lower greenhouse gas 
intensities than animal-based foods. Below is a chart showing the carbon footprint of 
different food products based on weight (per kilogram of food). 
 

 
Source: United Nations Climate Action  
Note: ‘Beef’ combines beef and dairy cattle, ‘Shellf ish’ and ‘f ish’ are farmed, Cheese and milk include all dairy sources such as 
cow , goat, sheep, buffalo and camel 

 
 
 

                                                 
1 https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/science/climate-issues/food 

15



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
3 

 
2 How to reduce food-related emissions 
 
Reducing emissions from the food sector requires changes at all stages, from producers to 
consumers. 
 
The western diet has since World War 2 tended towards eating a lot of meat, whereas our 
ancestors ate more sparsely, exercised more in the course of undertaking their daily tasks, 
and for many people meat was an occasional treat. Reducing obesity and over-eating would 
also have a part to play.    
 
Shifting food systems towards plant-rich diets – with more plant protein (such as beans, 
chickpeas, lentils, nuts, and grains), a reduced amount of animal-based foods (meat and 
dairy) and less saturated fats (butter, milk, cheese) – can lead to a significant reduction in 
greenhouse gas emissions compared to current dietary patterns in most industrialised 
countries. 
 
Alternative proteins – such as plant-based meat and dairy substitutes, insect-based proteins, 
and cell-based/cultivated meat – provide promising prospects and are attracting growing 
demand, financial investment and technological innovation.  
 
But animal products remain an important source of food security, nutrition and livelihoods for 
large numbers of rural populations around the world. In these countries, improved feeds and 
feeding techniques can reduce methane generated during cattle’s digestion as well as the 
amount of gases released by decomposing manure. Smaller herd sizes, with fewer, more 
productive animals can also help. And better agricultural practices, such as improved 
manure and fertilizer management, rotational grazing to maintain healthy soil to store 
carbon, and the restoration of degraded lands can significantly reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions. 
 
At the same time, reducing food waste is key. Almost 1 billion tons of food – 17% of all food 
available to consumers worldwide – is discarded every year. Producing, transporting, and 
letting that food rot contributes more than 8% of global greenhouse gas emissions. If food 
waste were a country, it would be the third-largest emitting country in the world.2 
 

 

  

                                                 
2 https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/science/climate-issues/food 

16



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
4 

3 Proposals for the UK 

In order to achieve the UK target of becoming Net Zero, the UK Climate Change Committee 

has published scenarios illustrating the need for a 20-50% reduction in all meat and dairy 

consumption by 20503, with the following comments:  

 ‘Policies for the 2020s must be designed to encourage the sorts of societal and 

behaviour changes that would reduce emissions while also providing co-benefits in 

some cases (e.g. to health). These include… healthier diets that contain significantly 

less meat and dairy…’  

 ‘… switching away from meat (e.g. 28% by 2035) would release around a fifth more 

land out of agricultural production… This allows for increased afforestation, trees on-

farm, and the planting of energy crops.’  

 ‘Shifting meat consumption more in line with Government guidance would have 

significant health impacts. A 2013 report that the Committee commissioned from 

Ricardo indicated that the health impacts of reducing red meat consumption by 50% 

amounted to an annual monetised benefit of 0.5% of GDP.’  

 ‘…reducing meat and dairy consumption needs to involve substitution with healthy, 

low-carbon alternatives that are affordable and accessible…’ 

 ‘Income to livestock and dairy farms could be affected if meat and dairy consumption 

falls by the 20-50% envisaged in our scenarios. The UK’s farms and their 450,000 

workers will need to be engaged and supported in the transition to low-carbon 

farming practices.’ 

 ‘Multiple opportunities exist, including transitioning to plantbased food (e.g. cereals 

and legumes), growing bioenergy crops, lower-carbon livestock production and 

receiving income for low-carbon land management (such as increased treeplanting or 

peatland restoration, much of which in our scenarios occurs on land released from 

raising livestock).’ 

 

National Food Strategy  

In 2021, the National Food Strategy4, a Government-commissioned independent review into 

the food system, concluded: ‘The food system we have now has evolved over many years. It 

won’t be easy to reshape it. But time is not on our side. The effects of climate change are 

already becoming apparent around the world. Diet-related disease is putting an intolerable 

strain on our nation’s health and finances – and COVID-19 has only increased the pressure. 

For our own health, and that of our planet, we must act now.’ 

Key environmental and health findings included: 

 Agriculture alone produces 10% of UK greenhouse gas emissions, despite 

constituting less than 1% of GDP 

 80% of processed food sold in the UK is unhealthy  

                                                 
3 https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/The-Sixth-Carbon-Budget-The-UKs-path-to-
Net-Zero.pdf 
4 https://www.nationalfoodstrategy.org/ 

17



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
5 

 The UK is now the third fattest country in the G7, with almost 3 in ten adults being 

obese  

 85% of UK land in food production is used to graze livestock and produce crops to 

feed livestock  

 In the UK the food system accounts for about one fifth of the country’s emissions, 

rising to 30% if we include emissions from all the food we import.  

The National Food Strategy recommends a 30% decrease in meat consumption over the 

next 10 years. This could be achieved as illustrated below: 

 

Source: National Food Strategy, 2021 

 

  

18



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
6 

4 Action taken by UK local authorities 

Movements, both supporting and opposing, have emerged in response to the call for more 

plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets.  

Plant Based Treaty 

One such pro-vegan campaign is the Plant Based Treaty5, calling for creation of a global 

Treaty as a companion to the 2015 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate 

Change Paris Agreement. Advocates explain: ‘… the Plant Based Treaty aims to put food 

systems at the forefront of combating the climate crisis to halt the widespread degradation of 

critical ecosystems caused by animal agriculture and to promote a shift towards healthier, 

sustainable plant-based diets.’ 

The Plant Based Treaty (full text attached at Appendix A) can be endorsed by individuals, 

groups, businesses and cities. In doing so, they are expressing their support for national 

governments to come together to negotiate a global Plant Based Treaty, including the three 

core principles of ‘Relinquish, Redirect and Restore’ and 40 further proposals including: 

 No building of new animal farms 

 No expansion or intensification of existing farms 

 Shift away from monoculture-based arable farming that depletes soil, decreases 

biodiversity and is reliant on external inputs such as animal manure and 

agrochemicals towards diversified, agroecological, veganic (vegan and organic) 

farming using regenerative, permaculture and natural principles that restore soil and 

ecosystems, enhance food security and provide nutrient-dense foods 

 Calculate greenhouse gas emissions based on consumption and develop a food 

strategy for Climate Action Plans that prioritizes a switch to plant-based foods and 

public education 

 Mandate honest labelling of food products including carbon labelling and cancer 

warning labels on all processed meats which have been declared carcinogenic by the 

World Health Organization 

 Introduce a meat (including fish) and methane tax with proceeds funding restoration 

of land destroyed by animal agriculture 

 Reforestation and restoration of the oceans is prioritised by designating additional 

areas of the oceans as zero fishing Marine Protected Areas (known as Highly 

Protected Marine Areas – HPMAs) 

 Subsidies made available for farmers and landowners who practise good land 

stewardship and are actively restoring the land and the associated ecosystem 

services (such as carbon sequestration, biodiversity, flood defence, general climate 

change resilience) 

 Repurpose available land freed up from animal grazing and animal feed production 

for: rewilding, reforestation (if appropriate), returning land to Indigenous people, 

nature reserves, hiking zones, community growing, allotments (if appropriate), 

agroecological veganic food growing (where possible) 

                                                 
5 https://plantbasedtreaty.org/the-pbt/ 

19



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
7 

The UK towns & cities that have endorsed the Plant-Based Treaty are: Belfast, Edinburgh, 

Exmouth, Haywards Heath, Lambeth and Norwich. Locally, 8 current BCP Council Elected 

Members have personally supported the Plant-Based Treaty. 

The Countryside Alliance 

In direct opposition to the Plant-Based Treaty, the Countryside Alliance6, a campaigning 

group that aims to promote and protect the rural way of life, co-ordinates a campaign to 

support local farmers and discourage councils from moving away from meat consumption. 

It’s stated aims are to: challenge bias and misinformation, campaign for a sustainable 

countryside, and educate about the countryside. 

Local authorities that have passed motions in accordance with the Countryside Alliance aims 

commonly include clauses committing them to: 

 Support local farmers and food producers 

 Engage and work in partnership with poultry, arable and livestock farmers to ensure 

their ability to enhance our countryside, and with the fishing industry to protect the 

oceans 

 Strive to support farmers by being sympathetic to diversification opportunities and 

promotion of local produce 

 Be vocal in opposing excessive regulation by central government and attempts to 

diminish the role our meat, dairy, and arable farmers play in our rural way of life, 

enabling them to prosper 

 Ensuring food provided at all council events is sourced from local suppliers. This 

includes meat, fish, dairy and plant-based produce 

 Encourage local residents to shop locally, where possible, taking advantage of home-

grown, affordable, and nutritious produce, with an aim of reducing food miles to 

plates. 

Local authorities that have passed motions of this nature are: Wiltshire, Dorset, Fenland, 

Portsmouth, Suffolk, Cornwall and North Northamptonshire councils. 

An alternative approach 

A number of local authorities have been asked by residents to consider endorsing the Plant-

Based Treaty, and have debated this. Some, such as Edinburgh and Exmouth have 

endorsed the Treaty whilst acknowledging that many of the commitments made are not 

within their power to achieve (Edinburgh7) or selecting only those that they feel they can 

commit to and drawing up a ‘reduced’ Treaty (Exmouth8). Others have declined to endorse 

the Treaty and have drafted their own commitments. These include: 

                                                 
6 https://www.countryside-alliance.org/resources/news/wiltshire-becomes-latest-to-council-to-defy-
plant-based-movement-in-show-of-support-for-farmers 
7 https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s53255/ Item%207.5%20 -
%20Endorsement%20of%20Plant-
based%20Treaty%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Burgess.pdf 
8 https://exmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Exmouth-Plant-Based-Treaty-.pdf 

20



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
8 

Manchester City Council9 in July 2024, which passed the following motion: 

This Council resolves to: 

 Campaign to end Food Poverty and ensure that every resident has access to 

healthy, nutritious, good quality food to flourish 

 Continue citywide communications campaigns that promote sustainable and 

affordable opportunities that encourage people to make change 

 Continue to support Manchester to become a carbon literate city 

 Build upon and strengthen actions relating to food in the new Climate Action Plan for 

2025-2030 

 Work with Greater Manchester Combined Authority and Manchester Climate Change 

Agency to ensure that actions at an organisational, ward, city wide and regional level 

are as aligned as possible 

 Work with the new Labour Government to deliver Manchester’s target to be a Zero 

Carbon City by 2038. 

 

Oxfordshire County Council10 debated plant-based food in March 2022, deciding to 

offer: 

 Plant-based food only at the 7 full council meetings per year and any occasional 

events held by the Chair of the Council (Mayor) 

 In the future, plant-based options on school menus for part of the week (Council 

provides meals at 14% of the county’s schools)  

 

Bristol City Council11 received public requests to sign the Plant Based Treaty in March 

2024, and the Mayor responded at Full Council:  

 ‘Bristol has been leading the way on sustainable food production - as well as 

decarbonisation in general – as is evidenced in it being only the second city in the UK 

to achieve Gold Standard for food sustainability. While I agree that emissions from 

animal agriculture do need to be tackled, I have some reservations that some of 

components of this treaty will harm society’s poorest.  

 Changing behavioural habits, such as diets, takes time. Blunt instruments such as a 

tax on meat could well have no effect on meat consumption but will make already-

struggling low-income families struggle even further. The focus should instead be on 

making fruit and vegetables as cheap as possible, so that healthy, sustainable diets 

are an option for everyone – this is the approach we’re taking in Bristol.  

                                                 
9 https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=14557 
10 https://news/oxfordshire.gov.uk/plant-based-food/# 
11 
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/b34822/Response%20to%20Public%20Forum%20Submi
ssions%2012%20March%202024%20Full%20Council%2012th-Mar-

2024%2018.00%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=9 

21



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
9 

 However, I would stress that the principles in the treaty are a matter for central 

Government rather than local. I suggest you email your Member of Parliament about 

this – three of Bristol’s four Labour MPs are vegan, so I’m sure will have sympathy 

with the treaty’s aims.  

 On a local level, the Labour administration is committing significant resources to 

make our food systems more sustainable. As I stated, we’ve received Gold Standard 

Award for food sustainability – only the second city in the country to do so – for our 

efforts to reduce food waste, grow the city’s good food movement, address food 

inequality, increase urban food growing, improve catering and procurement, and 

tackle the impacts of our food system on public health, nature, and climate change…’ 

 
 
The City of Edinburgh Council, having endorsed the Plant-Based Treaty in 2023, 
published their Action Plan12 in 2024. 
 

Limiting actions to issues that the local authority can influence, the City of Edinburgh Council 
Action Plan is broken down into four key themes:  
 

 Awareness raising and capacity building  

 Food waste reduction 

 Increased provision of plant-based food 

 Influence and leadership. 

Actions include: 

 

 Continue to actively promote the Veg Power campaign 

 Develop a leaflet on low carbon, sustainable food, as well as information on healthy 

diets 

 Share resources on reducing the environmental impact of food to partners (menu 

ideas, reports, case studies, training resources etc) 

 Explore options to allow pupils to take any fresh (uncooked) left-overs from the 

counter back home at the end of the day to reduce food waste 

 Share and implement best practice around food waste where appropriate 

 Ensure all food & drink provided at meetings and events hosted by the Council 

include plant-based options, and where possible, sourcing sustainable local 

ingredients 

 When re-tendering for food concession contracts under Culture, specify that plant-

based options are available 

 Develop customised sustainability checklists for Council cultural venues’ clients, 

promoters, and artists. 

 

                                                 
12 https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s65215/ Item%207.2%20 -

%20Plant%20Based%20Treaty%20Action%20Plan.pdf 

22



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
10 

5 BCP Council’s declared position 

Resident’s questions concerning plant-based diets were put to the Full Council Meeting on 

23 July 2024, (and had also been raised previously at Council on 12 September 2023, where 

they were answered by the Portfolio Holder). The Leader reiterated the Council position that 
‘changing to a meat and dairy free diet is an important component in reducing our 

personal carbon footprint. However, we do feel we should promote and encourage 

rather than mandating plant-based options.’  

The Leader’s responses to specific questions that the Panel should consider for debate were 

as follows: 

 As an administration we welcome the challenge and will look into the implications 

of prioritising climate-friendly advertising on assets we own and utilising our 

Council communications channels to promote the benefits of a low meat and 

dairy/plant-based diet to residents in its climate-related messaging 

 We will need to explore the current methods of carbon labelling and its 

effectiveness before considering promoting to schools or using in our own catering 

and food menus 

 Any Councillor is welcome to bring a motion to supply and serve 100% plant-

based food at all internal meetings and internal events, and further debate with 

colleagues on this matter is welcomed 

 The Council is not able to endorse the Plant-Based Treaty or production of a 

stand-alone strategy, however we do endorse encouragement towards a low meat 

and dairy/meat free diet. We prefer to work with the community whilst not attempting 
to impose veganism, and promotion of a low meat and dairy-free/plant-based 

diet will form part of our Climate strategy going forward 

 The Council does ask for a variety of food options when tendering large events 

and sustainability forms part of the quality assessment for all our tenders  

 The Council is not able to endorse production of a stand-alone action plan but will 
aim to lead by example in promoting and prioritising plant-based eating where 

it has influence and community support to do so. 

 

  

23



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
11 

6 BCP Council’s plant-based food offers and procurement 

BCP Council has responded to the climate crisis by introducing plant-based and reduced 

meat and dairy products into its food operations. The timing of this paper has not allowed for 

a comprehensive examination of all trials, but the following are views and findings provided 

by Catering Managers. 

Commercial Operations: Seafront outlets and Civic Centre Terrace Cafe  

Maxime Froger, Catering Manager for the Council’s Commercial Operations provided the 

following information and assessment of vegan products as part of the Council’s Seafront 

catering operations and internal Terrace Cafe at the Civic Centre. 

The approximate percentage of the current offer that is vegan (containing no ingredients 

derived from animals) is: less than 10%. 

Assessment of the implications of increasing the vegan offer: 

 In the Catering Department, vegan products currently offered are: ice cream, 

‘sausage’ bap, full breakfast, spicy bean burger, ‘sausage’, chips and beans, KitKat, 

toasted teacake, ‘sausage’ roll, Keralan cauliflower bhaji pasty, pastries (croissant, 

pain au chocolat and cinnamon swirl), jacket potato with smoked bean chilli, chips, 

falafel wrap. These are not particularly high-volume sales (except chips and 

‘sausage’ baps) 

 Vegan products currently cost more to purchase so reduce the profit margin 

 It would not be currently desirable to increase the vegan offer, since a vegan-only 

offer was trialled at the Durley Hub in 2023 and was unsuccessful with negative 

customer feedback. Staff received many comments as to why only vegan products 

were available and some customers who wanted meat products would leave 

because we were just offering the vegan option. Following this, some meat and non-

plant-based items were introduced to the menu. Sales figures for Durley Hub from 

1st April to 31st December 2023 were: £2,953 for vegan items and £9,060 for meat 

or non-plant-based items  

 The Prom Café on Bournemouth Pier Approach offers all the vegan products listed 

above. Other Seafront units offer fewer vegan options due to capacity and volume of 

trade. In 2023/24, the Prom Café sales percentages were: 91% non-vegan sales, 

compared to 9% vegan sales (mainly chips and ‘sausage’ baps). 

 

The possible implications of all internal catering (Council’s own meetings and Terrace Café) 

becoming vegan: 

 From current sales at the Terrace Café, there is an established demand for non-

vegan products and there has been no feedback from users about increasing the 

offer. If the café changed to vegan-only products, it would impact sales, increase 

costs and risk making the operation unviable. 

 

 

24



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
12 

Queen’s Park Golf Course (Woodpecker Café) 

Bryony Betts, Venue and Operations Manager of Woodpecker Café at Queen’s Park Golf 

Course provided the following information and assessment of vegan products as part of their 

daily café trade, ‘grab-and-go’ retail, and events catering and buffets. 

The approximate percentage of the current offer that is vegan (containing no ingredients 

derived from animals) is: Daily Café Menu: 25%, Grab-and-Go Packaged Items: 35%, 

Events Buffet Menu: 33%. 

Assessment of the implications of increasing the vegan offer: 

 There is currently no significant interest in vegan options amongst our larger 

customer demographics and daily visitors. Products tested and subsequently 

withdrawn from daily café trade include: vegan ‘bacon’ alternative (expensive to buy 

in and not popular), vegan sausage rolls (high wastage), wide range of alternative 

milks (high wastage) 

 Vegan alternative products (e.g. cheese and meat alternatives) from our current 

suppliers are typically more expensive than their non-vegan equivalents. Cost of 

specifically vegan products is typically 155% - 230% more than non-vegan products 

 Slow sales on an increased vegan offering would also increase wastage, adding to 

cost of goods 

 It would not be viable for Queen’s Park Catering to operate as a fully vegan outlet as 

this does not reflect the demographic of visitors or events bookings at Queen’s Park. 

This would also have a significant negative impact on the attraction of Queen’s Park 

Golf Course as the offerings are closely tied 

 Vegan items that have proved successful include: Alternative milks for coffees – 

popular among vegans and non-vegans as many now actively choose a non-dairy 

alternative, cheaper vegan menu options that can be held for a long period of 

time/prepared on demand to minimise wastage – e.g. vegan chilli (frozen portions), 

vegan sausage baps (from frozen), menu items that are vegan by default and 

therefore appealing to vegans and non-vegans alike (e.g. smoothies, flapjacks, 

crisps). 

 

The possible implications of all internal catering (Council’s own meetings) becoming vegan: 

 For reasons of storage space, wastage etc. it is not practical to run a separate menu 

for internal and external functions or daily trade catering at Queen’s Park 

 Costs for internal catering would increase 

 Reputationally, public reaction may be mixed. Some people would favour the 

environmental benefits, but others may be cynical about any increase in internal 

spending at a time when Council budget cuts are visible. 

 

Food Procurement 

The Council currently has three contracts for supply of food relevant to this topic as set out 

below: 

25



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
13 

Contract DN475683 - Supply of Fresh Meat and Poultry to Council Catering 

Establishments 

Supplier - County Foods Ltd 

Estimated Value of Contract - £40,000 per annum 

Expires: 2025  

This contract supplies fresh meat and poultry to Day Centres, Upton Country Park and 

TwoRiversmeet Leisure Centre.  

 
Contract DN485684 - Supply of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables to Council Catering 

Establishments 

Supplier – Harvest Fine Foods 

Estimated Value of Contract - £35,000 per annum 

Expires: 2026 

This contract supplies fresh fruit and vegetables to the trading outlets along the seafront and 

in the parks, Upton House Tea Rooms, Russell-Cotes Art Gallery & Museum, Day Centres 

and the Terrace Cafe in the Civic Centre.  
 
Contract DN561888 - Supply and Delivery of Ice Cream Products for BCP Council 

Suppliers – Unilever (Lot 1), New Forest Ice Cream Ltd (Lot 2) 

Estimated Value of Contract - £500,000 per annum 

Expires: 2027 

This contract supplies 20 trading outlets along the seafront which the supplier(s) will be 

required to supply as well as five park cafés, two museums, a country park and a visitor 

centre.  

These specifications contain sustainability clauses, including: 

 The Supplier will work with the Council to suggest ways of delivering sustainable 

procurement including the use of more sustainably sourced and produced/harvested 

products 

 The Council has a preference for seasonal produce to be supplied where possible. 

 

 

  

26



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
14 

7 Current food initiatives in the BCP area 

 
The Council is active in delivering, communicating and supporting food initiatives in the area, 
including Government-funded schemes such as the Household Support Fund. These have 
mainly addressed food affordability, poverty and health, but are expanding to embrace 
sustainability concerns. These initiatives could be instrumental in increasing public 
awareness and acceptability of vegan and reduced meat and dairy diets through 
demonstrating the economic, environmental and health benefits when approached correctly. 
Initiatives include: 
 
Access to Food Partnership13  

The Access to Food Partnership consists of BCP Council, Public Health Dorset and local 
community groups, established in March 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
building on work from the Dorset Hidden Hunger 2019 conference. The partnership aims to 
make sure that everyone in our area can get healthy food for themselves and their families, 
at any time. The partnership mission is to: 

 make sure everyone can get food in a crisis 

 help people learn how to find, cook and eat healthy food 

 bring local communities together to find local solutions and use local strengths 

 share good information about local community food options 

 make food access a priority in local policy and decisions  

 develop a strong community food network. 
 
The Feeding Dorset Partnership14 

BCP Council supports The Feeding Dorset Partnership, which has recently joined the 
network of Sustainable Food Places15 across the UK. A large number of people, groups, and 
organisations work to feed everyone across the area. The Feeding Dorset Partnership aims 
to build a better understanding of the scale and scope of this web of food projects, 
businesses, and networks across the area and to move towards a more resilient, sustainable 
and affordable food future. The Partnership will use the areas of focus for a Sustainable 
Food Place to build connections between people and organisations: 

 Food Governance and Strategy: good food governance and action 

 Good Food Movement: Building public awareness and a local good food movement. 

 Healthy Food for all: Tackling food poverty and diet related ill-health. 

 Sustainable Food Economy: Creating a vibrant and diverse sustainable food 
economy. 

 Catering and Procurement: Revitalizing local supply chains. 

 Food for the Planet: Tackling the climate and nature emergency through 
sustainable food and farming and an end to food waste. 

 
 
  

                                                 
13 https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/communities/cost-of-living-help/access-to-food-partnership/access-
to-food-partnership-mission-meetings-and-reports 
14 www.helpandkindness.co.uk/feeding-dorset-partnership 
15 https://www.sustainablefoodplaces.org/ 

27



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
15 

8 Plant-based diets and the Council’s climate commitments 

 
Commitments made in the 2019 BCP Council Climate and Ecological Emergency 
Declaration call upon the Council to make its operations carbon neutral by 2030 and work 
with others to make the area carbon neutral by 2045. Reducing the amount of meat and 
dairy products consumed within the Council and in the wider area will contribute towards 
these targets (forming part of what are termed the Scope 3, or ‘indirect’ emissions).  
 
However, when the Council calculates the annual greenhouse gas emissions for the 
organisation and wider area, emissions from food consumption are not included, as data is 
not readily available, as it is for other sources, and methodology for reliably calculating these 
is only now emerging. One such tool is The Waste and Resources Action Programme 
(WRAP) Scope 3 Protocols for Food and Drink businesses.16  
 
It should therefore be accepted that whilst contributing to overall emissions reduction locally 
and globally, promoting the adoption of plant-based diets will not immediately be reflected in 
the Council’s own performance. 
 
  

                                                 
16 https://www.wrap.ngo/resources/guide/scope-3-ghg-measurement-and-reporting-protocols -food-

and-drink 

28



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
16 

9 DRAFT Position Statement for consideration by the Environment & Place Overview 

& Scrutiny Panel 

 

It may be appropriate for the Council to have a position statement on plant-based and 

reduced meat and dairy diets. The following has been prepared as a template for further 

discussion: 

 

DRAFT BCP Council position statement on plant-based and reduced meat and dairy 

diets 

This Council recognises that the food system is a major cause of greenhouse gas emissions.  

Adopting a plant-based or reduced meat and dairy diet, as recommended by the United 

Nations and UK Climate Change Committee, is an important component in reducing our 

personal and collective carbon footprint.  

To assist in reducing emissions from the food system, BCP Council will: 

 Aim to lead by example in promoting and prioritising plant-based eating where it has 

influence and community support to do so 

 Promote and encourage a plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diet as part of 

our climate strategy going forward 

 Ensure food & drink provided at meetings and functions hosted by the Council 

includes plant-based and reduced meat and dairy options, and locally sourced 

ingredients where possible 

 Continue to offer plant-based and reduced meat and dairy options from Council 

catering outlets 

 Specify that plant-based options are available when re-tendering food contracts, 

wherever appropriate 

 Continue to ask for a variety of food options when tendering large events 

 Promote and encourage food waste reduction wherever possible  

 Encourage residents to shop locally where possible, taking advantage of home-

grown, seasonal, affordable, and nutritious produce.  

 

 
 
 
  

29



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
17 

Appendix A 

The Plant Based Treaty 
 

Individuals, groups, businesses and cities that endorse the Plant Based Treaty are 
expressing their support for national governments to come together to negotiate a global 
Plant Based Treaty, including the three core principles and 40 proposals as outlined below. 
 

Demand 1     Relinquish 
Stop the problem increasing 
No land use change, including deforestation, for animal agriculture 
 

 No building of new animal farms 
 No building of new slaughterhouses 
 No expansion or intensification of existing farms 
 No conversion of plant-based agriculture to animal agriculture 
 No conversion of any land for animal feed production 
 No clearing of forests or other ecosystems for animal grazing, animal rearing 

or animal farming of any kind 
 No new fish farms or expansion of existing aquaculture farms 
 Protection of Indigenous Peoples; their land, rights and knowledge 
 Ban all live exports 
 No new large-scale industrial fishing vessels 

 

Demand 2     Redirect 
Eliminate the driving forces behind the problem 
Promotion of plant-based foods and actively transition away from animal-based food 
systems to plant-based systems 
 

 Declare a climate emergency – join the 1,900+ local governments in 34 different 
countries that have already done so 

 Address the methane emergency: According to the United Nations, a 0.3°C 
temperature rise could be averted by 2045 if methane emissions were cut by 45% 
this decade. As the leading source of human-caused methane emissions, a transition 
away from animal agriculture to a sustainable plant-based food system would help us 
meet these goals as soon as possible 

 Food security should be placed as a priority for all nations, with a focus on ending 
poverty and hunger and making nutritious food accessible for all 

 Acknowledge and support the pivotal role small farmers have in feeding the planet; 
support them to maintain (or restore) autonomy over their lands, water, seeds and 
other resources 

 Shift away from monoculture-based arable farming that depletes soil, decreases 
biodiversity and is reliant on external inputs such as animal manure and 
agrochemicals towards towards diversified, agroecological, veganic (vegan and 
organic) farming using regenerative, permaculture and natural principles that restore 
soil and ecosystems, enhance food security and provide nutrient-dense foods 

 Calculate greenhouse gas emissions based on consumption and develop a food 
strategy for Climate Action Plans that prioritizes a switch to plant-based foods and 
public education 

30



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
18 

 Update government food and dietary guidelines to promote wholefood, plant-based 
food 

 Design public information campaigns to raise awareness about the climate and the 
environmental advantages and health benefits of plant-based food, nutrition and 
cooking 

 Aim to reduce the public’s consumption of animal-based food through education in 
schools 

 Transition to plant-based meal plans in schools, hospitals, nursing homes, prisons, 
government institutions, universities and businesses 

 Mandate honest labelling of food products including carbon labelling and cancer 
warning labels on all processed meats which have been declared carcinogenic by the 
World Health Organization 

 Introduce a meat (including fish) and methane tax with proceeds funding restoration 
of land destroyed by animal agriculture 

 Subsidize fruits, vegetables and legumes to make a wholefoods, plant-based diet 
more affordable and end food deserts that hurt low income communities 

 Redirect government subsidies for animal agriculture, slaughterhouses and industrial 
fishing to environmentally-friendly production of plant-based food 

 End government subsidized advertising for the meat, dairy and egg industry 
 Create green bonds to fund a transition to a plant-based economy 
 Provide financial support and training for farmers, ranchers and fisherpeople to move 

away from animal production to diversified agroecological, plant-based (veganic) 
systems 

 

Demand 3     Restore 
Actively healing the problem while building resilience and mitigating climate change 
Restore key ecosystems and reforest the earth 
 

 Reforestation projects to be rolled out in appropriate ecosystems using native tree 
species to restore habitats to a previously similar state 

 Reforestation and restoration of the oceans is prioritised by designating additional 
areas of the oceans as zero fishing Marine Protected Areas (known as Highly 
Protected Marine Areas – HPMAs) 

 All existing Marine Protected Areas should be declared strictly no fishing zones and 
converted to HPMAs 

 Active programs rolled out to replant critical carbon absorbers in the oceans, such as 
seagrass beds 

 Restore key degraded ecosystems which are essential for carbon sequestration 
cycles: mangroves, peat bogs, forests, some types of grassland 

 Focus shift on nature-based solutions for climate change mitigation and adaptation 
 Subsidies made available for farmers and landowners who practise good land 

stewardship and are actively restoring the land and the associated ecosystem 
services (such as carbon sequestration, biodiversity, flood defence, general climate 
change resilience) 

 Subsidies made available for rewilding and reforestation projects 
 Incentivised subsidies / grants for farmers to switch from animal agriculture to 

diversified plant production 

31



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

   
19 

 Cities: increase trees and wildflowers, increase green community projects, wildlife 
corridors, green rooftops, local growing schemes, work towards biodiversity 
increases 

 Enhance food justice by providing access to healthy food for all, especially low-
income communities of color 

 Repurpose available land freed up from animal grazing and animal feed production 
for: rewilding, reforestation (if appropriate), returning land to Indigenous people, 
nature reserves, hiking zones, community growing, allotments (if appropriate), 
agroecological veganic food growing (where possible) 

 Shift of some land ownership into community hands so the land can be repurposed 
for reforestation, green space and community food gardens and allotments 

 

32



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD AND 
COMMITTEES 

 

Report subject  O&S Budget working group - scoping report 

Meeting date  To be provided to the following Overview and Scrutiny meetings: 

Environment & Place O&S Committee - 11 September 2024 

Children’s Services O&S Committee – 19 September 2024 

Overview and Scrutiny Board – 23 September 2024 

Health & Adult Social Care O&S Committee – 24 September 2024 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The O&S Board/ Committee is asked to confirm the establishment 
of a budget working group, including membership and key lines of 
enquiry, to undertake detailed scrutiny work to contribute to the 
developing 2025/26 council budget during September – November 
2024.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee consider and confirm:  

 a. The establishment of a budget working group, including 
the membership, lead member and lead officer for the 
group, as detailed at paragraphs 5 to 9 of the report. 

b. Key lines of enquiry for the working group, as detailed 
at paragraphs 10-14 of this report. 

c. The measures of effectiveness for the working group, 
as set out at paragraph 15 of this report. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To provide opportunity for scrutiny of budget proposals consistent 
with Procedure Rule 4 ‘The Formulation of Budget Proposals’ within 
the Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules of the Council’s 
Constitution.  

To ensure that the arrangements and scope of the working group 
are clearly established in line with the requirements of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

  

33

Agenda Item 8



Portfolio Holder(s):  Not appropriate for an O&S Working Group 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Report Authors Lindsay Marshall, Overview and Scrutiny Specialist 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. In September 2024, all Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) committees will be invited to 
establish a working group to contribute to the development of the 2025/26 budget.  
One working group can be established per O&S committee.    

2. Through the working groups, each O&S Committee is invited to explore key lines of 
enquiry relating to budget matters within their areas of responsibility.   The working 
groups form part of a wider programme of budget scrutiny (see Appendix 1) 
developed in consultation with O&S lead members and executive councillors and 
officers.  O&S engagement in the budget process has been developed to be 
consistent with good practice. 

3. The programme timeline provides a series of opportunities for all councillors to be 
involved in the development of the 25/26 budget, with public scrutiny and all member 
sessions built into the process.  The aim is to develop a budget that is robust, tested 
and inclusive of wider councillor views. Channelling work through the O&S 
committees will also provide opportunity for public test and challenge as the budget 
develops.  

4. The opportunities available for scrutiny of the 2025/26 developing budget have been 
communicated to all councillors during the summer of 2024. 

Membership, Resources and Timetable 

5. The Constitution states that O&S working groups may be formed by non-executive 
councillors (not limited to committee members).  By this report, the committee is 
asked to confirm the membership, lead member of the group and lead officer for the 
work.  A maximum of four working group members is suggested.  There is no 
requirement for this to be politically balanced. 

6. The lead member will be responsible for chairing working group meetings, liaising 
with officers and reporting on findings.  The lead officer will provide strategic advice 
and direction to the group.  It is suggested that this be a director or the relevant 
budget holder within the service area being scrutinised.  Democratic Services will 
provide administrative support to the group. 

7. In line with the programme of budget scrutiny, all O&S committees are being invited 
to establish budget working groups to undertake work during September – 
November 2024. The timing of working group meetings will ensure that test and 
challenge can be provided to the budget in its development phase, maximising the 
impact of scrutiny engagement.   

34



8. To ensure an even spread of resources, one to two meetings will be held per 
working group with dates to be communicated.   

9. In line with standard scrutiny practices, working group meetings will be held on a 
non-public basis.  Transparency will be ensured through the reporting of findings to 
the O&S Board meeting of 18 November 2024 in a dedicated feedback session.   

Methodology and Key Lines of Enquiry 

10. Short, sharp O&S working groups with a clear and focussed remit will be able to 
provide maximum value to the developing 2025/ 26 budget by scrutinising a limited 
selection of critical budget areas within the remit of each committee.   

11. It is essential that the remit of these groups is targeted and limited to the most 
pressing areas of importance for councillors. As all working groups will be stood 

up concurrently, there is a risk that any working group with too wide a remit will lack 
sufficient resources to support it, be ineffective in the depth of its enquiries, or 
unable to complete its work within the specified timescale.  

12. Through this report, the committee is asked to confirm a maximum of two/ three 
budget areas that its working group will focus on. This will ensure that a ‘deep dive’ 

approach can be taken to the enquiry lines selected, rather than a light touch 
approach across a wider range of enquiries.  To ensure that the working groups are 
member led, O&S Chairs have consulted their committee members to identify 
priority areas for scrutiny.  O&S Chairs will report on these suggestions at the 
meeting. 

13. As a guide only, officers have suggested the following potential areas of focus for 

the budget working groups aligned to each O&S committee: 

O&S Board working group: 

 Transformation budget 

 Resident Card 

 Income forecasts 

 Fees and charges 

 Licensing costs 

Environment & Place O&S Committee working group: 

 Bed & breakfast costs 

 Climate & ecological emergency budget 

Children’s Services O&S Committee working group: 

 High Needs budget 

 School transport costs 

 Care growth forecast 

Health & Adult Social Care O&S Committee working group: 

 Learning Disability & Mental Health budget 

 Demand pressures 

35



14. Councillors may wish to refer to the division of responsibilities of the O&S Committees 
(Appendix 2) when selecting relevant areas of enquiry for each O&S committee. The 
committee may also wish to draw its lines of enquiry from the ‘Directorate Budget 
Awareness’ presentations to be delivered to all O&S committee meetings in 
September. 

Measure of Effectiveness 

15. The following measures of effectiveness are suggested to assess the benefit of this 
scrutiny work.  The Committee may wish to consider and contribute to these 
measures, as it sees appropriate.  

  A robust and balanced Council budget for 2025/26 is developed, which has been 
tested and challenged by non-executive members working in their capacity as a 
critical friend.   

 Opportunity for wider public engagement in the budget is provided through the 
overview and scrutiny process, under the public engagement provisions within 
the council’s constitution. 

Summary of financial implications 

16. There are no financial implications arising from this scoping report.  

Summary of legal implications 

17. There are no legal implications arising from this scoping report. 

Summary of human resources implications 

18. There are no human resources implications arising from this scoping report. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

19. There are no sustainability implications arising from this scoping report. 

Summary of public health implications 

20. There are no public health implications arising from this scoping report. 

Summary of equality implications 

21. There are no equality implications arising from this scoping report. 

Summary of risk assessment 

22. There are no risks arising from this scoping report. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Programme of Budget Scrutiny for 2025/26 Council Budget. 

Appendix 2 - Overview and Scrutiny Committee Structure (as agreed September 2023) 

Background papers 

There are none. 

36



2025/26 Budget
Budget Scrutiny Proposals
7 June 2024

37



Budget Scrutiny (Part 1 of 2)
Enhance engagement in and scrutiny of the 25/26 budget (critical friend approach):
• Step 1. Budget Skills Training for Councillors – Monday 29 July 2024 6pm to 8pm (confirmed)
    Independent Training based on approach taken by Dorset Council - Andrew Hardingham (previously Plymouth s151 Officer) 
    Potential for finance team attend to introduce and participate in a Question-and-Answer session.
   
• Step 2. Directorate Budget Awareness – September 2024 
    Each Corporate Director to give a presentation & undertake a Q&A on their budget, pressures, assumed savings etc.
    11 September 2024 - Environment & Place Overview & Scrutiny Committee
    16 September 2024 – Children’s Overview & Scrutiny Committee
    23 September 2024 – Overview & Scrutiny Board
    24 September 2024 – Health & Adult Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee

• Step 3. Budget Task and Finish Groups – October 2024 
    Four task and finish groups focusing on issues in each Directorate – 1 group for each directorate (suggested potential topics only)
     Wellbeing Directorate: Learning Disability & Mental Health Budget, Bed & Breakfast costs, Demand pressures
     Children's Directorate: High Needs Budget, School Transport costs, Care growth forecast 
     Operations Directorate: Resident Card, Income forecasts, Fees and charges
     Resources Directorate: Transformation Budget, Licensing costs, Revenue & Benefits, Climate and ecological 
     emergency budget.

38



Budget Scrutiny (Part 2 of 2)

• Step 4. Budget Workshop – All Member - 8 November 2024
    Short presentation to provide the outline of the budget prior to public consultation exercise (subject to review process/timings)

• Step 5. Feedback  
    Each Task and Finish group feedback to the Overview & Scrutiny Board
     All member invite
    18 November 2024 – Overview & Scrutiny Board
        
• Step 6. Budget Workshop – All Member – 22 January 2025
     Short presentation to provide the outline of proposed budget post public consultation & draft 2025/26 LG Finance Settlement

• Step 7. Scrutiny Committees
    Scrutiny 2025/26 budget proposals and any recommendations to Cabinet
     All Member invite
     3 February 2025 – Overview & Scrutiny Board

• Step 8. Cabinet
    Cabinet meets on the 5 February 2025 to agree a 25/26 budget proposal to Council.

• Step 9. Full Council
    Full Council meets on the 25 February 2025 to set the 25/26 Budget

39



 
 

40



Figure One - Overview and Scrutiny Committee Structure 

41



T
his page is intentionally left blank

42



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD AND 
COMMITTEES 

 

Report subject  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 

Meeting date  To be provided to the following Overview and Scrutiny meetings: 

Environment & Place O&S Committee - 11 September 2024 

Children’s Services O&S Committee – 19 September 2024 

Overview and Scrutiny Board – 23 September 2024 

Health & Adult Social Care O&S Committee – 24 September 2024 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This is the annual report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer on 
Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) activity within BCP Council.  There is 
a requirement to report on the work of O&S to Council, to ensure 
good visibility of the function and Council ownership of activity and 
any improvements required. 

The annual report contains a summary and analysis of O&S activity 
during 2023-24, reflections on working practices and an action plan 
identifying strategic improvements to the O&S function. 

All O&S committees will receive the annual report for consideration, 
providing opportunity for comment prior to the supply of the final 
report to Council. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 1. The Board/ Committee consider and comment on the 
annual report and associated action plan.  

2. The Board/ Committee comment on the proposed minor 
revisions to the O&S committee structure, outlined at 
paragraphs 8-10 of this report, prior to Council approval of 
the structure in October.  

Reason for 
recommendations 

The Constitution requires the Statutory Scrutiny Officer to report 

to Council on an annual basis on the work of Overview and 
Scrutiny, including recommendations for any changes that may 

be required to ensure the function remains fit for purpose.  The 
report must be informed by consultation with the Chairs and 

Vice-Chairs of the O&S Committees and referred to the four 

O&S Committees for comment. Consideration and comment on 
the annual report by the O&S Committees and Council upholds 

principle b) of good scrutiny, as outlined in the Constitution, that 
O&S shall ‘be a Councillor led and owned function that seeks to 
continuously improve through self-reflection and development’. 

43

Agenda Item 9



 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Not applicable – Overview and Scrutiny is a non-executive function. 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant - Chief Executive 

Report Authors Lindsay Marshall – Overview and Scrutiny Specialist 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
i t l e:   

Background  

The Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 

1. ‘Overview and Scrutiny: statutory guidance for councils and combined authorities’ by 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
recommends that councils report annually on their Overview & Scrutiny (O&S) 
function and activity.  The purpose of the report is to outline the activity and output of 
the O&S function over the previous year, and to identify improvements for the 
function to ensure it remains fit for purpose.   This report is based on the municipal 
year of May 2023 - April 2024.   

2. The report will be received by all O&S Committees and at a meeting of Council but 
is aimed at all stakeholders of O&S – this includes those within the Council, external 
partners, and the public and communities served by the council.  

3. This is the report of the council’s Statutory Scrutiny Officer, who is responsible for 
supporting and promoting O&S activity.  Contribution has been made by other 
officers who provide support to O&S and Chairs and Vice Chairs of O&S 
committees.  

4. Provision of the report to O&S committees has been delayed by the requirements of 
the pre-election period of the 2024 Parliamentary election, which necessitated the 
cancellation of public council meetings. 

What is Overview and Scrutiny? 

5. The purpose of overview and scrutiny, principles of good scrutiny and its role in 
supporting the ambitions and values of the council is set out in Appendix 1. 

Summary - 2023/24 strategic O&S activity 

6. During summer 2023, 36 new councillors were inducted into BCP Council following 
May 2023 local elections.  O&S activity focussed on supporting these councillors 
with training and skills development, along with targeted support to those in chairing 
positions, many of whom were new to O&S chairing. The administration agreed that 
all O&S chairs would be drawn from opposition groups in line with good practice, to 
enhance the independence of O&S.   

7. In September 2023, the Council agreed revisions to its O&S committee structure, to 
remove the Corporate & Community O&S Committee and replace this with the O&S 
Board, along with some adjustments to the membership, remit and meeting 
frequency of committees. O&S committee remits were adjusted to align to the 
revised Cabinet Portfolios which changed following the May 2023 elections.  The 

44

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities


O&S Board also took on overall responsibility for all call-in matters and for O&S 
function oversight, development and reporting, previously the responsibility of O&S 
Chairs collectively.  

8. In July 2024, the Council agreed a new Leader and further changes were made to 
the number and remit of Cabinet portfolios.  Although this occurred after the 
reporting period for this report, the Council’s Constitution makes provision for any 
changes to the O&S committee structure to be proposed to Council as part of this 
annual report.  As the designation of functions across the four O&S Committees is 
based on the division of Portfolio Holder responsibilities, adjustments to the wording 
and remit of O&S Committees are now proposed to maintain an efficient fit and clear 
lines of accountability between O&S committees and Cabinet portfolios.  

9. The changes proposed to the O&S committee functions are minor.  All changes 
within the proposed revised structure reflect amended responsibilities and wording 
expressed within each Cabinet portfolio.  All amended portfolio responsibilities have 
been included within the same O&S committee as per previous arrangements, with 
the exception of those items listed under the Environment & Place O&S Committee 
in red text.  These were previously included within the O&S Board responsibilities.  
These changes are intended to provide a more effective fit with other similar 
responsibilities within the remit of this committee. 

10. Figures 1a and b below illustrate the current O&S committee structure alongside the 
proposed revised structure. O&S committees are asked to comment on the 
proposed revisions prior to Council approval of the structure in October 2024. 

45



  

Figure 1a – Current Overview & Scrutiny Committee Structure 

46



Figure 1b – Proposed Overview & Scrutiny Committee Structure  

47



11. The most significant of the committee revisions in September 2023 was the 
establishment of monthly meetings for the O&S Board, enabling better opportunity 
for the tracking of Cabinet activity and recommendations to Cabinet on forthcoming 
decisions.  This change increased the overall scheduled O&S meeting numbers 
from 20 per year to 27, an uplift of 35%.  The resourcing implications associated with 
this change are outlined in paragraphs 55 to 66 below. 

12. All committees undertook annual work programming.  Following O&S committee 
changes, the O&S Board and the newly named Environment and Place O&S 
Committee benefitted from supported action/learning workshops, led by the Centre 
for Governance and Scrutiny.  The aim of this activity was to: 

 Develop O&S members’ work programming skills to equip them to create work 
programmes rooted in good practice. 

 Refine the approach to scrutiny by articulating a more refined role for O&S.  
This saw the establishment of a ‘sustainability lens’ and a ‘resident impact 
lens’, to be used by the Environment and Place Committee and O&S Board 
respectively.  The committees also developed a framework setting out their 
approach to topic selection. 

 Specifically address a recommendation arising within the council’s Best Value 
Notice Action Plan to reduce the level of pre-decision scrutiny on O&S work  
plans and include more policy development work.  Work was targeted towards 
these committees as they previously undertook the highest level of pre-
decision scrutiny. 

 Generate a work plan based on the above good practices. 

 The framework developed through this work is attached at Appendix 2.  This 
provides a mechanism to support future work programming in all O&S committees, 
and communicate the aims of O&S to the wider council and stakeholders.  The 
learning captured through this work will be applied to the other O&S committees in 
their next round of work programming. 

13. Work was progressed against the O&S Action Plan, agreed by Council in September 
2023.  The action plan sets out strategic improvements required to bring O&S 
activity in line with statutory guidance.  This work is secondary to the support of core 
functions for O&S such as supporting committee meetings and working groups in 
accordance with the constitution.  Progress against the action plan is set out in more 
detail in paragraphs 47-54 below.  

14. Chairs and Vice Chairs were supported in their leadership roles through regular 
meetings to share good practice, challenges and to provide strategic monitoring to 
the O&S function.  

Summary - 2023/24 committee activity, statistics and analysis 

15. A summary of work undertaken across all O&S committees is attached to this report 
at Appendix 3.  Highlights included working groups on blue badge waiting times and 
the use of data to strengthen scrutiny; a focus on the safety valve programme 
relating to children’s services, and a focus on climate change and sustainability. 

Committee Statistics  

16. Committee activity has been assessed to provide an understanding of the 
breakdown of work undertaken during 2023/24, the resulting outputs and potential 
areas for development.  The following data is set out below: 

48



 Average number of agenda items per committee, to assess against good 
practice levels. 

 Working groups undertaken. 

 Agenda item categories, to provide a breakdown of the type of work 
undertaken by each committee. 

 Outputs – an assessment of the number of agenda items leading to 
substantive recommendations. 

These have been analysed to provide a commentary on areas that align to good 
practice and those where further development is recommended to enhance the 
value provided by the O&S function. 

17. It should be noted that this data provides an indication of where O&S has directed its 
resources in 2023/24 and the resulting output, however not all O&S benefit can be 
assessed in this way and reflected through data. Some O&S outcomes can be 
‘softer’, for example: 

 Public demonstration of test and challenge on matters of community 
importance or concern. 

 Comments raised through scrutiny may be reported by O&S Chairs to Cabinet 
but not formulated into recommendations. 

 Actions raised through meetings and tracked by committees may not be 
captured as formal recommendations.  Action tracking is particularly used by 
the Health and Children’s O&S committees who undertake a closer monitoring 
role with their respective service areas.  

 Informal discussions between decision makers and O&S members can 
influence the early direction of travel for a policy. 

 The intention alone of an O&S committee to provide scrutiny to a certain area 
can trigger further work prior to reporting that can strengthen decision making. 

  

49



 

Agenda item levels 

18. The average number of agenda items, ‘for information’ items and working groups for 
each committee during the period is set out in table 1 below.  

 

   Analysis 

19. Attempting to scrutinise a large number of items can dilute the benefit of scrutiny.  A 
‘deep dive’ approach to a smaller number of items is encouraged over a ‘broad 
brush’ approach to a larger number of items.  For this reason the recommended 
maximum number of items per committee agenda is two to three.   

20. Prior to the 2023 local elections, legacy O&S Committees in BCP often held lengthy 
meetings with multiple agenda items, creating unmanageable workloads and in 
some cases additional monthly meetings as standard to accommodate the O&S 
work timetabled.  This was particularly seen in the area of work covered by the O&S 
Board, with 33 additional meetings held by the previous O&S Board during 2019-21. 

21. It is evident that the approach to scrutiny selection has changed in both the O&S 
Board and Environment & Place O&S Committee with levels falling into line with 
good practice. This is a significant improvement against previous years of O&S 
activity. 

22. Children’s Services and Health & Adult Social Care O&S Committees would benefit 
from refining workloads further to keep to the recommended levels and maximise 
the effectiveness of scrutiny undertaken with a greater focus on ‘deep dive’ work on 
a smaller number of topics. 

23. Two investigative working groups were undertaken during 2023/24, on the topics of 
blue badge waiting times and data use in overview and scrutiny work.  Both working 
groups led to a number of recommendations. The constitution allows for one working 
group to be undertaken per committee at a time, with this form of scrutiny work 

Table 1 – Agenda Items per O&S committee, 2023/24 

O&S Committee Average number 
of agenda items 

‘For 
information’ 
items, 
circulated 
outside of 
committee 
(annual total) 

Working 
Groups  

Overview and 
Scrutiny Board  

2.1 0 1 

Environment & Place  1.6 0 0 

Children’s Services  4.1 8 0 

Health and Adult 
Social Care  

4.0 3 1 

Corporate & 
Community  

1.5 0 0 

50



being an ideal approach for proactive work which is likely to lead to the most 
valuable outcomes. Committee time can be used flexibly, for example as an 
evidence session to contribute to the scope of a working group, or in the form of an 
inquiry day, which may condense the inquiry of a working group into a focussed 
session.  Proactive work of this nature is resource intensive and must be balanced 
against overall resources available to support the O&S function but should be 
prioritised wherever possible as a form of scrutiny that is likely to lead to more 
impactful outcomes.  

O&S work categories 

24. A breakdown of the categories of scrutiny items considered by each committee are 
set out in the diagrams below.  These are broken down as follows: 

 Call-in  

Reports relating to the statutory right of O&S to ‘call-in’ an executive decision that 
has been made but not yet implemented.  Revision to the remit of scrutiny 
committees placed all call-in responsibility with the O&S Board from September 
2023 onwards. 

 Pre-decision scrutiny 

Scrutiny of a report close to the point of decision making – eg. a Cabinet report. 

 Proactive scrutiny 

Early policy development work and exploration of future options for service 
delivery. 

 Reactive scrutiny 

Scrutiny of emerging issues that arise throughout the year and can’t easily be planned 

for in advance. 
 

 Update/ monitoring reports 

Information giving reports. 

 

 

 

51



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33%

67%

Corporate & Community O&S 
Agenda Item Categories

(decommissioned September 2023)

Call-In

Pre-decision scrutiny

Proactive scrutiny

Reactive scrutiny

Update/ monitoring reports

6%

53%
12%

29%

O&S Board Agenda Item Categories
(established September 2023)

Call-In

Pre-decision scrutiny

Proactive scrutiny

Reactive scrutiny

Update/ monitoring reports

52



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12%

38%

0%

50%

Environment & Place O&S 
Agenda Item Categories

Call-In

Pre-decision scrutiny

Proactive scrutiny

Reactive scrutiny

Update/ monitoring reports

7%

10%

7%

76%

Children's Services O&S Agenda Item Categories

Call-In

Pre-decision scrutiny

Proactive scrutiny

Reactive scrutiny

Update/ monitoring reports

53



 

 

 

Analysis 

Call-In 

25. O&S call-in should be used as a last resort where there is a concern that a decision 
has not been made in keeping with budget and policy framework of the council or 
the principles of decision making as set out in the council’s constitution.   

26. O&S guidance states: 
 
“Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. ask the executive 
to reconsider them before they are implemented, but should not view it as a 
substitute for early involvement in the decision-making process or as a party-political 
tool.” 

27. There was one call-in item considered during 2023/24, in keeping with an average of 
one call in per year during the 2019-23 period.  The level of call-in items in BCP 
therefore does not of itself indicate a concern with existing governance 
arrangements, or excessive use of call-in as a party-political tool.  Low call-in levels 
may be an indication that governance arrangements in the council offer appropriate 
alternative opportunities to test and challenge decision making, such as a suitable 
level of pre-decision scrutiny opportunities and flexibility for all non- executive 
councillors to ask questions in O&S meetings and Cabinet meetings.    

Pre-decision scrutiny 

28. In 2023/24, greater refinement of O&S topics was strongly encouraged through work 
induction training, work programming activity and through ongoing support to chairs 
and committees.  The aim was to create a more even balance between pre-decision 
scrutiny items and proactive scrutiny items. 

10%

10%

5%

75%

Health & Adult Social Care O&S
Agenda Item Categories

Call-In

Pre-decision scrutiny

Proactive scrutiny

Reactive scrutiny

Update/ monitoring reports

54



29. The levels of pre-decision scrutiny in 2023/24 are now far lower than in previous 
years.  Although these weren’t assessed in the same way during the 2019-23 period 
it is known that, in some committees, pre-decision scrutiny dominated work 
programmes.  The highest level of pre-decision scrutiny is now just under 50%, for 
O&S Board work.  This is to be expected as the Board remit relates to a higher 
proportion of service areas and items which generate Cabinet decisions.  Board 
meetings also align to the Cabinet timetable to specifically allow opportunity for pre-
decision scrutiny before every Cabinet meeting.   

30. A specific action to reduce the level of pre-decision scrutiny was incorporated into 
the council’s Best Value Notice Action Plan and has now been completed as a result 
of the reduction in levels seen in committees. 
 
Proactive scrutiny 

31. Proactive scrutiny levels are limited across all committees and could be increased.  
Good practice indicates that proactive, ‘deep dive’ scrutiny is the form of scrutiny 
activity most likely to provide value- added outcomes.  All scrutiny committees 
should aim to prioritise proactive scrutiny wherever possible.  

32. The O&S Board and Environment and Place O&S Committee focussed heavily on 
proactive work suggestions during their annual work programming activity, and it is 
expected that these levels will increase in 2024/25 for these committees.  The 
remaining O&S committees will be encouraged to take a similar approach during 
their next round of work programming. 

33. Effective annual work programming, with minimal changes throughout the year and 
a reduction in the overall number of items considered by O&S would provide time to 
scope and undertake proactive work effectively. 
 
Update/ monitoring reports 

34. Reducing the level of update/ monitoring reports received by all committees would 
release capacity for more proactive work.   

35. Monitoring reports took up the largest proportion of the work plan for four out of five 
committees operating during the 23/24 period.  However good practice is for all 
information-based reports to be received outside of a committee setting, reserving 
committee time for value-added scrutiny that is likely to lead to recommendations.  
All committees should aim to reduce this level by receiving information items in other 
ways.  Officers are actively encouraging this approach. 
 
Reactive scrutiny 

36. Reactive scrutiny is minimal but has occurred in some committees.  An example of 
this is the Children’s Services O&S Committee work on the Safety Valve 
Programme.  All committees are encouraged to reserve room within their annual 
plans to provide flexibility to respond to arising issues throughout the year. 

Outputs  

37. O&S agenda item outputs are set out in the charts below.  These were assessed 
across all committees to establish:   

 reports generating substantive recommendations to Cabinet, portfolio 
holders, officers or partners of the council; 

55



 reports that were noted or led to no substantive recommendations.  

It should be noted that actions and comments raised by O&S, rather than formal 
recommendations, are not captured in the below data. 

 

 

 

 

33%

67%

Corporate & Community O&S outputs 
(decommissioned September 2023)

Reports with substantive
recommendations

Reports noted/ no substantive
recommendations

29%

71%

O&S Board outputs
(established September 2023)

Reports with substantive
recommendations

Reports noted/ no substantive
recommendations

56



 

 

5%

95%

Environment & Place O&S Outputs

Reports with substantive
recommendations

Reports noted/ no substantive
recommendations

21%

79%

Children's Services O&S Outputs

Reports with substantive
recommendations

Reports noted/ no substantive
recommendations

57



 

Analysis 

38. The highest level of substantive recommendations was generated by Corporate and 
Community O&S Committee at 33%, with the lowest generated by Health and Adult 
Social Care O&S Committee at 0%.  To provide value through the work of O&S, all 
committees should look to increase the level of agenda items leading to substantive 
recommendations.  

39. O&S comments gathered through pre-decision scrutiny may be reported to Cabinet 
to give a ‘flavour’ of councillor views to inform decision making.  These may not 
always be captured by committees as formal recommendations and will not be 
reflected in the charts provided above.  Where possible, committees should seek to 
strengthen comments into recommendations, to give weight to the view provided to 
Cabinet and clearer demonstrable output from O&S work. Clarifying the key lines of 
enquiry for scrutiny of a report can assist with the generation of clearer 
recommendations.  This is explored further in paragraph 44 below. 

40. A close alignment of proactive O&S work to the priorities of the council is likely to 
lead to the most value-added recommendations and outcomes.  Substantive 
recommendations, and the resulting added value provided by the O&S function, 
could therefore be increased by a strengthened ‘whole council’ approach towards 
O&S in BCP Council.  Work suggestions from Cabinet and Council to O&S were 
minimal during 2023/24, with proactive O&S work during this period largely driven by 
O&S member suggestions.  By working more closely with the executive to identify 
opportunities for contribution to developing policy, O&S can have greater impact 
through its work, using unique statutory powers to surface issues, bring together 
stakeholders, explore issues in depth and test and challenge solutions.  This 
approach has the potential to strengthen the decision and policy landscape of the 
council and support decision makers.  Effective communications between O&S 
leads and executive members are essential for these opportunities to be identified, 
supported by a proactive approach to O&S engagement from lead officers.  This is 

100%

Health & Adult Social Care O&S Outputs

Reports with substantive
recommendations

Reports noted/ no substantive
recommendations

58



in keeping with the strongest message set out in statutory guidance, that the culture 
of the council is fundamental to the success of the function: 

“The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority 
will largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails. While 
everyone in an authority can play a role in creating an environment conducive 
to effective scrutiny, it is important that this is led and owned by members, 
given their role in setting and maintaining the culture of an authority.” 

41. O&S members have been provided with training and regular guidance on work 
prioritisation and should continue to bear good practices in mind when considering 
the likely impact of work selected. Items that are not likely to generate substantive 
recommendations should wherever possible not be included within work 
programmes.  This approach is encouraged by officers through annual work 
programming activity and regular support to committees when reviewing work 
programmes throughout the year. Topic prioritisation can be particularly difficult in a 
council with a wide range of political views and priorities and requires O&S members 
to make tough decisions, with Chairs and Vice Chairs leading in this respect.  This 
robust approach to work programming could be strengthened across all committees. 

42. Establishing a clear role and focus for O&S can be key to ensuring that work 
selected will add value to the organisation. O&S has wide ranging powers but 
guidance states that these are likely to be too wide to be meaningful if not refined to 
a key focus or set of priorities: 
 
“… authorities should take steps to ensure scrutiny has a clear role and focus within 
the organisation, i.e. a niche within which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. 
Therefore, prioritisation is necessary to ensure the scrutiny function concentrates on 
delivering work that is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider 
authority – this is one of the most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element 
to get right if it is to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority.” 

43. Acting on this good practice, the O&S Board and Environment & Place O&S 
Committee have now established lenses of ‘resident impact’ and ‘sustainability’ for 
their work respectively.  This narrows the scope through which the committees 
intend to select and approach work with the aim of establishing a clearer role for the 
committees.  This more refined focus for these committees was developed through 
action/ learning work supported by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) 
and targeted specifically at these committees to embed good practices following the 
change in the O&S committee structure.  The learning from this work will now be 
rolled out to Children’s Services O&S and Health and Adult Social Care O&S 
Committees and strongly encouraged for all committees going forward to give clarity 
of purpose to the work of O&S. 

44. All committees would benefit from refining the scope for all work items using 
documentation of Key Lines of Enquiry.  This will ensure that the information request 
from O&S committees is considered, clear and is scoped with a likelihood of 
generating impactful outputs.  This approach is now being encouraged with all 
committees.  Through this process, the angle to be taken by scrutiny, and the 
possible outcomes of the work should be considered in advance to determine if 
recommendations will be likely.  Even items of apparent high importance should not 
be prioritised if there is no likelihood of having impact through the scrutiny provided.  

45. Pre-meetings, led by O&S Chairs, can encourage a clearer focus on Key Lines of 
Enquiry during committee debate, and provide another mechanism to clarify in 

59



advance the intended outcome of the scrutiny sessions planned.  This approach is 
regularly discussed with O&S Chairs as a way of strengthening O&S outcomes and 
has been adopted by the Environment & Place O&S Committee.  All committees 
would benefit from the use of pre-meetings. 

46. Some committees undertake a greater monitoring role than others.  Whilst 
committee members may become well informed through monitoring reports, if the 
level of this is too high there is little work plan capacity remaining for proactive, 
value-added scrutiny.  This is a particular challenge for the Health & Adult Social 
Care O&S Committee which receives information from both within the council and 
from partners such as the NHS on service design and delivery.  Similarly, the 
Children’s Services O&S Committee closely monitors the improvement journey 
within the children’s services area.  Establishing a critical set of monitoring areas 
and incorporating more diverse ways of working will help these O&S members to 
remain informed in priority areas, whilst reserving committee time for value added 
scrutiny.  Alternative methods for information receipt could include: 

 informal briefings,  

 independent research and horizon scanning  

 receiving ‘information reports’ outside of meetings  

 establishing rapporteurs to maintain an overview of designated areas and 
report back to committee by exception. 

A mix of these information sharing methods have been used across committees, 
and a more consistent approach to information sharing will be encouraged in 
2024/25, with the aim of reducing the overall level of ‘for noting’ reports across all 
committees. 

O&S Action Plan 

47. An O&S Action Plan was developed in 2023 to provide detail on strategic actions 
identified to improve O&S activity in BCP Council and bring practices in line with 
statutory guidance for O&S.  The action plan was agreed by Council in September 
2023. 

48. The action plan also addresses O&S areas for development as identified through 
work which responds to the ‘Best Value Notice’ that was issued to the Council by the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) in August 2023.  
This was in response to the completion of an external assurance review carried out 
by DLUHC.  The findings were in line with those of the Chief Executive’s internal 
assurance review and all activity was monitored through the BCP Council Best 
Value Notice Action Plan.  The recommendations have been welcomed in dealing 
with historical issues and setting a new tone for the Council. All actions relating to 
O&S within the Best Value Notice Action Plan have now been completed. 

49. To establish improvement actions for O&S, all practices within the O&S function 
were assessed against the standards set out in ‘Statutory Guidance on Overview 
and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities’ (2019) in a desktop exercise 
undertaken by the Statutory Scrutiny Officer in Spring 2023. The guidance provides 
a benchmark for good working practices in O&S and is statutory, meaning that 
guidance should be followed unless there is a good reason not to. 

50. Much of the statutory guidance relates to ways of working and the council-wide 
approach to O&S. The clearest message is the need for a strong organisational 

60



culture in which there is a collective ownership of the success of O&S, parity of 
esteem for O&S and value placed on the challenge that O&S can provide.  

51. The O&S action plan follows the themes of the statutory guidance. All relevant 
paragraphs of the guidance have been included within the action plan, to aid 
reader’s understanding of why actions have been identified, and the resulting plan 
for improvement is comprehensive. There are a total of 120 actions, some of which 

overlap. Where actions are similar (e.g. reflecting different aspects of councillor 
training required) they remain split into separate actions to demonstrate how these 
will uphold the statutory guidance. It should be noted that for this reason the action 
plan is highly detailed and serves as an operational tool to progress actions as well 
as for reporting on progress. 

52. The action plan at Appendix 4 provides a detailed update against each of the 
actions as of June 2024. 66% of the actions have now been completed, a 21% 
increase since December 2023. Of the remaining actions, there has been an 
increase to those that are now significantly delayed with 21% now within this 
category.  11 % have experienced some delay and 2% are on track to complete as 
planned.   

 

 

53. Improvement actions identified within the plan were set over a period of one year for 
completion. This time frame was ambitious and whilst good progress has been made 
in many areas, some actions have been impacted upon by other O&S activity taking 
place concurrently and have not progressed.  In particular, the increase in meeting 
numbers following the changes made to O&S committees in September 2023 has 
impacted on resources available to progress strategic improvements to the O&S 
function.  Core O&S functions such as support to committee meetings will continue to 
be prioritised during 2024/25 and work against the action plan will be progressed 
where resources allow. 

54. Responsibility for monitoring the O&S Action Plan sits with the O&S Board, which is 
supported in this role by regular monitoring in O&S Chairs/ Vice Chairs meetings.  

Progress against actions

Completed On track Some delay Significant delay

61



Progress on the Action Plan will also be reported annually to Council through this 
report.  

Resourcing O&S  

55. Council agreed revisions to the committee structure in 2023 which formally increased 
O&S committee meeting numbers.  Along with special meetings called by committees 
to respond to urgent business, a total of 27 meetings were held during 2023/24.   

56. Historically, O&S meeting levels have been high as a result of additional special 
meetings called by committees, however formalised committee meeting numbers are 
now at the highest level since the start of BCP Council.  By the end of the reporting 
period, planned meetings per year were 35% higher than the level of O&S meetings 
planned for the same period in 2022/23. 

57. Resources to support O&S are stretched.  The Democratic Services team provides 
direct officer support to the O&S function. There has been no increase in officer 
resource to support the increase in O&S meeting numbers agreed by Council in 
September 2023.   

58. The Democratic Services structure was designed to support the service approved by 
the Shadow Authority which anticipated 22 O&S meetings per year with a larger 
Democratic Services team to support this.  Since the establishment of BCP Council, 
the officer support available to O&S has not been adequate for the level of O&S 
meetings held by the council, which, through many changes to the O&S committee 
structure, have predominantly been above the level anticipated by the Shadow 
Authority.  In 2021 the service budget was reduced by 14.9% to support the corporate 
budget pressures. Following the most recent changes to the O&S structure the 
service is now considered to be operating above maximum capacity.  Taking into 
account the increased meetings and reduction in manpower resources, the ratio of 
meetings per equivalent officer FTE to provide support has increased by over 28%.  
This is excluding any additional special meetings called by committees. This has an 
impact on the level of support that can be provided to the O&S function and the 
resulting outputs. 

59. To illustrate the officer support available to O&S, activity has been broadly split into a 
range of areas in the following priority order: 

a. core functions of the service such as the servicing of meetings, agendas, 
minutes, advice and guidance, ongoing work planning support; 

b. support to proactive scrutiny such as annual work programming for all 
committees, scoping and research, working group support, planning and 
supporting evidence sessions; 

c. strategic improvements to the function in line with the O&S Action Plan. 

60. An increase in meeting numbers without a match in the level of officer resource has 
required that support is diverted from activities within the ‘b’ and ‘c’ categories above, 
to ensure that core, statutory requirements within category ‘a’ are met. This will vary 
throughout the year according to additional pressures upon the team, which supports 
all decision-making bodies of the council in addition to O&S committees. 

61. Additional O&S meetings also have implications council-wide for officer attendance 
and support to scrutiny activity.  

62. Under the constitution, all O&S committees may undertake one working group at a 
time.  These fall under category ‘b’ of the activity outlined above.  In line with good 

62



practice, working groups and other ‘deep dive’ inquiry mechanisms are encouraged 
as a means of providing the most effective O&S outcomes, however, it is fortunate 
that not all committees have chosen to take up this option during 2023/24 as this 
would have had a further impact on resources. 

63. A ‘whole council’ approach to O&S, with working groups more fully scoped and 
overseen by service areas across the council rather than Democratic Services, would 
provide greater resource to support O&S work.  It should be noted that service area -
led approach to scrutiny carries a risk that the independent approach of scrutiny will 
be affected, as service areas will have an inherent viewpoint which may impact on the 
investigations undertaken by O&S. 

64. In summary, councillors should note that the overall impact of the O&S function will 
continue to be limited by the dedicated levels of resource available to support it.  
Statutory guidance states: 

“The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a pivotal role in 
determining how successful that function is and therefore the value it can add to 
the work of the authority. Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the 
resource it provides, but every authority should recognise that creating and 
sustaining an effective scrutiny function requires them to allocate resources to it.” 

65. Councillors can take some action to mitigate the resource pressures upon the O&S 
function and promote valuable outputs: 

 Strong and realistic work planning, with minimal revisions and retained 
capacity for arising issues, will limit the need for additional meetings over and 
above the 27 planned per year.   

 Flexibility of approach to O&S resource, with committee meetings used for 
more deep dive work – such as to support a working group through a public 
evidence gathering session.   

 Monitoring reports can be received in other ways, outside of committee to free 
up meeting time for value- added scrutiny.   

 O&S councillors can undertake a higher level of research and horizon 
scanning independently, to review data and policy sources, maintain an 
overview of council activity and bring an evidence-led approach to their 
scrutiny. A Data Use Toolkit has been developed by the Health & Adult Social 
Care O&S Committee to support councillors in this respect with the aim of 
rolling out a similar toolkit for all other O&S committees. 

 Informal relationships with executive members and officers can be 
strengthened and shared across committees through the use of rapporteurs. 
This will keep O&S councillors informed of developing policy or concerns 
which may benefit from scrutiny and encourage the regular information 
sharing that is necessary to understand where the most value-added scrutiny 
opportunities lie. 

These actions are in line with the principle that the O&S function should be member-
led. 

66. The benefit of effectively resourcing scrutiny is explored in further detail within O&S 
guidance and set out more fully in the Action Plan at Appendix 4.  

63

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s50197/Appendix%20B%20for%20Data%20Working%20Group%20-%20final%20report.pdf


Options Appraisal 

67. The Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report is for information and comment. An options 
appraisal is not relevant to this report. 

Summary of financial implications 

68. There are no direct financial implications related with the production of this report. The 
report explores the implications of resourcing O&S in paragraphs 55 to 66 above.   

Summary of legal implications 

69. Overview and Scrutiny is a statutory function of all councils operating an executive 
model of decision making.  Improvements to the function, outlined in the report, will 
ensure that the work of O&S Committees in BCP Council complies with relevant 
legislation and upholds statutory guidance. 

Summary of human resources implications 

70. There are no human resources implications arising from this report. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

71. There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 

Summary of public health implications 

72. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 

Summary of equality implications 

73. There are no equality implications arising from this report. 

Summary of risk assessment 

74. The improvements identified for O&S, as set out in the O&S Action Plan at Appendix 
4, will ensure that statutory Government guidance is upheld.  There is a risk that the 
guidance will not be properly upheld by the Council if actions identified are not taken. 

Background papers 

Published works: 

‘Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities’, 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)  

Best Value Notice Action Plan 2023/24  

Corporate plan – ‘A Shared Vision for Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole, 2024-28’ 

 
O&S Data Use Toolkit, 
Health & Adult Social Care O&S Committee 

Appendices   

Appendix 1– Overview and Scrutiny statutory powers and BCP context 

64

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s49549/Appendix%202%20-%20BCP%20Council%20Best%20Value%20Notice%20Action%20Plan%20August%202023.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s50359/Appendix%201%20-%20A%20shared%20vision%20for%20Bournemouth%20Christchurch%20and%20Poole%20-%20Updated%20following%20OS%20Board.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s50197/Appendix%20B%20for%20Data%20Working%20Group%20-%20final%20report.pdf


Appendix 2 – Overview & Scrutiny framework, developed by E&P O&S Committee and 
O&S Board.  

Appendix 3 - Summary of O&S Activity 2023-24. 

Appendix 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

 

 

65



This page is intentionally left blank

66



BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY STATUTORY POWERS AND BCP CONTEXT 

 
 

1. Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) is an integral part of the Council’s governance 

structure and is a statutory requirement for BCP Council.  All councils 
operating executive arrangements must have at least one O&S committee.  

In BCP Council, O&S activity is carried out by four O&S committees formed 
of councillors and co-opted members.  These are: 

 The Overview and Scrutiny Board 

 Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

2. The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees is to help 

develop policy, to carry out reviews of Council and other local services, and 
to hold decision makers to account. 

3. O&S committees are not decision-making bodies but can influence decisions 

through powers to obtain information, require attendance from council officers 
and members and to make recommendations.  Under the Local Government 

Act 2000, O&S committees have the right to scrutinise ‘any matter affecting 
the local authority area or the inhabitants of the area.’ 

4. Additional powers to scrutinise NHS services and review the work of the local 

community safety partnership mean that O&S committees have an important 
role in acting as a ‘check and balance’ to decisions made both within the 

council and in external organisations.   

5. The overall aim of O&S activity is to impact in a tangible way on the council 
and the residents it serves.  The Ministerial foreword of ‘Overview and 

Scrutiny: statutory guidance for councils and combined authorities’ by the 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) states: 

“The role that overview and scrutiny can play in holding an authority’s 
decision-makers to account makes it fundamentally important to the 
successful functioning of local democracy.  

Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of public services and 

drives improvements within the authority itself. Conversely, poor scrutiny can 

be indicative of wider governance, leadership, and service failure.” 

 

 

 

WHAT IS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY? 

67

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities


 

6. The majority of councils base their O&S arrangements on commonly held 

principles of good scrutiny.  These are set out in the BCP Constitution, which 
states that the O&S committees shall: 

a) contribute to sound decision making in a timely way by holding 

decision makers to account as a ‘critical friend’;  

b) be a Councillor led and owned function that seeks to continuously 

improve through self-reflection and development;  

c) enable the voice and concerns of the public to be heard and reflected 
in the Council’s decision-making process;  

d) engage in decision making and policy development at an appropriate 
time to be able to have influence;  

e) contribute to and reflect the vision and priorities of the Council; and  

f) be agile and be able to respond to changing and emerging priorities 
at the right time with flexible working methods. 

Through their work, O&S councillors should seek to uphold these principles. 

 

7. O&S can support the high level aims of the council by aligning its work to the 

priorities identified within the council’s corporate plan entitled ‘A Shared 
Vision for Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole, 2024-28’.  The plan was 
refreshed in May 2024.  With the remit of O&S committees spanning all 

service areas of the council, O&S activity has the potential to support the 
following vision and priorities identified within the corporate plan: 

Our vision: 

 Where people, nature, coast and towns come together in sustainable, 
safe and healthy communities. 

Our priorities: 

 Our place and environment: Vibrant places, where people and nature 

flourish, with a thriving economy in a healthy, natural environment. 

 Our people and communities: Everyone leads a fulfilled life, 

maximising opportunity for all. 

This could be achieved through alignment of O&S work plans to policy areas 
earmarked for development within the corporate plan.  O&S can also provide 

benefit by monitoring the progress of the council against the ambitions set out 
in the corporate plan, through engagement with the relevant aspects of 

performance dashboards.  

PRINCIPLES OF GOOD SCRUTINY 

SUPPORTING THE AMBITIONS AND VALUES OF THE COUNCIL 

68

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s50359/Appendix%201%20-%20A%20shared%20vision%20for%20Bournemouth%20Christchurch%20and%20Poole%20-%20Updated%20following%20OS%20Board.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s50359/Appendix%201%20-%20A%20shared%20vision%20for%20Bournemouth%20Christchurch%20and%20Poole%20-%20Updated%20following%20OS%20Board.pdf


BCP Council / Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

O&S Framework for scrutiny topic selection 

 

1. Development of this framework and its application by O&S Committees 

Workshops were held with members of O&S committees across December 2023- February 2024, supported by the Centre for Governance 

and Scrutiny (CfGS).  The aim of the workshops was to develop an approach to work programming at BCP for 2024/25 and beyond that is 

based on good practice and addresses improvements already identified for O&S as set out in Assurance Review Action Plan and the O&S 

Action Plan.  One output of this work is the framework set out below. 

 

During 2024, the O&S Board and Environment and Place O&S Committee have been following the principles set out in this framework.  The 

same good practices will be rolled out to all O&S committees in 2024 and used to support future annual work programming. 

 
2. Using a lens to select and approach scrutiny topics 

O&S statutory guidance recommends that a ‘lens’ or key set of priorities be established by O&S committees, to clearly communicate their 

role and how they will add value to the work of the organisation.  The statements also clarify the role of the committee to the public.  

 

Established lenses provide a tool to assist O&S members in work programming, to sift suggestions for work into a realistic annual work 

programme for each committee and should be referred to throughout the year as arising suggestions for work are made. 

 

O&S Board and Environment and Place O&S Committees agreed lenses in 2024.  Children’s Services and Health and Adult Social Care 

O&S Committees have not yet considered the application of lenses to their work.  Lenses are set out below.  It is suggested that these 

lenses be reviewed annually to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

69

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s45375/Appendix%201%20BCP%20Council%20Assurance%20Review%20Action%20Plan%20-%20October%202023.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s46509/Appendix%201%20for%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s46509/Appendix%201%20for%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Action%20Plan.pdf


 

 

 

The Environment & Place O&S Committee will approach work through a lens of SUSTAINABILITY, with a specific 

focus on the following priorities, drawn from the Corporate Strategy: 

 

 Climate change is tackled through sustainable policies and practice 

 Our green spaces flourish and support the wellbeing of being people and nature  

 Our communities have pride in our streets, neighbourhoods and public spaces 

 Good quality homes are accessible, sustainable and affordable for all 

The O&S Board will approach work through a lens of RESIDENT IMPACT AND EXPERIENCE, such as 

considering: 

 

 benefits that could be brought to residents by delivering services in different ways 

 how the areas of highest financial risk for the council may impact on residents  

 the council’s relationship with the public and work that can be done to strengthen this.  

 

The Health and Adult Social Care O&S Committee  will approach work through a lens of ….TBC 

 

The Children’s Services O&S Committee  will approach work through a lens of ….TBC 

70



3. Using a framework to structure O&S activity: 

A framework for supporting different types of scrutiny work is set out in the table below.  Scrutiny is split out into proactive work, 

reactive work and pre-decision scrutiny.  When developing this framework, O&S councillors gave a clear steer that they wish to 

continue to undertake all these elements of scrutiny through their work programmes. 

As with the lenses outlined at 2 above, the scrutiny framework will also be used to communicate the role and intentions of the 

committees to the wider council and the public.  It is suggested that the framework be reviewed annually to ensure it remains fit for 

purpose. 

 

Proactive Scrutiny 
 
 
What is it? 

 Early policy work - work focused on policy development and exploring options for the future.  Also described as ‘overview work’ in BCP.  

 Framed as a series of questions or ‘key lines of enquiry’, to which O&S seeks answers.  These are found through the gathering of evidence, 

with a view to informing future policy.   

 Driven by the O&S committee itself, or may be in response to a suggestion from councillors, community or decision makers. 

 Less likely to directly align to another piece of work already underway in the council, eg. a cabinet report.  

 Fulfils BCP principles of good scrutiny: 

 
‘O&S engages in decision making and policy development at an appropriate time to be able to have influence’ 
‘O&S is a member led and owned function’ 

‘O&S enables the voice and concerns of the public to be heard and reflected in the Council ’s decision-making process’ 
 

Examples 
Cllr suggestions based on their understanding of local needs, eg: 

 What more can we do to meet local people’s housing needs? 

 To what extent do we as a council as a community understand the likely challenges of climate change, and what action do we need to take?  

 
Method for undertaking scrutiny: 

 Either “in committee”, as a whole-meeting challenge session followed up by agreement of recommendations at the next meeting, or a short and 
sharp working group with a group meeting two or three times between meetings. 

 Outcomes are unlikely to be met by an officer report – proactive scrutiny relies on councillors scoping and directing the work and asking for 
specific data, information and evidence to be brought by relevant stakeholders.  

 Recommendations are made, usually to Cabinet or Portfolio Holders.  They must respond to these recommendations. 
 
 

 

71



Pros and Cons 
 Potential to add significantly more value than other work by using powers to gather evidence from stakeholders , investigate an issue in depth 

and find solutions.  These may be used to inform policy in a significant and meaningful way. 
 Potential to select and scope topics to have maximum positive impact on the communities of BCP.  

 Can generate a clearer set of recommendations that can be communicated in the council and to the public.  
 Easier for O&S to own the programme of work and not be affected by other factors (eg. movement of decisions on the Cabinet Forward Plan). 
 Resource intensive for officers and councillors.   

 May require committee to work more flexibly to find capacity for the depth of work, eg. swapping committee meetings to undertake working 
group meetings instead.  

 
 
Method for selection of proactive scrutiny topics: 

 Invite suggestions from councillors annually (through work programming workshops) 

 Invite suggestions from decision makers for O&S to contribute to developing policies/ decisions.  

 Invite suggestions from the public annually (consider how to incorporate into methodology for 2025 work programming) 

 Sift suggestions according to the priorities of lenses as set out above (‘resident impact and experience’ / ‘sustainability’ ) 

 Agree, scope and plan topics to add maximum value. 

 Plan all proactive work on an annual basis to ensure it can be undertaken by an appropriate time to add value and in within resources available.  

 
 

Pre-decision Scrutiny 
 
 
What is it?: 

 Scrutiny of a report close to the point of decision making – eg. a Cabinet report. 

 Predominantly driven by the Cabinet Forward Plan. 

 Sits between ‘proactive’ and ‘reactive’ scrutiny. Some councils undertake a minimal level of pre-decision scrutiny in favour of greater levels of 
deep dive investigations.  BCP councillors have said that pre-decision scrutiny is an important part of the scrutiny process which they are keen 

to see stay in place.  

 Fulfils BCP principle of good scrutiny: 
 

 ‘O&S contributes to sound decision making in a timely way by holding decision makers to account as a ‘critical friend’. 
 

Examples 
Scrutiny of Cabinet reports on: 

 BCP Local Plan 

 BCP 2024/25 budget scrutiny & MTFP update reports 

 Various policies prior to Cabinet/ Council decision 

 
Method for undertaking scrutiny: 

72



 In committee, consideration of a report already written for Cabinet.  Report considered approximately 10 working days prior to the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 Any recommendations or comments made on the report are formally passed to the next Cabinet meeting. 

 The O&S Chairman will attend the Cabinet meeting to report recommendations and/or  give a summary of comments made at O&S. 

 Cabinet must consider any formal recommendations made and respond. 

 
Pros and Cons 

 Publicly demonstrates that decision makers are held to account. 
 Less resource intensive – reports already written for Cabinet. 
 Reactive – hard to plan agendas and relies on a well populated Cabinet Forward Plan to timetable work.  

 Limited impact vs time spent.  O&S is unlikely to be able to have much influence on fully developed policy  and decisions. 
 Potential to establish a ‘shadow cabinet’ and for meetings to become political, which must be managed effectively by O&S Chairs.  
 Potential for Cabinet scrutiny to overwhelm agendas - can lead to additional/ long meetings which can limit effectiveness of scrutiny. 

 Potential to duplicate other scrutiny opportunities – eg. full council debate. 

 
Method for selection of pre-decision scrutiny topics: 
 

 Establish a programme of informal, Teams based briefing sessions at a frequency which can be accommodated by O&S members and support 
officers. Schedule briefings to provide O&S with information on the key aspects of developing decisions.  Aim to hold these as early as possible 
and at least 3 months prior to the decision to be made.  Chairs and Vice Chairs take the lead in this, using the Cabinet Forward Plan and 

informal discussions with decision makers. 

 Using the information provided at briefings and the agreed O&S lenses to determine which forthcoming Cabinet decisions will benefit from a 
councillor maintaining a watching brief and reporting back (rapporteur) or ultimately pre-decision scrutiny at committee. 

 Give notice as early as possible of those items required for pre-decision scrutiny, to enable report authors to work to the relevant O&S 

timescales. 

 Provide regular reporting on out of committee activity into a committee meeting via Chair, to maintain transparency of O&S activity.  

 Note – this framework for selecting pre-decision scrutiny is expected to significantly reduce the number of Cabinet reports being considered by 

O&S committees but will require a commitment from decision makers to share information with O&S in a different way that is both open and 

timely.  The proposed format will also provide decision makers with the opportunity to surface issues with the wider membership of the council 

prior to decision making and to gather informal input to shape direction of policy.  

 

 

Reactive Scrutiny 
 
 
What is it?: 

 Emerging issues that arise throughout the year and can’t easily be planned for in advance.  

 Usually a significant issue of concern or risk to the council, residents or external bodies (eg. Ofsted or Government department) 

 Fulfils BCP principles of good scrutiny: 
 

73



‘O&S contributes to sound decision making in a timely way by holding decision makers to account as a ‘critical friend’; 
‘O&S is agile – able to respond to changing and emerging priorities at the right time with flexible work ing methods’ 
‘O&S Contributes to and reflects the vision and priorities of the council ’; 

 
Examples 

 Targeted scrutiny on council finances at the end of 2022 following concerns about in-year budget 

 Safety valve scrutiny at Children’s O&S Committee 

 Best Value and Assurance Review reports. 

 Decisions ‘called in’ by O&S 
 

Method for undertaking scrutiny 
 O&S Councillors review a suite of information regularly outside of the committee space – eg. corporate performance reports, medium term 

financial plan updates, complaints data or resident surveys. 

 ‘Red flags’ are elevated to committee for more formal scrutiny to take place.  Usually, a report is requested from officers. 

 Any recommendations or comments made on the report are formally passed to the relevant decision maker, usually Cabinet/ Council. 

 Cabinet/ Council must consider the recommendations made and respond. 

 O&S may ask to receive regular updates outside of committee, to maintain a closer eye on the matter until it is resolved. 
 

Pros and Cons 
 Important governance mechanism to assist the council in resolving issues of concern.   
 Provides public demonstration of scrutiny on issues that may be causing press interest or community concern and gives opportunity for public to 

engage. 
 Limited impact vs time spent.  O&S may ask decision makers to reconsider an issue or make recommendations expressing concerns but cannot 

change a decision.   

 Can disrupt workplans owing to the need to scrutinise a matter quickly. 
 Potential to duplicate other scrutiny opportunities – eg. full council debate. 

 
 
Method for selection of reactive scrutiny topics: 
 

 Committee members ‘horizon scan’ by reviewing a suite of information on a regular basis in their own time.  These are provided by email or in a 
designated webspace.  Rapporteurs may be established to monitor designated areas of interest, sharing the load across the committee.  

 Emerging trends or red flags are raised by committee members informally to the Chair & Vice Chair. 

 Chair and Vice Chair take the lead in raising concerns with relevant decision makers and seeking more information.  Using this information and 

the lenses established by committees, they determine which matters warrant elevating to committee.   

 In all cases, O&S will prioritise work where it can have the most value and will avoid duplicating efforts underway elsewhere in the council to 

resolve arising issues.  Priority will therefore be given either to those areas of highest concern and which are generating significant public and 

media attention; where data trends indicate that concerns are at risk of becoming embedded, or where attempts to find solutions by Cabinet or 

service areas have not worked.   

74



 For these matters, a report is requested to the next available committee meeting for more formal and forensic scrutiny to take place.  Work 

plans may be adjusted to make room for this arising work within existing resources. 

 Following formal scrutiny, O&S may ask to receive regular updates outside of committee, to maintain a closer eye on the matter until it is 

resolved. 

 Nb. ‘Call-in’ decisions will follow a separate process as outlined in the constitution.  

 

 
 

4. Next steps 

 The O&S Board and Environment and Place O&S Committees have adopted this framework and agreed lenses for their work. 

 In 2024, all remaining O&S committees will be asked to adopt this framework and establish lenses or a limited set of high-level priorities. 

 The framework will accompany all work programme reports to committee and should be referred to as a structure to underpin ongoing 

work programming activity.  

 The framework will be reviewed annually by O&S Chairs, and lenses reviewed annually by O&S Committees in annual work 

programming, to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

 

75



T
his page is intentionally left blank

76



BCP Council Overview & Scrutiny Committee Activity, 2023/24  

 

 

In these meetings the committee received an update on the council’s Pay and Reward 
project and provided pre-decision scrutiny to the Cabinet report regarding Future Places Ltd, 
which undertook regeneration activity on behalf of the council.  The committee supported the 
recommendation to Cabinet that regeneration activity be brought back in house, and also 
recommended that any decision on the disposal of the previous civic offices at Christchurch 
and Poole be deferred for further consideration.  These recommendations were accepted by 
Cabinet. 
 
This committee held two final meetings, prior to being disbanded in September 2023 
and replaced by the O&S Board.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corporate & Community O&S Committee 
 (May-September 2023, then decommissioned) 

     

 Meetings: 2 ordinary, 0 special meetings 
 Membership: 11 councillors  
 Average number of agenda items – 1.5 
 Working Groups  - 0 
 ‘Call-Ins’ considered – 0 

 Chair – Councillor Stephen Bartlett 

Vice Chair – Councillor Sue Aitkenhead 

 

77



 

Following changes to the O&S committee structure in September 2023, the Overview & 
Scrutiny (O&S) Board was established.  This took on the previous remit of the Corporate & 
Community O&S Committee, along with an overarching responsibility for the O&S function 
and all scrutiny ‘call-in’ responsibilities.  Board meetings were programmed monthly, to track 
Cabinet and allow for recommendations on pre-decision scrutiny to reported to Cabinet in a 
timely way.   

The Board began its work with the only Call-In meeting of the municipal year, relating to the 
detail of a Public Space Protection Order to be applied across beaches, heathland, parks 
and recreational areas.  After consideration of the call-in request, no recommendations were 
made to Cabinet and the decision was implemented. 

Statutory crime and disorder scrutiny responsibilities were fulfilled through the scrutiny of the 
BCP Community Safety Partnership annual report and the Board fulfilled its new 
responsibilities to monitor the overall O&S function through update reporting on the O&S 
Action Plan, agreed by Council in September 2023. 

O&S induction training was provided to all councillors in Summer 2023.  Mindful of good 
practices highlighted through this training, Board members made significant efforts to 
maintain a focus on 2/3 substantive items per agenda, to provide more effective and 
targeted focus to those topics selected.  The average agenda items of 2.1 per meeting 
demonstrate a significant improvement compared to previous years where the number of 
agenda items selected by legacy committees were numerous and meetings lengthy.  The 
Board expressed a wish to focus on matters of the highest risk or priority for the council, 
along with those that may have a significant impact on residents.  
 
The Board was mindful of the significance of the Best Value Notice, issued to the Council in 
August 2023 and the work being undertaken by the council to make identified improvements.  
Through test and challenge, the Board supported the Best Value improvement journey by 
focussing on the following critical areas of council activity: 
 
 Transformation Programme update,  
 Medium Term Financial Plan updates,  
 Best Value Notice action plan monitoring, 

Overview & Scrutiny Board (established 30 September 2023) 

     

 Meetings: 7 ordinary, 1 special meeting 
 Membership: 13 councillors  
 Average number of agenda items – 2.1 
 Working Groups – 1 (informal, member led working group) 
 ‘Call-Ins’ considered – 1 

Chair – Councillor Stephen Bartlett 

Vice Chair – Councillor Sue Aitkenhead 

 

78



 A Shareholder Governance Review of council owned companies   
 Scrutiny of the 2023/24 BCP budget  
 Corporate Performance Reporting 

Decisions with significant financial implications attached were also scrutinised, such as the 
disposal of land at Wessex Fields.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Spotlight on… Resident Impact 

Along with scrutiny of internal / corporate priority areas, the Board focussed on those matters 
which it felt would be of highest importance to residents.  This included pre-decision scrutiny of 
proposals for 20mph speed limits in the BCP area; development of a Library Strategy, and the 
draft BCP Local Plan, scrutiny of which resulted in a number of recommendations to Cabinet. 

An informal, member led working group was also undertaken to understand the causes of long 
waiting times for Blue Badge applications to be processed.  Members agreed to progress this 
work after becoming aware of resident concerns.  Mindful of limited resources, three O&S 
members undertook their own background research, meeting with officers for informal 
discussions which established that application processes are complex and driven by the strict 
rules that are set nationally and must be rigorously observed to prevent fraud.  The work done by 
the council to communicate effectively with applicants was examined along with the fees and 
resources associated with running the service. 

The group reported its findings to full committee, which determined that further scrutiny work 
would not add value to this matter but offered several suggestions to officers for potential 
improvements to the service.  This informal member-led research allowed for quicker progression 
of the matter and an informed decision to be made on whether the investment of scrutiny 
resource would be impactful.  The Board recognised that this would be a valuable tool for future 
scrutiny work. 

79



Following changes to the O&S committee structure in September 2023, the Place O&S 
Committee was renamed ‘Environment & Place’ to reflect an intended greater focus on 
environmental and sustainability matters.  The committee also agreed to recruit two 
independent co-opted members to its membership, to provide additional expertise and 
challenge to this priority area of work. At time of writing, this recruitment is in process. 

Work activity included proactive scrutiny on planning reforms, families in B&Bs and the 
development of the BCP Green Spaces Play and Wheeled Play Strategy.  Monitoring reports 
included an update on the Schools Streets programme, with the committee scrutinising this 
from an environmental perspective, endorsing further roll out of the scheme to encourage 
management of traffic around schools in a way that is particularly beneficial for children and 
their families travelling to schools on foot or by other active modes.  

Other activity included monitoring improvements being made to the council’s planning 
service and the committee has indicated a wish to support this improvement journey through 
further monitoring updates. 

Spotlight on…Climate Change and Sustainability 

 
The council made changes to the committee in recognition that addressing climate change 
and improved sustainability is a central tenet of the council’s aims.  In addition to 
enhancing the breadth of challenge and expertise through seeking additional co-opted 
members, the committee agreed to approach all its work through a lens of sustainability.   

The council’s annual climate progress report was scrutinised by the committee in early 
2024, providing an update on progress towards commitments made in the BCP Council 
Climate and Ecological Emergency Declaration, made in July 2019.  

To support work in this important area, the committee expressed an intention to align its 
future work plan to those council policies and decisions where it may add value through a 
sustainability lens.  This will be established through an assessment of the sustainability 
aspects of the revised Corporate Strategy and delivery plans accompanying this.  

Environment & Place O&S Committee 
 

     

 

 Meetings: 5 ordinary, 0 special meetings 
 Membership: 11 councillors  
 Average number of agenda items – 1.6 
 Working Groups  - 0 
 ‘Call-Ins’ considered – 0 

Chair – Councillor Chris Rigby 

Vice Chair – Councillor Richard Herrett 

80



 

In keeping with the previous year, close monitoring of the improvement journey in children’s 
services remained a priority for the committee, with themed meetings relating to the 
improvements in Children’s Social Care, SEND and Education & Skills.  All Ofsted 
Monitoring Visits were also reported on to the committee.  This committee also received 
portfolio holder updates at each meeting with opportunity for questions and discussion.  Two 
additional meetings of the committee were called to focus on safety valve scrutiny. 

  

Spotlight on… Safety Valve 

During winter 2023 the council was invited by the Department for Education’s Safety Valve 
programme which is an initiative focussed on helping local authorities to tackle overspending 
on SEND services. A proposal was submitted to the DfE to join the initiative and in March 
2024 the council was informed that that the DfE could not enter into an agreement with BCP 
Council on the basis of the proposal made at this time. 

Whilst negotiations were taking place between the council and the DfE, the O&S committee 
undertook three targeted scrutiny sessions on Safety Valve, including two special meetings. 
Scrutiny included input from residents, families and schools, along with lead officers and the 
portfolio holder.  The committee particularly focussed on the potential impact for families and 
schools if the council were to join the initiative and received many public questions and 
statements in relation to this. 

Through its work the committee made recommendations to the portfolio holder for there to be 
as wide as possible member engagement in any final decision relating to Safety Valve.  
Further, well-timed scrutiny on the matter was welcomed by the portfolio holder and a full 
council resolution was also made that all members of the council would have the opportunity to 
consider any potential future decision to join the Safety Valve programme, should this come 
forward as a formal proposal at a future date.  

Children’s Services O&S Committee 
 

      

 Meetings: 5 ordinary, 2 special meetings 
 Membership: 11 councillors, plus 4 co-opted members and 4 Youth Parliament reps  
 Average number of agenda items – 4.1 
 Working Groups  - 0 
 ‘Call-Ins’ considered – 0 

Chair – Councillor Bobbie Dove 

Vice Chair – Councillor Simon Bull 

81



 

The committee’s work included pre-decision scrutiny on the Adult Day Opportunities Strategy 
with views raised in committee reported by the Chair into Cabinet.  Monitoring reports 
included the annual report from the Safeguarding Adults Board, the annual report on Adults 
Social Care Complaints and monitoring of the implementation of the Carer’s Strategy, one 
year on from its approval.   

The committee considered local service provision including access to GP practices and NHS 
Dentistry Provision in the BCP area. Background briefings were also provided into 
committee to provide a good understanding of policy and issues which may inform future 
work planning.  These included briefings on Health Inequalities, Suicide Prevention and the 
updated Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  This committee also received portfolio holder 
updates at each meeting with opportunity for questions and discussion.  

Spotlight on… Achieving Data Driven Scrutiny  
 
Acknowledging that the data and policy landscape in the health and adult social care arena is 
extensive and complex, and with many new councillors joining BCP Council in 2023, the 
committee established a Data Working Group to better understand the various data sources and 
how these could provide a wider evidence base for the work of scrutiny.   

The group was supported by expert officers and data analysts from both within the council and 
Public Health and the NHS.  Data and policy sources were demonstrated and compared. The 
group was keen to encourage a member led approach to the inclusion of data in scrutiny and 
isolated those sources suitable for ‘self-serve’ research compared to those which enhance 
deeper dive scrutiny work and may require the support of data analysts to access and interpret.  

A standard expectation of data provision to accompany committee reports was also agreed with 
officers during the work of the group.  These findings were brought together in a data toolkit, with 
the aim of providing current and future councillors with a user guide to accessing data, and to 
ultimately improve the evidence base for scrutiny by the committee.  This approach could be 
mirrored by other O&S committees to improve the overall evidence base underpinning scrutiny 
activity at BCP.  

Health & Adult Social Care O&S Committee 
 

       

 Meetings: 5 ordinary, 0 special meetings 
 Membership: 11 councillors, plus regular Healthwatch attendance 
 Average number of agenda items – 4 
 Working Groups  - 1 
 ‘Call-Ins’ considered – 0 

Chair – Councillor Patrick Canavan 

Vice Chair – Councillor Jackie Edwards 

82



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Introduction 

This action plan outlines improvement activity for BCP Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function.  This activity has been identified as 

appropriate to bring O&S practices to the level outlined in the Government’s Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and 

Combined Authorities  

The actions also address recommendations arising from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities’ (DLUHC) external 

assurance review and Best Value Notice, issued on the 3 August as well as the Chief Executive’s own internal assurance review conducted in 

Spring and updated in Summer 2023. The resulting Assurance Review Action Plan has been established by the Council to respond to these 

recommendations.  

Guidance Note 

This action plan follows the themes of the statutory guidance which are categorised as follows: 

 Culture  Resourcing  Selecting Committee Members  Power to Access Information  Planning Work  Evidence Sessions 

All relevant paragraphs of the guidance have been included within the action plan, to aid reader’s understanding of why actions have been 

identified.  Please note that where actions are similar (eg. reflecting different aspects of councillor training required) they remain split into 

separate actions to demonstrate how these will uphold the statutory guidance.  It should be noted that for this reason the action plan is highly 

detailed and serves as an operational tool to progress actions as well as for reporting on progress.   

Actions are grouped and action leads identified as per the coding set out in the key below. Where actions are duplicated, the update is provided 

against the first arising action.  A RAG rating is used to show progress against actions along with a commentary, with the latest updates 

provided in blue text.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

83

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council-external-assurance-review/external-assurance-review-of-bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council#executive-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council-external-assurance-review/external-assurance-review-of-bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council#executive-summary
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1176147/BCP_Best_Value_Notice.pdf
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/About-the-council/Best-Value-Notice/Docs/BCP-Council-Assurance-Review.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s45375/Appendix%201%20BCP%20Council%20Assurance%20Review%20Action%20Plan%20-%20October%202023.pdf


Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

 

Key  

Code Description Action Lead Code 

Member Training – induction and refresher Democratic Services Team  MT1 

Member Training – Chairs MT2 

Member Training – ongoing programme of training MT3 

Officer Training  OT1 

Role Descriptions for O&S leads RD1 

Chairs’ Meetings CM1 

Work Selection and Scoping WS1 

Community Insight CI1 

Web Presence WP1 

Working Methods WM1 

Terms of Reference for O&S Committees TOR1 

Constitution Review CR1 

Library of O&S Resources L1 

Protocol and Tool Development P1 

Annual Reporting on O&S AR1 

Resourcing  R1 

Communications  COM1 

Corporate Management Team Action Corporate Management Team CMT1 

Cabinet Action Cabinet  C1 

Chief Executive/ Leader Action Chief Executive/ Leader CL1 

Supporting Children’s Services O&S Democratic Services Team CS1 

RAG Rating 

Significant delay likely to affect action completion 

Some delay likely to affect action completion 

Action on track to complete as planned 

Action completed 

 

 

 

 

84



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Culture 
 

    

Scrutiny is Member Led     

The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of 

an authority will largely determine whether its scrutiny function 

succeeds or fails. While everyone in an authority can play a role in 

creating an environment conducive to effective scrutiny, it is 

important that this is led and owned by members, given their role in 

setting and maintaining the culture of an authority. 

 

 

1a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 

–  
O&S in BCP is Member led  
 

Complete.  

Monitor the 
need for 
refresher 

training.  

MT1 

1b Role descriptions to be developed for Councillors in leading 
O&S roles to clarify expectations for this role  

Not started.  Completion likely to be delayed to Autumn 2024. 
 

Autumn 
2023 

 

RD1 

1c Establish calendar of meeting dates for O&S chairs for 
collective leadership and oversight of the effectiveness of the 

O&S function. 
 

Complete CM1 

Scrutiny is understood and recognised across the 
organisation 

    

Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy – all 

members and officers should recognise and appreciate the 
importance and legitimacy the scrutiny function is afforded by the 
law. It was created to act as a check and balance on the executive 

and is a statutory requirement for all authorities operating 
executive arrangements and for combined authorities. 

2a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 

–  
Background and statutory powers of O&S, to raise the profile 
and importance of the scrutiny function within the organisation. 

 
 

Complete.  

Monitor the 
need for 
refresher 

training. 

MT1 

2b Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  
Background and statutory powers of O&S, to raise the profile 

and importance of the scrutiny function within the organisation 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 
 

 
 
 

Winter 
2023 

OT1 

85



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Scrutiny draws on community insight and selects topics of 
community relevance 

 

    

Councillors have a unique legitimacy derived from their being 
democratically elected. The insights that they can bring by having 
this close connection to local people are part of what gives scrutiny 

its value. 

3a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
Councillors bring community insight to their scrutiny work 

 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

3b Strengthen O&S work selection criteria, as set out in the 
constitution, to include consideration of the impact and value to 

the public when selecting work programme topics.  Review for 
use in annual work programming for O&S Committees. 
 

O&S scrutiny request forms ask councillors to outline the value 
to be added to BCP Council, the area or its inhabitants of a 
proposed scrutiny topic.  Use of this form is becoming 

embedded by councillors and is being used as part of annual 
work programming.  O&S work programmes now include more 
work balanced towards the impact on BCP residents.  O&S 

Board has selected resident impact as a lens by which to plan 
and approach its work.  Officers will continue to encourage 
selection of O&S topics that have tangible benefit to residents 

and monitor work programmes. 
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term. 

WS1 

3c Use is made of community insight through the selection of work 
topics that are driven by community need, evidence sessions, 

use of subject experts and data providing the view of residents 
and community groups. 
O&S Board and Environment & Place O&S have now planned 

annual work programmes based on councillor suggestions 
generated by issues of significance to communities.   
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term and 
revisit in 
annual work 

programmin
g for all 
committees. 

CI1 

86



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Greater use of subject experts and community insight have 
been included in O&S since May 2023.  Examples include a 

subject expert on the Safety Valve programme, developer input 
to Local Plan discussions and regular Healthwatch 
contributions at HASC O&S Committee.  The terms of 

reference of the Environment & Place O&S Committee was 
amended by Council in September 2023, to include additional 
insight on sustainability matters in the form of two non-voting 

member independent members.  Recruitment to these positions 
is in process.  
Use of community insight and evidence could be developed 

further still and officers will encourage at the scoping stage of 
forthcoming work.  

3d Develop O&S web pages to clarify public role in O&S, ways to 
engage and improve ease of access for topic suggestion. 

Not started.   

Autumn 
2024 

WP1 

Scrutiny has a clear role and focus     

Identifying a clear role and focus – authorities should take steps to 
ensure scrutiny has a clear role and focus within the organisation, 
i.e. a niche within which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. 

Therefore, prioritisation is necessary to ensure the scrutiny 
function concentrates on delivering work  that is of genuine value 
and relevance to the work  of the wider authority – this is one of the 

most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element to get 
right if it is to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority 

4a Scrutiny committees agree a clear communicable role or focus 
for the year when planning their work programme in order to 
assist in topic selection and in ensuring that stakeholders can 

anticipate which topics are likely to be of interest to scrutiny, 
and plan accordingly for engagement. This may be in the form 
of a ‘lens’ (eg. risk) through which to scrutinise topics, or a key 

priority or set of priorities for a committee (eg. ‘budget’ or 
‘ofsted improvement plan’)  
HASC O&S and Children’s Services O&S Committees planned 

work for the 2023/24 municipal year but did not agree a role or 
priority focus.  These committees would benefit from 
establishing a more defined lens or communicable focus for the 

2024/25 work programmes. 
The O&S Board and Environment & Place O&S Committee 
engaged in action/ learning workshops to plan their work 

programmes for 23/24.  These were led by CfGS and based on 

Autumn 
2023 
 

WS1 

87



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

good practice.  Both committees established a lens and a 
scrutiny framework to more clearly refine and communicate 

their role and areas of priority. 
This approach to be rolled and maintained by all O&S 
committees in future work programming.    

4b Committees carefully consider the type and balance of work 

undertaken to ensure that work aims can be met within the 
meeting capacity available.  This will require a determined 
focus to undertake work in diverse ways eg.  

 receiving information based reports outside of 
meetings, 

 establishing O&S rapporteurs (topic champions) to 
maintain oversight of an issue and report back to 

committee on exceptions 

 reducing the level of Cabinet decision scrutiny to free 
up capacity for more overview work.  

O&S Committees have received targeted training and support 
throughout the year to assist in this aim.  There has been 
significant progress in reducing the level of Cabinet pre-

decision scrutiny across committees, which previously 
dominated some work programmes.  Committees are planning 
more manageable work programmes.  Three additional O&S  

meetings were called during 23/24 to accommodate arising 
issues. 
 

All committees would benefit from reducing update items 
reported to committee, which usually generate limited 
substantive recommendations.  Analysis of 23/24 work outputs 

across all committees show an overbalance of this type of 
work, with this taking up the majority of work for 4 out of 5 
committees operating in this period. This is taking up time that 

could be used for other value-added scrutiny. 
 

Autumn 

2023 

WM1 

88



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Good practice is for all information based reports to be received 
in other formats.  Greater use could be made of other methods, 

such as rapporteurs, to maintain overview of information 
otherwise reported into committee.  This approach will continue 
to be encouraged across all committees. 

 

4c Develop user friendly terms of reference documents for each 
O&S committee based on split of responsibility set out in 
constitution. 

Updated terms of reference are now circulated with the forward 
plan paper for each O&S Committee. 

Complete 
 
  

TOR1 

There is a clear distinction between scrutiny and audit      

Authorities should ensure a clear division of responsibilities 
between the scrutiny function and the audit function. While it is 

appropriate for scrutiny to pay due regard to the authority’s 
financial position, this will need to happen in the context of the 
formal audit role. The authority’s section 151 officer should advise 

scrutiny on how to manage this dynamic 
 

5a Division of responsibility already established within the Articles 
of the Constitution. 

 

Complete  CR1 

5b A&G chair invitation to be scheduled into annual programme of 
O&S Chairs meetings 
A&G Chair has been invited to attend meetings during 2024/25. 

Complete CM1 

While scrutiny has no role in the investigation or oversight of the 
authority’s whistleblowing arrangements, the findings of 

independent whistleblowing investigations might be of interest to 
scrutiny committees as they consider their wider implications. 
 

 

6 Develop a library of O&S oversight information, provided in an 
online format for Councillors to access independently, to 

include –  
The findings of independent whistleblowing investigations 
HASC O&S has developed a data toolkit, which gathers 

oversight information in a digestible format for O&S members.  
This to be rolled out to all committees to include whistleblowing 
information.  

 
 
 

 
 

Spring/ 
Summer 

2024 

L1 

89



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

The relationship between scrutiny and the executive is 
effective 

    

Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive 

and scrutiny – authorities should ensure early and regular 
discussion takes place between scrutiny and the executive, 
especially regarding the latter’s future work  programme. 

7a Portfolio Holders attend O&S meetings when requested, or 

send deputies 
Attendance of Portfolio Holders at O&S when requested is now 
well established and will continue to be encouraged. 

 
  

Complete, 

monitor long-
term. 
 

 

C1 

7b The Cabinet Forward Plan is regularly updated with sufficient 

notice of forthcoming priorities to enable O&S to engage 
effectively at an early stage in policy shaping. 
Populating the Cabinet Forward Plan is a work in progress, with 

priorities currently identified approximately 3 months ahead.  
The Leader has committed to populating the plan 6 months 
ahead.  The O&S Specialist met with CMB in November 2023 

to outline the implications on O&S of Forward Planning by the 
Cabinet.   
 

Although the Cabinet Forward Plan is still in development, other 
activities have taken place which will support O&S/ executive 
work to be effective: 

 
Quarterly meetings between the Leader, Chief Executive, 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer and O&S Chairs are planned and will 

allow opportunity for discussion of O&S engagement in 
forthcoming policy work. 
 

Delivery plans attached to the refreshed Corporate Strategy set 
out the policy and decision making plans for the council for the 
forthcoming 2 years.  This will assist O&S planning and 

consideration of this document as a horizon scanning tool is 
being encouraged with all committees.  
 

Immediate 

and ongoing 
request to 
Cabinet 

C1 

90



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

7c The Constitution sets out that it is good practice for there to be 
regular, informal dialogue between O&S leads and Portfolio 

Holders in order that O&S can understand developing Cabinet 
priorities, discuss and assess the value that Overview and 
Scrutiny can provide and contribute in a timely way to policy 

development (O&S Procedure Rule 8.3). 
Officers regularly encourage this action. 
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term. 

CR1 

7d Role descriptions to be developed for Councillors in leading 

O&S roles to clarify expectation that scrutiny chairs   
establish informal working arrangements with relevant Portfolio 
Holders.  

Development of role descriptions has been delayed, however, 
lead O&S members are encouraged on a regular basis to 
develop informal working arrangements with relevant Portfolio 

Holders. 
Completion of role descriptions likely to be delayed to Autumn 
2024. 

 

Autumn 

2023 

RD1 

7e Lines of accountability between scrutiny committees and 
Portfolio Holders were agreed by Council in April 2022- review 
after election when any change to Cabinet portfolios are known 

and document these in a more granular way than is captured 
within the constitution to aid transparency. 
Changes were made to O&S Committees by Council in 

September 2023.  New lines of accountability are identified in 
updated terms of reference documents, providing clarity on 
lines of accountability.  These are circulated with each O&S 

agenda. 

Complete 
 

TOR1 

7f Maintain a review of the Portfolio/ O&S Committee alignment to 
ensure that it is fit for purpose, with amendments to be 
suggested via O&S annual report to Council, as required. 

Complete, 
monitor 
annually 

through 

AR1 

91



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Changes were made to O&S committee remits in September 
2023.  No further changes suggested in 2024 annual report.  

 

annual 
report 

process.   

The executive should not try to exercise control over the work  of 
the scrutiny committee. This could be direct, e.g. by purporting to 
‘order’ scrutiny to look at, or not look at, certain issues, or indirect, 

e.g. through the use of the whip or as a tool of political patronage, 
and the committee itself should remember its statutory purpose 
when carrying out its work . All members and officers should 

consider the role the scrutiny committee plays to be that of a 
‘critical friend’ not a de facto ‘opposition’. Scrutiny chairs have a 
particular role to play in establishing the profile and nature of their 

committee 

8a O&S considers work requested by Cabinet or Council using the 
criteria written into the constitution - Criteria already exists in 
constitution and is used to assess requests. 

 

Complete, 
monitor long-
term.  

WS1 

8b New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
All Political Groups be reminded of the incompatibility of the 

whip with O&S, and the forms that this may take. 
The message was reinforced in training and the CEx has had 
written confirmation from every Group Leader that the party 

whip, or similar, will not be applied around the Overview and 
Scrutiny functions. 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

8c O&S chairs to be opposition members, where practicable, to 
reduce risk of executive control being exercised over O&S – 

referral to Constitution Review Working Group for consideration 
of any appropriate Constitution changes to set out this good 
practice - prior to May 2024 O&S Chairs elections. 

Since May 2023 all O&S Committees have appointed a Chair, 
and in most cases, a Vice-Chair, from outside of the 
Administration.  O&S Board has confirmed a wish to include 

this advice within the constitution.   
Package of work to review constitution to strengthen areas 
around O&S has not yet started and will be progressed as 

resources allow. 

Spring 2024 CR1 

8d Role descriptions to be developed for Councillors in leading 
roles to clarify expectation that scrutiny chairs establish 
informal committee pre-meetings, to assist the committee in 

working towards its aims and taking a cross-party approach to 
scrutiny. 

Autumn 
2023 

RD1 

92



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Development of role descriptions has been delayed, however, 
some O&S Chairs have established pre-meetings successfully, 

and officers continue to encourage these.  
Completion of role descriptions likely to be delayed to Autumn 
2024. 

 

8e O&S Chairing skills training to be delivered to include the 
benefit of pre-meetings, and management of political dynamics 
in scrutiny to avoid a de facto opposition approach. 

Chairing skills training provided in Summer 2023 induction. 
O&S leadership training provided via LGA workshops in Feb 
2024.  LGA leadership training to be offered to all new O&S 

chairs, as and when changes in positions occur. 

Complete, 
monitor long-
term. 

 
 

MT2 

The chair of the scrutiny committee should determine the nature 
and extent of an executive member’s participation in a scrutiny 
committee meeting, and in any informal scrutiny task group 

meeting 

9a Clarity of O&S powers in determining attendees and 
participation already written into constitution at O&S Procedure 
Rule 9.1 

 

Complete CR1 

9b New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
Clarity of scrutiny’s powers in determining attendees and 

participation in O&S. 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

9c Scrutiny committees to be asked to consider appropriate 
invitees when scoping a piece of work and to consider where 

more value may be added by an officer/ scrutiny session as 
opposed to a Cabinet member scrutiny  
Appropriate invitees are considered in the planning stage for all 

O&S work. Since May 2023 there has been a noticeable shift in 
emphasis within the Council, with officers being invited to 
contribute on specific issues at scrutiny as appropriate. The 

range of inquiry from councillors to both portfolio holders and 
officers is much improved and this will continue to be 
encouraged. 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term. 
 

WS1 

93



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Managing disagreement  
 

    

Effective scrutiny involves look ing at issues that can be politically 

contentious. It is therefore inevitable that, at times, an executive 
will disagree with the findings or recommendations of a scrutiny 
committee. It is the job of both the executive and scrutiny to work  

together to reduce the risk  of this happening, and authorities 
should take steps to predict, identify and act on disagreement. One 
way in which this can be done is via an ‘executive-scrutiny 

protocol’ which can help define the relationship between the two 
and mitigate any differences of opinion before they manifest 
themselves in unhelpful and unproductive ways. The benefit of this 

approach is that it provides a framework for disagreement and 
debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. Often, the value 
of such a protocol lies in the dialogue that underpins its 

preparation. It is important that these protocols are reviewed on a 
regular basis. 
 

10 Executive members and O&S Chairs group to consider the 

value for BCP in preparing an executive – scrutiny protocol. 
O&S Chairs have discussed executive – scrutiny protocol and 
asked to review further information on the benefits. 

Agreement in place for quarterly meetings between Leader, 
Chief Executive and O&S Chairs to share information and 
address any barriers to effective scrutiny.  To be scheduled 

following Chairmanship elections of Summer 2024. The value 
of preparing an executive – scrutiny protocol to be raised 
through this group. 

Winter 2023   C1/ CM1 

Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. 

ask the executive to reconsider them before they are implemented, 
but should not view it as a substitute for early involvement in the 
decision-making process or as a party-political tool. 

11 Use of call-in be monitored and reflected within annual report to 

Council. 
Call-in use analysed and included in 2024 annual report.   

Complete, 

monitor 
annually 
through 

annual 
report 
process.   

AR1 

Ensuring impartial advice from officers     

Authorities, particularly senior officers, should ensure all officers 

are free to provide impartial advice to scrutiny committees. This is 
fundamental to effective scrutiny. Of particular importance is the 
role played by ‘statutory officers’ – the monitoring officer, the 

section 151 officer and the head of paid service, and where 
relevant the statutory scrutiny officer. These individuals have a 

12 Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  

The importance of impartial advice to O&S 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

Winter 

2023 

OT1 

94



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

particular role in ensuring that timely, relevant and high-quality 
advice is provided to scrutiny. 

Communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider 

authority 

    

The scrutiny function can often lack support and recognition within 
an authority because there is a lack  of awareness among both 
members and officers about the specific role it plays, which 

individuals are involved and its relevance to the authority’s wider 
work. Authorities should, therefore, take steps to ensure all 
members and officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny 

committee plays in the organisation, its value and the outcomes it 
can deliver, the powers it has, its membership and, if appropriate, 
the identity of those providing officer support. 

13 Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  
The identity of those providing officer support to O&S. 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

Winter 
2023 

OT1 

Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the 

scrutiny committee 

    

Part of communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider 
authority should happen through the formal, public role of full 
Council – particularly given that scrutiny will undertake valuable 

work  to highlight challenging issues that an authority will be facing 
and subjects that will be a focus of full Council’s work . Authorities 
should therefore take steps to ensure full Council is informed of the 

work  the scrutiny committee is doing. 

14a Report annually to Council on the work of scrutiny, and 
progress on actions to improve scrutiny.   
Annual report to be received by committees in Sep/ Oct 2024 

(delayed owing to pre-election period).  

Complete, 
repeat 
annually. 

 

AR1 

One way in which this can be done is by reports and 
recommendations being submitted to full Council rather than solely 
to the executive. Scrutiny should decide when it would be 

appropriate to submit reports for wider debate in this way, tak ing 
into account the relevance of reports to full Council business, as 
well as full Council’s capacity to consider and respond in a timely 

manner. Such reports would supplement the annual report to full 
Council on scrutiny’s activities and raise awareness of ongoing 
work. 

14b New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
The appropriate route for recommendations to full Council or 

Cabinet 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

14c Consideration be given to any amendments required to 
constitution to clarify reporting routes from O&S -  referral to 

Constitution Review Working Group for consideration. 
Package of work to review constitution to strengthen areas 
around O&S has not yet started and will be progressed as 

resources allow. 

Spring 2024 
 

CR1 

95



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Communicating scrutiny’s role to the public 
 

    

Authorities should ensure scrutiny has a profile in the wider 

community. Consideration should be given to how and when to 
engage the authority’s communications officers, and any other 
relevant channels, to understand how to get that message across. 

This will usually require engagement early on in the work  
programming process  

15a Consideration be given to the promotion of outcomes via 

Communications Team at the scoping stage of O&S work. 
Some O&S activity relating to high profile decisions is already 
promoted by the Communications Team.  Greater use could be 

made of promotion opportunities to raise the profile of O&S 
work. Resources have not been available for a comprehensive 
approach to this through annual work programming.  

Consideration of this will instead be encouraged on an ongoing 
basis at the scoping stage for all O&S work, as resources allow. 
 

 

In annual 

work 
programmin
g for O&S 

Committees 
– Autumn  
2023 

COM1 

15b O&S webpage development - See action 3d above. 
Not started 

Autumn 
2024 
 

WP1 

Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an 

independent mindset 

    

Formal committee meetings provide a vital opportunity for scrutiny 
members to question the executive and officers. Inevitably, some 
committee members will come from the same political party as a 

member they are scrutinising and might well have a long-standing 
personal, or familial, relationship with them.   
 

Scrutiny members should bear in mind, however, that adopting an 
independent mind-set is fundamental to carrying out their work  
effectively. In practice, this is likely to require scrutiny chairs 

work ing proactively to identify any potentially contentious issues 
and plan how to manage them. 

16a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
The importance of an independent mind-set to O&S 

 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

16b O&S Chairs are supported by Officers to identify and plan for 
contentious issues through Chairs briefings. 

Chairs are well supported by officers in regular briefings to 
scope and plan the level of interest anticipated in O&S work 
and any necessary adjustments.  Briefings were held for all 

meetings in 23/24 municipal year and will be planned for all 
meetings in 24/25.  
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term 
 

WS1 

96



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

16c Establish calendar of meeting dates for O&S chairs to include-  
monitoring the independence of O&S  

Calendar of meetings planned for 2024 
 

Complete CM1 

Resourcing scrutiny 
 

    

The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a 

pivotal role in determining how successful that function is and 
therefore the value it can add to the work  of the authority.  
 

Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the resource it 
provides, but every authority should recognise that creating and 
sustaining an effective scrutiny function requires them to allocate 

resources to it. 
 
When deciding on the level of resource to allocate to the scrutiny 

function, the factors an authority should consider include: • 
Scrutiny’s legal powers and responsibilities; • The particular role 
and remit scrutiny will play in the authority; • The training 

requirements of scrutiny members and support officers, particularly 
the support needed to ask effective questions of the executive and 
other key partners, and make effective recommendations; • The 

need for ad hoc external support where expertise does not exist in 
the council; • Effectively-resourced scrutiny has been shown to add 
value to the work  of authorities, improving their ability to meet the 

needs of local people; and • Effectively-resourced scrutiny can 
help policy formulation and so minimise the need for call-in of 
executive decisions 

 

17 Consideration be given to the level of officer resource available 

to support scrutiny and that this is appropriate to ensure 
effective outputs that add value to the organisation – discussion 
with O&S chairs group, with views to be passed to Corporate 

Management Team. 
 
Resources to support O&S are stretched.  The Democratic 

Services team provides direct officer support to the O&S 
function. There has been no increase in officer resource to 
support the increase in O&S meeting numbers agreed by 

Council in September 2023.  The Democratic Services 
structure was designed to support the service approved by 
the Shadow Authority which anticipated 22 O&S meetings 

per year with a larger Democratic Services team to support 
this.   

Since the establishment of BCP Council, the officer support 

available to O&S has not been adequate for the level of 
O&S meetings held by the council, which, through many 
changes to the O&S committee structure, have 

predominantly been above the level anticipated by the 
Shadow Authority.  In 2021 the service budget was 
reduced by 14.9% to support the corporate budget 

pressures. Following the most recent changes to the O&S 
structure the service is now considered to be operating 
above maximum capacity.  Taking into account the 

increased meetings and reduction in manpower resources, 
the ratio of meetings per equivalent officer FTE to provide 

Resource 

monitoring 
completed in 
23/24. 

 
To be 
continued on 

same basis, 
ongoing.  
 

R1/ 

CMT1 

97



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

support has increased by over 28%.  This is excluding any 
additional special meetings called by committees. This has 

an impact on the level of support that can be provided to 
the O&S function and the resulting outputs. 

Resourcing implications set out above were highlighted to  

CMB and Council in September 2023 when a decision was 
taken to increase the overall number of O&S meetings.    
A bid for additional staff to support the increase in O&S 

meeting numbers was not approved. 

Resource pressures caused delay to strategic actions in 2023, 
such as work programming, and limited the amount of support 

that could be provided to scoping and supporting effective 
scrutiny.  The highest level of substantive recommendations 
generated by an O&S committee in 2023/24 was 33%.  The 

lowest level was 0%.  These levels should be higher to 
demonstrate that value is being added by the O&S function. 
 

There will continue to be a risk that scrutiny cannot be 
supported to plan effective work with meaningful outputs 
without sufficient resources.  The level of resources available to 

support O&S will continue to be monitored through the O&S 
Chairs group, O&S Board and the annual reporting process to 
Council. 

 

Authorities should also recognise that support for scrutiny 
committees, task groups and other activities is not solely about 
budgets and provision of officer time, although these are clearly 

extremely important elements. Effective support is also about the 

18a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
Use of resource, and effective wider authority engagement in 

O&S 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

98



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

ways in which the wider authority engages with those who carry 
out the scrutiny function (both members and officers). 

18b Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  
Use of resource, and effective wider authority engagement in 

O&S 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

Winter 
2023 

OT1 

18c As required by the constitution, all requests for O&S 
committees to undertake work are considered by Committees 
against the current resource levels available to support the 

request 
All committees are asked to take account of resources when 
considering requests for work, especially commissioned work 

such as working groups and additional meetings.  2 working 
groups were held during 23/24 and 3 additional meetings 
called.  It was fortunate that not all committees commissioned 

working groups during this time as overall resource to support 
the function was limited by the increase in committee meetings, 
agreed by council in September 2023. 

 
O&S Board and Environment & Place O&S Committee in 
particular have adapted practices to work within resources 

available with more manageable committee agendas, meeting 
duration and greater level of member led work taking place 
outside of committee.  

 
All committees would benefit from retaining clear capacity 
within their annual work programmes to ensure space exists to 

respond to arising issues throughout the year without 
exceeding resource.  
 

Mechanisms are in place to monitor resource availability, 
including through this action plan, and on a regular basis 
through Chairs and Vice Chairs meetings. Officers will continue 

to provide guidance to support an O&S function that is as 
effective as possible within the resources available. 

Complete in 
23/24 – 
continue to 

monitor long-
term. 

R1 

99



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

 

18d Establish calendar of meeting dates for O&S chairs to include-  
monitoring the total level of resource available across the O&S 
function  

Calendar of meetings planned for 2024. 

Complete CM1 

Statutory scrutiny officers     

Combined authorities, upper and single tier authorities are required 

to designate a statutory scrutiny officer, someone whose role is to:  
  
• promote the role of the authority’s scrutiny committee;  

• provide support to the scrutiny committee and its members; and  
• provide support and guidance to members and officers relating to 
the functions of the scrutiny committee. 

19a Statutory scrutiny officer is appointed and sits within the 

Democratic Services Team. 

Complete R1 

19b The Statutory Scrutiny Officer role is set out in the constitution 
to aid authority wide understanding -  referral to Constitution 
Review Working Group for consideration. 

Package of work to review constitution to strengthen areas 
around O&S has not yet started and will be progressed as 
resources allow. 

Winter 2023 CR1 

19c New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 

–  
The role of the statutory scrutiny officer, to increase visibility  
 

Complete.  

Monitor the 
need for 
refresher 

training. 

MT1 

19d Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  
The role of the statutory scrutiny officer, to increase visibility. 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

 

Winter 
2023 

OT1 

19e Consider the interface of the statutory scrutiny officer role with 
Corporate Management Team to ensure that planning for 
engagement with scrutiny can be considered for significant 

forthcoming decisions. 

Complete CMT1 

100



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Statutory Scrutiny Officer met with CMB in November 2023 and 
agreed quarterly reporting of O&S Forward Plans through CMB, 

and encouraged directorates to consider potential O&S 
engagement in all significant forthcoming decisions. 
Quarterly meetings of Council Leader, Chief Executive, 

Statutory Scrutiny Officer and O&S Chairs has been agreed by 
all parties.  This will also assist with planning for scrutiny 
engagement in significant forthcoming decisions.   

Officer resource models     

Authorities should ensure that, whatever model they employ, 

officers tasked with providing scrutiny support are able to provide 
impartial advice. This might require consideration of the need to 
build safeguards into the way that support is provided. The nature 

of these safeguards will differ according to the specific role scrutiny 
plays in the organisation. 
 

 
 
 

 

20 Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  

The importance of impartial advice to O&S. 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

Winter 2023 OT1 

Selecting Committee Members 
 

    

Selecting the right members to serve on scrutiny committees is 
essential if those committees are to function effectively. Where a 

committee is made up of members who have the necessary sk ills 
and commitment, it is far more likely to be taken seriously by the 
wider authority. 

 
When selecting individual members to serve on scrutiny 
committees, an authority should consider a member’s experience, 

expertise, interests, ability to act impartially, ability to work  as part 
of a group, and capacity to serve.   

21a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  

Appropriate selection of committee members, in order that this 
can be taken account of by political groups when establishing 
their committee representation. 

 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 

need for 
refresher 
training. 

MT1 

101



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

 
Authorities should not take into account a member’s perceived 

level of support for or opposition to a particular political party 
(notwithstanding the wider legal requirement for proportionality) 
 

Members invariably have different sk ill-sets. What an authority 
must consider when forming a committee is that, as a group, it 
possesses the requisite expertise, commitment and ability to act 

impartially to fulfil its functions. 

21b A programme of ongoing scrutiny skills training to be developed 
for delivery to O&S Councillors throughout municipal year 

2023/24.  
Following induction training, a range of development 
opportunities have been provided to councillors through the 

LGA, the South West Scrutiny Network and the Centre for 
Governance and Scrutiny.  This has included skills 
development around work planning, finance scrutiny, chairing, 

O&S leadership and scrutinising data & performance.  
Arising opportunities free training through scrutiny networks will 
continue to be promoted to O&S councillors and additional 

bespoke training planned according to need and budget 
availability.  
O&S Chairs meetings retain training as a standard item on 

agendas, to review arising training needs. 
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term 

MT3 

Authorities are reminded that members of the executive cannot be 
members of a scrutiny committee.  Authorities should take care to 

ensure that, as a minimum, members holding less formal executive 
positions, e.g. as Cabinet assistants, do not sit on scrutinising 
committees look ing at portfolios to which those roles relate. 

Authorities should articulate in their constitutions how conflicts of 
interest, including familial links between executive and scrutiny 
responsibilities should be managed, including where members 

stand down from the executive and move to a scrutiny role, and 
vice-versa. 
 

22a Review Constitution rules for clarity on the principle of 
Executive lead members sitting on O&S referral to Constitution 

Review Working Group for consideration. 
Constitution identifies that Executive lead members cannot sit 
on O&S. 

 

Complete CR1 

22b Review constitution to consider providing further clarity on how 
to manage conflicts of interest, including when Councillors 
move between roles -  referral to Constitution Review Working 

Group for consideration. 
Package of work to review constitution to strengthen areas 
around O&S has not yet started and will be progressed as 

resources allow. 
 
 

 
 

Winter 2023 
 

CR1 

102



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Selecting a chair 
 

    

The Chair plays a leadership role on a scrutiny committee as they 

are largely responsible for establishing its profile, influence and 
ways of work ing. 
 

The attributes authorities should and should not take into account 
when selecting individual committee members also apply to the 
selection of the Chair, but the Chair should also possess the ability 

to lead and build a sense of teamwork and consensus among 
committee members. 

23a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 

–  
Appropriate selection of committee chairs, in order that this can 
be taken account of by political groups when establishing their 

proposed chair nominees 
 
 

Complete.  

Monitor the 
need for 
refresher 

training. 

MT1 

23b O&S Chairing skills training to be delivered to include - 

leadership skills.  
Chairing skills training provided in Summer 2023 induction. 
O&S leadership training provided via LGA workshops in Feb 

2024.  LGA leadership training to be offered to all new O&S 
chairs, as and when changes in positions occur. 

Complete, 

monitor long-
term 
 

 

MT2 

Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is 
strongly recommended that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of 

their relatives 

24 Review constitution to consider providing further clarity on the 
Chair not presiding over scrutiny of relatives-  referral to 

Constitution Review Working Group for consideration. 
Package of work to review constitution to strengthen areas 
around O&S has not yet started and will be progressed as 

resources allow. 

Winter 2023 
 

CR1 

The method for selecting a Chair is for each authority to decide for 
itself, however every authority should consider tak ing a vote by 
secret ballot. 

25a Secret ballot method vote for Chair and Vice Chair is already in 
place within constitution at Meeting Procedure Rule 19. 
 

 

Complete CR1 

25b See 8c above  ‘opposition chairs’  See relevant 
action 
above. 

 

CR1 

The role of the chair     

Chairs should pay special attention to the need to guard the 
committee’s independence. Importantly, however, they should take 

26 O&S Chairing skills training to be delivered to include – 
independence of O&S, and the need to avoid de facto 
opposition role. 

Complete, 
monitor long-
term 

MT2 

103



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

care to avoid the committee being, and being viewed as, a de facto 
opposition to the executive. 

 

Chairing skills training provided in Summer 2023 induction. 
O&S leadership training provided via LGA workshops in Feb 

2024.  LGA leadership training to be offered to all new O&S 
chairs, as and when changes in positions occur. 

 
 

Training for committee members     

Authorities should ensure committee members are offered 
induction when they take up their role and ongoing training so they 

can carry out their responsibilities effectively. Authorities should 
pay attention to the need to ensure committee members are aware 
of their legal powers, and how to prepare for and ask relevant 

questions at scrutiny sessions. 
 
When deciding on training requirements for committee members, 

authorities should consider tak ing advantage of opportunities 
offered by external providers in the sector. 

27a See action 2a above - new Councillor and refresher training on 
statutory powers of O&S 

 

See relevant 
action 

above. 

MT1 

27b A programme of ongoing scrutiny skills training to be developed 

for delivery to O&S Councillors throughout municipal year 
2023/24, to include –  
questioning skills training. 

Some questioning skills training was incorporated into O&S 
induction training. 
O&S Chairs meetings retain training as a standard item on 

agendas, to review arising training needs. Currently, Chairs 
have not indicated a pressing need for additional questioning 
skills training. 

Arising opportunities for free training through scrutiny networks 
will continue to be promoted to O&S councillors and additional 
bespoke training planned according to need and budget 

availability.  

Complete, 

monitor long-
term 

MT3 

27c Training to be delivered by external facilitators as appropriate 
and according to budget available.   
A mix of in-house support and external facilitators have been 

used in training and development to date to provide additional 
O&S expertise and insight to specific training areas as 
appropriate.  This approach will continue to be used according 

to need and budget availability. 
 

Complete, 
monitor long-
term. 

MT3 
 

104



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

While members and their support officers will often have significant 
local insight and an understanding of local people and their needs, 

the provision of outside expertise can be invaluable.  There are two 
principal ways to procure this:  
• Co-option – formal co-option is provided for in legislation. 

Authorities must establish a co-option scheme to determine how 
individuals will be co-opted onto committees; and  
• Technical advisers – depending on the subject matter, 

independent local experts might exist who can provide advice and 
assistance in evaluating evidence  

28a Facility to use external experts by O&S is already set out in  
constitution at Article 6, Rule 6.6. 

Complete CR1 

28b Consideration be given to the appropriate use of external 

experts at the scoping stage of O&S work. 
Greater use of subject experts and community insight have 
been included in O&S since May 2023.  Examples include a 

subject expert on the Safety Valve programme, developer input 
to Local Plan discussions and regular Healthwatch 
contributions at HASC O&S Committee.  The terms of 

reference of the Environment & Place O&S Committee was 
amended by Council in September 2023, to include additional 
insight on sustainability matters in the form of two non-voting 

member independent members.  Recruitment to these positions 
is in process.  
Use of community insight and evidence could be developed 

further still and officers will continue to encourage at the 
scoping stage of forthcoming work. 
 

Complete, 

monitor long-
term. 
 

WS1 

Powers to Access Information 

 

    

A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the 
authority holds, and to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job 
effectively. 

 
This need is recognised in law, with members of scrutiny 
committees enjoying powers to access information. In particular, 

regulations give enhanced powers to a scrutiny member to access 
exempt or confidential information. This is in addition to existing 
rights for councillors to have access to information to perform their 

29a Enhanced rights of O&S in relation to access to information are 
already set out in Constitution at Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 24. 

Complete CR1 

105



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

duties, including common law rights to request information and 
rights to request information under the Freedom of Information Act 

2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004. 
 
When considering what information scrutiny needs in order to carry 

out its work , scrutiny members and the executive should consider 
scrutiny’s role and the legal rights that committees and their 
individual members have, as well as their need to receive timely 

and accurate information to carry out their duties effectively.  

29b New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  

enhanced rights of O&S in relation to access to information  
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 

need for 
refresher 
training. 

MT1 

Scrutiny members should have access to a regularly available 
source of key information about the management of the authority – 

particularly on performance, management and risk . Where this 
information exists, and scrutiny members are given support to 
understand it, the potential for what officers might consider 

unfocused and unproductive requests is reduced as members will 
be able to frame their requests from a more informed position. 

30a Develop a library of O&S oversight information, provided in an 
online format for Councillors to access independently, to 

include -  
Performance, Management, Finance, Risk, Complaints, 
Business Cases and Ombudsman information. 

This will assist in ‘horizon scanning’ to enhance the 
effectiveness of O&S work planning. 
Some committees maintain oversight of key information on a 

regular basis, but this is determined by committee and not 
currently available to committees in a standard accessible 
format. 

HASC O&S has developed a data toolkit, which gathers 
oversight information in a digestible format for O&S members.  
This has been welcomed by O&S members as an effective way 

to provide horizon scanning information to members allowing 
‘self-serve’ and minimising impact on wider committee 
resources.  

This approach to be rolled out to all committees as resources 
allow. 
 

Spring/ 
Summer 24 

L1 

106



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

30b A programme of ongoing scrutiny skills training to be developed 
for delivery to O&S Councillors throughout municipal year 

2023/24, to include –  
Interpretation performance, management and risk information, 
and its application to O&S work programming. 

LGA training opportunities in February and March 2024 on 
‘Data and Managing Council Performance’ was promoted to all 
councillors. 

Arising opportunities free training through scrutiny networks will 
continue to be promoted to O&S councillors and additional 
bespoke training planned according to need and budget 

availability.  
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term 

MT3 

Officers should speak to scrutiny members to ensure they 
understand the reasons why information is needed, thereby 

making the authority better able to provide information that is 
relevant and timely, as well as ensuring that the authority complies 
with legal requirements. 

 
Regulations already stipulate a timeframe for executives to comply 
with requests from a scrutiny member.  When agreeing to such 

requests, authorities should:  
• consider whether seek ing clarification from the information 
requester could help better target the request; and  

• Ensure the information is supplied in a format appropriate to the 
recipient’s needs. 
 

31 Support scrutiny committees to be clear in identifying 
information needs and to scope larger pieces of work effectively 

so that information expectations can be met by officers and 
executive members. 
 

– In annual work programming for O&S Committees and 
ongoing, during work programming discussions at each 
meeting. 

During 23/24, where matters were scrutinised that were not 
already the subject of a report (eg. Cabinet report), scoping 
meetings were arranged between Chairs and report authors to 

clarify requirements.  O&S Chairs engaged committee 
members to seek input into this.   
This process has been strengthened by the development of a 

Key Lines of Enquiry proforma, for completion for all new 
scrutiny items.  This captures key questions and data requests 
and is being rolled out to all committees, providing a clearer 

audit trail for both committees and information providers. 
  
HASC O&S completed a working group on data and produced 

a Data Toolkit to capture its findings.  This includes clear 

Complete – 
monitor long-

term 
 
 

 

WS1 107



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

guidance on a standard data request for HASC O&S committee 
reports -  a process that can be mirrored by the other 

committees. 
 

While each request for information should be judged on its 
individual merits, authorities should adopt a default position of 

sharing the information they hold, on request, with scrutiny 
committee members. 

32 Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  
Default position of sharing information with O&S 

Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

Winter 
2023 

OT1 

The law recognises that there might be instances where it is 
legitimate for an authority to withhold information and places a 

requirement on the executive to provide the scrutiny committee 
with a written statement setting out its reasons for that decision. 
However, members of the executive and senior officers should 

take particular care to avoid refusing requests, or limiting the 
information they provide, for reasons of party political or 
reputational expediency. Before an authority takes a decision not 

to share information it holds, it should give serious consideration to 
whether that information could be shared in closed session 

33a Situations where information may be withheld from O&S, and 
actions to communicate this, are already set out in the 

Constitution at Access to Information Procedure Rule 24. 
 

Complete CR1 

33b New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  

Default position of sharing information with O&S, and situations 
where information may be withheld. 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 

need for 
refresher 
training. 

MT1 

33c Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  

Default position of sharing information with O&S, and situations 
where information may be withheld. 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

Winter 

2023 

OT1 

Committees should be aware of their legal power to require 

members of the executive and officers to attend before them to 
answer questions. It is the duty of members and officers to comply 
with such requests. 

34a Requirement for Cabinet members and officers to attend O&S 

when requested is already set out in constitution at O&S 
Procedure Rule 9. 
 

Complete CR1 

34b Identification of attendees and formal requests to Cabinet and 

officers to attend is required by the constitution and an 
embedded practice.  
 

Complete, 

monitor long-
term. 
 

WS1 

 
 
 

34c Portfolio Holders attend O&S meetings in response to requests, 

or send deputies. 
Attendance of Portfolio Holders at O&S when requested is now 
well established and will continue to be encouraged. 

Complete, 

monitor long-
term. 
 

C1 

108



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

 

34d New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  

Requirement of Cabinet members and officers to attend 
scrutiny when requested 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 

need for 
refresher 
training. 

MT1 

34e Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  

Requirement of Cabinet members and officers to attend 
scrutiny when requested. 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

Winter 

2023 

OT1 

Seeking information from external organisations   

  

  

Scrutiny members should also consider the need to supplement 
any authority-held information they receive with information and 
intelligence that might be available from other sources, and should 

note in particular their statutory powers to access information from 
certain external organisations 

35 Develop a library of O&S oversight information, provided in an 
online format for Councillors to access independently, to 
include -  

Information from external organisations, as appropriate, to 
support individual work items and annual work programming 
Some committees maintain oversight of key information on a 

regular basis, but this is determined by committee and not 
currently available to committees in a standard accessible 
format. 

HASC O&S has developed a data toolkit, which gathers 
oversight information in a digestible format for O&S members.  
This has been welcomed by O&S members as an effective way 

to provide horizon scanning information to members allowing 
‘self-serve’ and minimising impact on wider committee 
resources.  

This approach to be rolled out to all committees as resources 
allow. 
 

Spring/ 
Summer 24 

L1 

When ask ing an external organisation to provide documentation or 

appear before it, and where that organisation is not legally obliged 
to do either, scrutiny committees should consider the following: 

36a Guidelines for scrutinising external organisations is already 

included within the Council’s Constitution at O&S Procedure 
Rule 10. 

Complete CR1 

109



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

 
a) The need to explain the purpose of scrutiny – the organisation 

being approached might have little or no awareness of the 
committee’s work , or of an authority’s scrutiny function more 
generally, and so might be reluctant to comply with any request; 

 
b)The benefits of an informal approach – individuals from external 
organisations can have fixed perceptions of what an evidence 

session entails and may be unwilling to subject themselves to 
detailed public scrutiny if they believe it could reflect badly on them 
or their employer. Mak ing an informal approach can help reassure 

an organisation of the aims of the committee, the type of 
information being sought and the manner in which the evidence 
session would be conducted; 

 
c) How to encourage compliance with the request – scrutiny 
committees will want to frame their approach on a case by case 

basis. For contentious issues, committees might want to 
emphasise the opportunity their request gives the organisation to 
‘set the record straight’ in a public setting; and 

 
d) Who to approach – a committee might instinctively want to ask 
the Chief Executive or Managing Director of an organisation to 

appear at an evidence session, however it could be more 
beneficial to engage front-line staff when seek ing operational-level 
detail rather than senior executives who might only be able to talk  

in more general terms. When making a request to a specific 
individual, the committee should consider the type of information it 
is seek ing, the nature of the organisation in question and the 

authority’s pre-existing relationship with it. 
 
 

 
 

 

36b Develop a user-friendly protocol to assist committees with 
approaching, preparing for and scrutinising external 

organisations. 
Not started.  To be progressed as resources allow. 

Summer 
2024 

P1 

110



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Following ‘the Council Pound’     

Scrutiny committees will often have a keen interest in ‘following the 
council pound’, i.e. scrutinising organisations that receive public 

funding to deliver goods and services.  
 
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy of this interest and, 

where relevant, consider the need to provide assistance to scrutiny 
members and their support staff to obtain information from 
organisations the council has contracted to deliver services. In 

particular, when agreeing contracts with these bodies, authorities 
should consider whether it would be appropriate to include a 
requirement for them to supply information to or appear before 

scrutiny committees 

37 Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  
Support to scrutiny committees in respect of scrutinising 

organisations that receive public funding to deliver goods and 
services 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Winter 
2023 

OT1 

Planning Work   
  

  

Effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the ground, with 
the committee making recommendations that will make a tangible 

difference to the work  of the authority. To have this k ind of impact, 
scrutiny committees need to plan their work  programme, i.e. draw 
up a long-term agenda and consider mak ing it flexible enough to 

accommodate any urgent, short-term issues that might arise during 
the year. 
 

38a O&S committees agree a work programme annually drawing 
ideas from relevant sources, that enables reports to be 

prepared and brought to the committee in a timely way. 
All O&S committees completed annual work programming in 
2023/24, basing suggestions on a variety of relevant sources. 

To be repeated annually. 
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term. 

WS1 

38b Work programmes are based on realistic assessment of 
resources available to O&S, also retaining capacity for some 

arising issues to be accommodated. 
 
All committees are asked to take account of resources when 

considering requests for work, especially commissioned work 
such as working groups and additional meetings.  2 working 
groups were held during 23/24 and 3 additional meetings 

called.  It was fortunate that not all committees commissioned 
working groups during this time as overall resource to support 

Complete to 
varying 

levels of 
effectiveness 
in 23/24.   

 
Stronger 
approach to 

this to be 
encouraged 
in 24/25, 

R1 
 

 

111



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

the function was limited by the increase in committee meetings, 
agreed by council in September 2023. 

 
O&S Board and Environment & Place O&S Committee in 
particular have adapted practices to work within resources 

available with more manageable committee agendas, meeting 
duration and greater level of member led work taking place 
outside of committee.  

 
All committees would benefit from retaining clear capacity 
within their annual work programmes to ensure space exists to 

respond to arising issues without exceeding resource.  
 
Mechanisms are in place to monitor resource availability, 

including through this action plan, and on a regular basis 
through Chairs and Vice Chairs meetings. Officers will continue 
to provide guidance to support an O&S function that is as 

effective as possible within the resources available. 
 

with ongoing 
monitoring. 

38c New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  

Effective O&S Work programming and best use of resources 
 
 

Complete.  
Monitor the 

need for 
refresher 
training. 

MT1 

38d Feedback is gathered on O&S outputs and a tool developed to 

measure the success of O&S. 
Not started.  To be progressed as resources allow. 
 

Summer 

2024 

P1 

Authorities with multiple scrutiny committees sometimes have a 

separate work  programme for each committee. Where this 
happens, consideration should be given to how to co-ordinate the 
various committees’ work  to make best use of the total resources 

available. 

39a Each O&S committee may establish separate work plans, with 

responsibility for monitoring use of resource across all work 
plans sitting with O&S Board, supported by O&S Chairs.  This 
is set out in the Constitution.  

 

Complete CR1 

112



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

39b Establish calendar of meeting dates for O&S chairs to include 
collective leadership monitoring of O&S resource 

Calendar of meetings planned for 2024 
 

Autumn 
2023 

CM1 

Being clear about scrutiny’s role 
 

    

Scrutiny works best when it has a clear role and function. This 

provides focus and direction. While scrutiny has the power to look 
at anything which affects ‘the area, or the area’s inhabitants’, 
authorities will often find it difficult to support a scrutiny function 

that carries out generalised oversight across the wide range of 
issues experienced by local people, particularly in the context of 
partnership work ing. Prioritisation is necessary, which means that 

there might be things that, despite being important, scrutiny will not 
be able to look at. 
 

Different overall roles could include having a focus on risk , the 
authority’s finances, or on the way the authority works with its 
partners.  

 
Applying this focus does not mean that certain subjects are ‘off 
limits’. It is more about look ing at topics and deciding whether their 

relative importance justifies the positive impact scrutiny’s further 
involvement could bring. 

40 See actions 4a, b and c above – O&S ‘focus’, working methods 

and terms of reference. 
 

See relevant 

actions 
above 

WS1/ 

WM1/ 
TOR1 

When think ing about scrutiny’s focus, members should be 
supported by key senior officers. The statutory scrutiny officer, if an 

authority has one, will need to take a leading role in supporting 
members to clarify the role and function of scrutiny, and 
championing that role once agreed. 

41a Senior officers and the statutory scrutiny officer support 
committees in selecting priorities that are of relevance and can 

add value to the organisation. 
 
– In annual work programming for O&S Committees and 

ongoing, during work programming discussions at each 
meeting. 
Committees are well supported by senior officers in their 

selection of topics on a meeting-by-meeting basis with potential 

Complete, 
monitor long 

-term 
 
 

WS1 

113



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

areas for value-added scrutiny identified by officers through 
service based training at first meetings of all committees and in 

annual work programming. 
 
The O&S Board and Environment & Place O&S Committee 

engaged in action/ learning workshops to plan their work 
programmes in 2023/24.  These were led by CfGS and based 
on good practice.  Both committees developed a lens and 

framework in liaison with the statutory scrutiny officer, which 
clearly identifies their role and mechanisms for engaging with 
the wider organisation on policy development and decisions.  

This will assist with communicating and championing the role of 
scrutiny to stakeholders.  This approach to be used by all 
committees in future work programming.   

 
All committees would benefit from regularly assessing the value 
that has been added by their work, to inform future work 

planning. 

41b Statutory scrutiny officer to ensure that scrutiny priorities are 
promoted to Executive members and the wider officer corps via 
Corporate Management Board and information sharing with 

Cabinet members. 
All annual work programmes have been developed and are 
shared with each O&S committee agenda.   

Mechanisms are in place for promoting scrutiny priorities within 
the organisation: 
CMB has agreed to receive all O&S work programmes on a 

quarterly basis.  
The Leader and Chief Executive of the council have agreed to 
hold quarterly meetings with all O&S chairs to promote effective 

information sharing between O&S and executive to provide a 
mechanism for overcoming any barriers to effective working 
between the two. 

Complete, 
monitor long-
term.  

WS1 

114



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

O&S lead members are regularly encouraged to form effective 
informal relationships with cabinet members for information 

sharing purposes. 

Who to speak to     

Evidence will need to be gathered to inform the work  programming 
process. This will ensure that it looks at the right topics, in the right 
way and at the right time. Gathering evidence requires 

conversations with: 

 The public -  
 

It is likely that formal ‘consultation’ with the public on the 
scrutiny work  programme will be ineffective. Ask ing 
individual scrutiny members to have conversations with 

individuals and groups in their own local areas can work  
better. Insights gained from the public through individual 
pieces of scrutiny work  can be fed back into the work  

programming process. Listening to and participating in 
conversations in places where local people come together, 
including in online forums, can help authorities engage 

people on their own terms and yield more positive results 
 
Authorities should consider how their communications 

officers can help scrutiny engage with the public, and how 
wider internal expertise and local knowledge from both 
members and officers might make a contribution. 

 

 The authority’s partners –  
 
relationships with other partners should not be limited to 

evidence-gathering to support individual reviews or 
agenda items. A range of partners are likely to have 
insights that will prove useful:  

42a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
Sources of input to annual work programming, to include 

community insight to their scrutiny work, partner information 
and Cabinet forthcoming priorities 
 

 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

42b See 3C above – use of community insight in O&S work 
 
 

See relevant 
action 
above. 

CI1 

42c Statutory scrutiny officer to work with communications team to 

establish how scrutiny can promote its work priorities and 
gather public insight.  To include proactive work with 
communications team in Spring 2024 to gather public insight to 

inform future annual work programming in Summer 2024. 
Not started. 
 

Spring 2024 COM1 

42d See 35 above: 

 
Develop a library of O&S oversight information, provided in an 
online format for Councillors to access independently, to 

include -  
Information from external organisations, as appropriate, to 
support individual work items and annual work programming 

 

See relevant 

action 
above. 
 

 
 
 

L1 

42e Cabinet is asked to provide input to annual O&S work 
programming to indicate forthcoming areas of work where O&S 
can add value. 

Complete, 
encourage 
greater 

engagement 

C1 

115



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

o Public sector partners (like the NHS and community 
safety partners, over which scrutiny has specific legal 

powers);  
o Voluntary sector partners;  
o Contractors and commissioning partners (including 

partners in joint ventures and authority-owned companies);  
o In parished areas, town, community and parish councils;  
o Neighbouring principal councils (both in two-tier and 

unitary areas);  
o Cross-authority bodies and organisations, such as Local 
Enterprise Partnerships; and  

o Others with a stake and interest in the local area – large 
local employers, for example. 
 

 The executive –  
 
a principal partner in discussions on the work  programme 

should be the executive (and senior officers). The 
executive should not direct scrutiny’s work , but 
conversations will help scrutiny members better 

understand how their work  can be designed to align with 
the best opportunities to influence the authority’s wider 
work. 

 

All Portfolio Holders were asked to contribute O&S annual work 
planning by providing information on forthcoming priorities to 

enable O&S to plan work that can align and add value.  
Responses to this request varied and would benefit from 
becoming a more widely promoted and embedded practice in 

the next round of annual work programming.   
 

in next round 
of annual 

work-
programmin
g. 

42f See 7b above: 
 

The Cabinet Forward Plan is regularly updated with sufficient 
notice of forthcoming priorities to enable O&S to engage 
effectively at an early stage in policy shaping 

See relevant 
action 

above. 

C1 

42g See 7d above: 

 
Role descriptions to be developed for Councillors in leading 
O&S roles to clarify expectation that scrutiny chairs   

establish informal working arrangements with relevant Portfolio 
Holders to ensure scrutiny can be informed of Cabinet priorities 
in a timely way. 

 
 

See relevant 

action 
above. 

RD1 

Information sources     

Scrutiny will need access to relevant information to inform its work  
programme. The type of information will depend on the specific 
role and function scrutiny plays within the authority, but might 

include:  
• Performance information from across the authority and its 
partners;  

• Finance and risk  information from across the authority and its 
partners;  

43a See 30a above: 
Develop a library of O&S oversight information, provided in an 
online format for Councillors to access independently, to 

include -  
Performance, Management, Finance, Risk, Complaints, 
Business Cases and Ombudsman information. 

This will assist in ‘horizon scanning’ to enhance the 
effectiveness of O&S work planning. 

See relevant 
action 
above. 

L1 

116



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

• Corporate complaints information, and aggregated information 
from political groups about the subject matter of members’ 

surgeries;  
• Business cases and options appraisals (and other planning 
information) for forthcoming major decisions. This information will 

be of particular use for pre -decision scrutiny; and  
• Reports and recommendations issued by relevant ombudsmen, 
especially the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

 
As committees can meet in closed session, commercial 
confidentiality should not preclude the sharing of information. 

Authorities should note, however, that the default for meetings 
should be that they are held in public 

 

43b Presumption is made that library of information for O&S 
Councillors is public, with non- public information shared in 

appropriate alternative environment to ensure Councillors can 
remain informed. 
The presumption for information shared with O&S to be public 

is already an embedded practice, with appropriate 
consideration given on an arising basis to O&S requests for 
non-public information. 

 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term. 

L1 

Scrutiny members should consider keeping this information under 
regular review. It is likely to be easier to do this outside committee, 

rather than bringing such information to committee ’to note’, or to 
provide an update, as a matter of course. 

44 Support committees to work in more diverse ways to maintain 
oversight of key information, including circulating information 

outside of meetings and the use of rapporteurs or champions 
for particular topics.  This will free up committee resource for 
value added scrutiny. 

O&S Committees have received targeted training and support 
throughout the year to assist in this aim.  O&S Board have 
made use of the member-led rapporteur model in work on Blue 

Badge waiting times.  Other committees have agreed 
information which can be circulated outside of meetings to free 
up committee time and/or have held informal briefings for 

information only items. This approach could be significantly 
strengthened further across all committees. 
 

Analysis of 23/24 work outputs across all committees show an 
overbalance of monitoring/update reports, with this taking up 
the majority of work for 4 out of 5 committees operating in this 

period. This is taking up time that could be used for other value-
added scrutiny. 
 

In annual 
work 

programmin
g for O&S 
Committees 

– Autumn 
2023 

WM1 117



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Greater use could be made of other methods, such as 
rapporteurs, to maintain overview of information otherwise 

reported into committee.  This approach will continue to be 
encouraged across all committees. 
 

Being more greatly aligned to a performance and oversight 
role, Children’s Services and HASC O&S Committees would 
particularly benefit from an ongoing rigorous approach to 

committee agenda planning, to ensure that all information 
sharing items are received in other ways. Officers will continue 
to support this approach. 

 

Shortlisting topics     

Approaches to shortlisting topics should reflect scrutiny’s overall 
role in the authority. This will require the development of bespoke, 
local solutions, however when considering whether an item should 

be included in the work  programme, the k ind of questions a 
scrutiny committee should consider might include:  
• Do we understand the benefits scrutiny would bring to this issue?  

• How could we best carry out work  on this subject?  
• What would be the best outcome of this work?  
• How would this work  engage with the activity of the executive and 

other decision-makers, including partners? 

45a Extend the use of the ‘scrutiny request form’ already in place 
for commissioned items, to encourage consideration of the 
value to be added by all reports, such as scrutiny’s 

consideration of Cabinet pre-decision items and officer 
proposed items. 
 

– In annual work programming for O&S Committees and 
ongoing, during work programming discussions at each 
meeting. 

The use of the ‘scrutiny request form’ is embedded for 
councillor requests.  It is not currently used for requests to 
consider other items such as Cabinet items or officer proposed 

items.  O&S Chairs have confirmed that they do not feel a 
documented process for officer or cabinet requests is 
necessary. 

Careful consideration of the likely benefits of all intended work 
prior to commencement, regardless of origin, will continue to be 
encouraged by officers that support O&S. 

 

Complete, 
monitor long-
term. 

WS1 118



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

Some authorities use scoring systems to evaluate and rank work  
programme proposals. If these are used to provoke discussion and 

debate, based on evidence, about what priorities should be, they 
can be a useful tool. Others take a looser approach. Whichever 
method is adopted, a committee should be able to justify how and 

why a decision has been taken to include certain issues and not 
others. 
 

Scrutiny members should accept that shortlisting can be difficult; 
scrutiny committees have finite resources and deciding how these 
are best allocated is tough. They should understand that, if work  

programming is robust and effective, there might well be issues 
that they want to look at that nonetheless are not selected. 
 

45b Review ‘scrutiny request form’ and update as appropriate to 
incorporate all suggested areas referenced in O&S guidance. 

Not started.  To be progressed as resources allow. 
 

 
Autumn 

2023 

P1 

45c See 18c above: 
 
As required by the constitution, all requests for O&S work are 

considered by Committees against the current resource levels 
available to support the request 

See relevant 
action 
above. 

R1 

Carrying out work 

 

    

Selected topics can be scrutinised in several ways, including: 
 
a) As a single item on a committee agenda – this often presents a 

limited opportunity for effective scrutiny, but may be appropriate for 
some issues or where the committee wants to maintain a formal 
watching brief over a given issue; 

 
b) At a single meeting – which could be a committee meeting or 
something less formal.  This can provide an opportunity to have a 

single public meeting about a given subject, or to have a meeting 
at which evidence is taken from a number of witnesses; 
 

c) At a task and finish review of two or three meetings – short, 
sharp scrutiny review are likely to be most effective even for 
complex topics. Properly focused, they ensure members can 

swiftly reach conclusions and make recommendations, perhaps 
over the course of a couple of months or less; 
 

46a Methods of carrying out O&S work are set out within the 
Constitution at Article 6, Rule 6.9. 
 

Complete CR1 

46b Support committees to actively consider diverse ways of 

working other than committee reports to secure most effective 
outputs.   
O&S ways of working were considered through O&S work 

planning activity for all committees.  Officers also encourage 
consideration of diverse ways of working on an ongoing basis 
as work programmes are revised.  

 

Complete, 

monitor long-
term 

WM1 

46c Review and develop task and finish/ working group scoping 
document, protocol and joint working group protocol 
Not started.  To be progressed as resources allow. 

 

Summer 
2024 

P1 

119



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

d) Via a longer-term task and finish review – the ‘traditional’ task  
and finish model – with perhaps six or seven meetings spread over 

a number of months – is still appropriate when scrutiny needs to 
dig into a complex topic in significant detail. However, the resource 
implications of such work , and its length, can make it unattractive 

for all but the most complex matters; and 
 
e) By establishing a ‘standing panel’ – this falls short of 

establishing a whole new committee but may reflect a necessity to 
keep a watching brief over a critical local issue, especially where 
members feel they need to convene regularly to carry out that 

oversight. Again, the resource implications of this approach means 
that it will be rarely used. 
 

Evidence sessions 

 

    

Evidence sessions are a key way in which scrutiny committees 
inform their work . They might happen at formal committee, in less 
formal ‘task  and finish’ groups or at standalone sessions.  

 
Good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective evidence 
sessions. Members should have a clear idea of what the 

committee hopes to get out of each session and appreciate that 
success will depend on their ability to work  together on the day. 

47 Consider the appropriateness of conducting evidence sessions 
to scrutinise particular topics when planning annual work 
programmes.  These will need proactive planning to ensure that 

sufficient resource can be made available to support effective 
sessions. 
Some committees invited evidence into scrutiny from additional 

sources during 23/24 but evidence sessions were not widely 
used.  Initial plans are in place for a joint O&S housing related 
inquiry day to take evidence from a variety of sources, during 

24/25. 
 
Planning and conducting evidence sessions is resource 

intensive and support is limited to support this owing to the high 
volume of committee meetings planned for O&S and 
associated core work.  The approach will therefore continue to 

be promoted as an effective form of scrutiny to be taken up as 
resources allow. 
 

Action will 
progress as 
resources 

allow. 

WM1 

120



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

How to plan     

Effective planning does not necessarily involve a large number of 
pre-meetings, the development of complex scopes or the drafting 

of questioning plans. It is more often about setting overall 
objectives and then considering what type of questions (and the 
way in which they are asked) can best elicit the information the 

committee is seek ing. This applies as much to individual agenda 
items as it does for longer evidence sessions – there should 
always be consideration in advance of what scrutiny is trying to get 

out of a particular evidence session. 
 

48 New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  

Evidence led approach to O&S, and how to conduct an 
effective evidence session 

Complete.  
Monitor the 

need for 
refresher 
training. 

MT1 

Chairs play a vital role in leading discussions on objective-setting 
and ensuring all members are aware of the specific role each will 

play during the evidence session. 
 
As far as possible there should be consensus among scrutiny 

members about the objective of an evidence session before it 
starts. It is important to recognise that members have different 
perspectives on certain issues, and so might not share the 

objectives for a session that are ultimately adopted. Where this 
happens, the Chair will need to be aware of this divergence of 
views and bear it in mind when planning the evidence session. 

 

49 O&S Chairing skills training to be delivered to include how to 
plan for and lead evidence sessions, establish aims and 

manage different objectives from committee members  
Chairing skills training provided in Summer 2023 induction. 
O&S leadership training provided via LGA workshops in Feb 

2024.  LGA leadership training to be offered to all new O&S 
chairs, as and when changes in positions occur. 
 

Complete, 
monitor long-

term. 
 
 

MT2 

Effective planning should mean that at the end of a session it is 
relatively straightforward for the chair to draw together themes and 
highlight the key findings. It is unlikely that the committee will be 

able to develop and agree recommendations immediately, but, 
unless the session is part of a wider inquiry, enough evidence 
should have been gathered to allow the chair to set a clear 

direction. 
 

50 O&S Chairing skills training to be delivered to include how to 
draw together themes and highlight key findings at the end of 
evidence sessions – this approach to be extended to all O&S 

work items to ensure Chairs can provide transparent summary 
of discussions. 
Chairing skills training provided in Summer 2023 induction. 

O&S leadership training provided via LGA workshops in Feb 
2024.  LGA leadership training to be offered to all new O&S 
chairs, as and when changes in positions occur. 

Complete, 
monitor long-
term 

 
 

MT2 

121



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

After an evidence session, the committee might wish to hold a 
short ‘wash-up’ meeting to review whether their objectives were 

met and lessons could be learned for future sessions 
 

Developing recommendations       

The development and agreement of recommendations is often an 
iterative process. It will usually be appropriate for this to be done 

only by members, assisted by co-optees where relevant. When 
deciding on recommendations, however, members should have 
due regard to advice received from officers, particularly the 

Monitoring Officer. 
 
The drafting of reports is usually, but not always, carried out by 

officers, directed by members. 

51a Officer refresher training to be provided to include –  
Officers to provide timely, transparent advice to committees in 

all areas of O&S work, as appropriate. 
Planned for Summer / Autumn 2024. 
 

Winter 
2023 

OT1 

51b For longer pieces of O&S work, a lead officer to be identified at 

the scoping stage who will support report drafting  - include this 
within relevant protocols listed at 46c above. 
This is included as standard within scoping documents for O&S 

working groups.   
Wider piece of work to review protocols (46c) not yet started.  
To be progressed as resources allow. 

 

Immediate, 

as arising 
(WS1/R1) 
 

Protocol 
review 
Summer 

2024 (P1) 

WS1/R1/

P1 

Authorities draft reports and recommendations in a number of 
ways, but there are normally three stages:  
 

i. the development of a ‘heads of report’ – a document setting out 
general findings that members can then discuss as they consider 
the overall structure and focus of the report and its 

recommendations;  
ii. The development of those findings, which will set out some 
areas on which recommendations might be made; and  

iii. the drafting of the full report. 
 
Recommendations should be evidence-based and SMART, i.e. 

specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and timed. Where 
appropriate, committees may wish to consider sharing them in 
draft with interested parties. 

52 New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 
–  
Consideration of appropriate recommendations and reporting 

route for O&S work, to include consideration of what SMART 
recommendations may look like.  Consideration of this to take 
place at the scoping stage of O&S work, to ensure scope is 

clear enough and to provide an indication of the value that is 
likely to be added by the work undertaken. 

Complete.  
Monitor the 
need for 

refresher 
training. 

MT1 

122



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

 
Committees should bear in mind that often six to eight 

recommendations are sufficient to enable the authority to focus its 
response, although there may be specific circumstances in which 
more might be appropriate. 

Sharing draft recommendations with executive members should 

not provide an opportunity for them to revise or block 
recommendations before they are made. It should, however, 
provide an opportunity for errors to be identified and corrected, and 

for a more general sense-check  

53 New Councillor and refresher training to be provided to include 

–  
The role of executive member consultation during draft 
reporting stages. 

 
 

Complete.  

Monitor the 
need for 
refresher 

training. 

MT1 

 
Chief Executive’s Assurance Review, June 2023 – recommendations and comments relating to O&S 

In a No Overall Control council it is useful to ensure there is an 
opportunity to elect a Chair from outside of the administration to 
each Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to ensure appropriate 

scrutiny and holding the Executive to account.  
 
Opposition councillors have recently been given a majority of 

positions on the principal Overview and Scrutiny committees as a 
result of changes in the political balance calculations.  Opposition 
councillors appear to be content to keep Conservative councillors 

as Chairs for the Committees where they are already in place, for 

the remainder of this Council term. 

54a Since May 2023 all O&S Committees have appointed a Chair, 
and in most cases, a Vice-Chair from outside of the 
Administration.  

 

Complete – 

monitor long 
term.  

CL1 

54b Action relating to potential constitutional changes to clarify the 
good practice of opposition chairs outlined at 8c above. 

 

See relevant 
action 

above. 

CR1 

Overview and scrutiny committees are to be encouraged to take 
evidence and contributions from officers as well as portfolio 
holders, to ensure a more informed basis to O&S 

recommendations. 
 
There is still a marked reluctance amongst the broader overview 

and scrutiny committees to ask questions directly of officers and 

55 Multiple actions relating to O&S powers to question, skills 

training, and planning of evidence sessions are outlined above. 
These will all assist with encouraging evidence and 
contributions from officers as well as portfolio holders, to 

increase the effectiveness of scrutiny sessions.  See 9a, 9b, 9c, 
27b and 48 above.   
 

 

See relevant 

actions 
above 

See 

relevant 
actions 
above 

123



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

there are regular comments that leading councillors do not give 
clear answers to questions, but other councillors do not seek that 

clarity from officers, which they could. 
 
Since June there has been a noticeable shift in emphasis within 

the Council, with officers being invited to contribute on specific 
issues in Cabinet and this need needs to be extended to O&S 
committees  

 
Continue to encourage full participation and clarity of answers in all 

meetings, and incorporate into training for Overview and Scrutiny 

committee members. 

Overview and scrutiny committees should continue to increase 
their focus on policy development and engagement rather than 
pre-Cabinet scrutiny.  

 

 

56a Update text lifted from Assurance Review Action Plan: 

 
Prior to the May 2023 elections there was little movement in the 
focus of the two new Overview and Scrutiny committees (Place 

and Corporate & Community) that replaced O&S Board, with an 
ongoing focus on pre-Cabinet scrutiny. At the end of 23/24 this 
had changed to a maximum level of 53% of items being within 

the pre-decision scrutiny category for O&S Board, with all other 
committees at a lower level. 
 

Since the elections the administration sought to restructure 
Overview and Scrutiny, to establish a closer link to the Cabinet 
cycle for one O&S Committee but keeping the other 3 

committees removed from the Cabinet cycle. This was 
implemented in September 2023. 
 

The policy development role for O&S was incorporated into 
training for Overview and Scrutiny committee members, to 
foster a wider role for Overview and Scrutiny committees, 

underpinned by officer encouragement. O&S forward plans now 
show a more balanced mix of work, an example of this is a 

Complete, 

monitor long-
term. 

WS1 

 

124



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

recent O&S investigation into blue badge waiting times with a 
view to establishing necessary policy changes.  

 
Officers should encourage, raise awareness and provide 
training on an ongoing basis to ensure that the O&S function 

focuses on a balance of work including policy development.  
CMB has agreed to regularly receive O&S work plans to 
provide opportunity to encourage policy development, and the 

Scrutiny Officer encourages regular communication with O&S 
chairs to assist in identifying these opportunities.  
 

The changes to the O&S structure introduced ability for the 
Environment and Place O&S Committee to appoint two 
independent members establishing an opportunity to scrutinise 

from a fresh perspective. 
 
To give a wider set of input the O&S Board has also taken 

evidence from other organisations, including two 
representatives of the private development industry when 
considering the draft Local Plan. 

 
Three workshops were held with CfGS support to develop work 
programming approaches to include more proactive scrutiny 

work.  The E&P O&S Committee and O&S Board have 
developed a framework for how they will approach and include 
a balance of pre-decision, proactive and reactive scrutiny into 

their work plans. 
. 

56b Ongoing support to promote a balance of O&S work is 
identified through multiple actions above.   

 
Encouraging an effective balance of scrutiny work involves 
many factors including effective engagement with Cabinet and 

senior officers to ensure O&S understanding of forthcoming 

See relevant 
actions 

above 

See 
relevant 

actions 
above 

125



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

priorities; training; work planning actions and monitoring and 
reporting on scrutiny outputs to ensure Council ownership of 

the balance of O&S work. 
 
These actions will embed a practice of selecting topics which 

generate meaningful outcomes and balance policy engagement 
with pre-Cabinet scrutiny.   
 

See actions 1c, 4b,7b,7c,7d, 14a, 38c, 38d, 41, 42e, 43a, 45a 
above. 

Overview and scrutiny committees should consider putting more 
focus into corporate performance reporting, challenging the 
executive to ensure that improvement plans are having an effect 

and improving the services that are missing their targets.  

There is an opportunity to strengthen the focus of O&S on 
performance management, through the overview and scrutiny 

committees. 
 
Incorporate into training for Overview and Scrutiny committee 

members and monitor agendas, encouraging Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees to focus on performance management 

information. 

57 See 30a and 30b above relating to the provision of 
performance management information and associated training.  

 
 
 

 

See relevant 
actions 

above 

See 
relevant 

actions 
above 

Need to ensure the party whip is not applied to O&S functions.  
This message needs to be reinforced and the situation monitored. 

 
There has been no recent evidence of the party whip being applied 
to O&S functions, but this needs to be monitored. A positive 

statement will be sought from Group Leaders. 

58 Actions relating to training, chairing and monitoring the 
independence of O&S are set out above.  See 8b, 8d,8e, 16a 
and 16c and 26 above. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

See relevant 
actions 
above 

See 
relevant 
actions 

above 

126



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

 
DLUHC External Assurance Review of BCP Council, August 2023 – recommendations and comments relating to O&S 

 

The Council reviews the Transformation programme and agrees a 
realistic and deliverable programme by October 2023. The Council 
sets up effective mechanisms for Member oversight and 

monitoring of the delivery of the programme by June 2023 
 

59 O&S to consider and establish its role in this member oversight 
and monitoring. 
A mechanism for O&S oversight has been established.  The 

O&S Board Chair and Vice Chair are members of the cross-
party councillor working group now established to monitor the 
Transformation Programme.  This provides a mechanism for 

O&S to maintain oversight of assurances or concerns relating 
to the programme with red flags able to be raised to committee 
by exception. When available, Cabinet reports monitoring the 

Transformation Programme are also received by the O&S 
Board.    

Complete, 
monitor long-
term.  

WS1 

The Council establishes a sound budget setting process and 
begins preparations for the 2024/25 budget as soon as possible 

after the local government elections and has proposals drafted for 
a sustainable MTFP and three-year budget by the end of 
September 2023 

60 O&S to consider and establish its role in the budget setting 
process 

The O&S Board monitors any areas of risk and concern within 
the MTFP through regular reporting at committee. The 2024/25 
budget was considered by the O&S Board in January 2024 with 

invitation to other O&S Chairs to contribute on budget matters 
relating to services within their committee remit. 
 

Early plans are in place for a more active role for O&S in the 
budget setting process for 2025/26, with input through the year 
as the budget develops.  This is in line with refreshed guidance 

on good practice from the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny.  
This has been discussed with O&S Chairs, relevant portfolio 
holders and senior officers and there is good support to this 

approach.  This will be advanced throughout 2024/25, as 
permitted by resources available. 
 

In annual 
work 

programmin
g for O&S 
Committees 

– Autumn 
2023 

WS1 

127



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

The Council, with the active leadership of the respective group 
leaders, uses the opportunity of a new Council to reset the 

Member / Member and Member / officer culture and relationships. 
The new Council must use the support offered by the LGA and set 
up a comprehensive programme of Member induction and an on-

going programme of Member training. The induction programme 
should be in place by June 2023 and the ongoing programme by 
July 2023 

 
 

61a New Councillor and refresher training to be provided. 
Complete.  See all actions coded MT1 above.  

 
 

See relevant 
actions 

above. 

MT1 

61b See 21b above - A programme of ongoing scrutiny skills 
training to be developed for delivery to O&S Councillors 

throughout municipal year 2023/24. 
 

See relevant 
action 

above. 

MT3 

61c See 23b above – O&S Chairing and leadership skills support to 
be provided. 

 
 

See relevant 
action 

above. 

MT2 

61d LGA training opportunities to be taken up. 
The LGA has been widely engaged to provide support to O&S 

since May 2023.  This includes Leadership Academy training, 
in-house delivery of support for O&S work programming and 
promotion of LGA online training courses to councillors.  

Complete.  
Continue to 

take up 
opportunities 
on an 

ongoing 
basis. 

 
WS1 

The Council puts in place a regular annual cycle for the business 
plans, mid-year reviews and year end reviews of all its companies 

to be reported to the appropriate scrutiny and decision-making 
bodies. This should be in place by June 2023 to begin the 2024/25 
process  

62 O&S to consider and establish its role in this review process. 
This has not yet been established.  To be revisited with O&S 

Board Chair.  

In annual 
work 

programmin
g for O&S 
Committees 

– Autumn 
2023 

WS1 

The Council has four scrutiny committees – Corporate and 
Community; Children’s Services; Health and Adult Social Care, 

and Place. Scrutiny has focused rather heavily on pre scrutiny of 
Cabinet decisions rather than having a broader focus or look ing at 
policy development. I was told by a range of people that politics 

has got in the way of effective scrutiny. When scrutiny has looked 
at wider issues the feedback  has been more positive – I was told of 

63 See 56a and 56b above. 
 

See relevant 
actions 

above 

See 
relevant 

actions 
above 

128



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

a good example of scrutiny inviting the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and neighbourhood watch representatives to a 

scrutiny committee. The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 
summarise scrutiny’s role as providing a space to bring critical 
friend challenge and support to decision making; providing a way 

of challenging and supporting partner organisations; bringing 
issues that matter to local people and the local community into 
decision making; and surface issues that the Council should be 

engaging with but which are not yet part of formal decision making. 
 
From what I have seen there is an opportunity at BCP – as there is 

with many other councils – to develop the scrutiny role along the 
lines above rather than simply to focus on pre-cabinet scrutiny. 
There is an opportunity with a new Council to ensure that 

Councillors have training and support to enable them to develop 
their role in overview and scrutiny. This should be built into the 
Member induction and ongoing training programme. 

 

The DfE Advisor has commented that the Scrutiny Committee 
[Children’s Services O&S] and particularly its Chair (prior to the 
elections) have been engaged in a proper and appropriate way. 

The Chair of scrutiny prior to the elections has now been appointed 
as the Cabinet Member and therefore the Statutory Lead Member 
for Children’s Services. Given the position of children’s services 

the change in both the Cabinet Member and Scrutiny Chair roles 
will need careful management and both Members will need 
focussed support to discharge these key roles. 

64a Work programming support provided summer 2023.  Further 
support to be provided to complete annual work programming. 
All Children’s Services O&S work planning now complete. 

 

Complete in 
23/24.  To 
be repeated 

annually on  
ongoing 
basis. 

 

CS1 

64b Focussed support provided by service area lead to identify and 
provide relevant performance information to support the 
committee in its role.  

Service area lead for performance and governance has 
provided support to Children’s O&S Chair and committee.  This 
is well established and provided on an ongoing basis.  

 
Offer of regular meetings between Director of Children’s 
Services to the Chair of Children’s O&S Committee was made. 

Offer of 
support 
completed in 

23/24 – will 
continue to 
be offered 

with take-up 
monitored  
on an 

CS1 

129



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

Relevant Extract from: 
 
Statutory Guidance on O&S (ID 1-53)  

Chief Executive’s Assurance Review (ID 54-58) 
DLUHC Assurance Review  (ID 59 – 64) 

ID Action for BCP Council with updates  
 
(Latest updates December 2023 in blue text) 

RAG and 
timescales 

Code 

  ongoing 
basis.  

64c Ongoing training plan for the Committee in development. 

The committee held a training and development session to 
support work programme priorities and officers have supported 
ongoing information based training needs as arising.   

Offer of LGA training and support to full committee has been 
refreshed in summer 2024 and will be promoted to the 
committee by officers.   

 
A programme of briefing slots will be planned in for 2024/25 to 
be used as required.  Along with other scrutiny network training 

opportunities, this should be drawn together in a documented 
package of development to ensure all necessary areas are 
covered.  

Autumn 

2023 

CS1 

64d Establish links with O&S Chairs in other authorities that have 

experience of similar improvement journey. 
Links established and provided to the Chair summer 2023.  

Complete, 

monitor take-
up of 
opportunities 

ongoing. 
 

CS1 

64e LGA development opportunities promoted to Chair. 
LGA hosted Children’s Services Leadership training provided to 

Chair in Autumn 2023.  This is in addition to the Chairing and 
leadership skills training identified at 61c and 61d above.  
Attendance at the National Children and Adult Services 

Conference was also supported in Autumn 2023 to provide 
learning and networking opportunities to chair.  
 

Offer of LGA training and support to full committee, including 
mentoring support for chair, has been refreshed in summer 
2024 and will be promoted to the committee by officers.   

 

Complete.  
Development 

opportunities 
will continue 

to be 
promoted 
and take-up 

monitored on 
ongoing 
basis.   

CS1 

130



Overview and Scrutiny Action Plan 2023-24 

 

 

131



T
his page is intentionally left blank

132



ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE  
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

Report subject  Work Plan 

Meeting date  11 September 2024 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) Committee is asked to consider 
and identify work priorities for publication in a Work Plan. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee review, update and 
confirm its Work Plan. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The Council’s Constitution requires all Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees to set out proposed work in a Work Plan which will be 
published with each agenda 

  

133

Agenda Item 10



Portfolio Holder(s):  N/A – O&S is a non-executive function 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Report Authors Lindsay Marshall, Overview and Scrutiny Specialist 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Ti t l e:   

Background –  

1. All Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) bodies are required by the Constitution to 
consider work priorities and set these out in a Work Plan. When approved, this 
should be published with each agenda.  

2. It is good practice for the Work Plan to be kept under regular review by the 
Committee.  Between meetings O&S Chairs and Vice Chairs, in consultation with 
officers, suggest updates to the Work Plan to ensure proposed topics remain 
timely, fit for purpose and allow sufficient time for report preparation as 
appropriate.  The Committee is now asked to review, update and/ or confirm the 
latest Work Plan update.  See the Work Plan attached at Appendix B to this 
report. 

3. The current Work Plan is based on annual work programming activity undertaken 
by the Committee in Winter 2023.  Through this work, which was supported by the 
Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS), the Committee agreed a framework 
which outlines how scrutiny work will be selected and approached.  This is based 
on good practice.  The framework outlines that scrutiny work will be divided into 
three categories of: 

 Proactive scrutiny 

 Reactive scrutiny 

 Pre-decision scrutiny. 

Information only items should be received in other ways, reserving committee and 
working group capacity for value-added scrutiny.  The Committee’s current Work 
Plan is structured to reflect this. 

4. O&S statutory guidance recommends that a ‘lens’ or key set of priorities be 
established by O&S committees, to clearly communicate their role and how they 
will add value to the work of the organisation.  The statements also clarify the role 
of the committee to the public. Through annual work programming activity, the 
Committee agreed the following lens and supporting statement: 

The Environment & Place O&S Committee will approach work through a lens of 

SUSTAINABILITY, with a specific focus on the following priorities, drawn from the Corporate Strategy: 

 
 Climate change is tackled through sustainable policies and practice 

 Our green spaces flourish and support the wellbeing of being people and nature  

 Our communities have pride in our streets, neighbourhoods and public spaces 

 Good quality homes are accessible, sustainable and affordable for all 

134

https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EcmuCggzwYlIgNIYfsDUxBsBJ0wbV8rNBjtjSDOkQAuI8Q?e=BWqe3Y


5. Established lenses provide a tool to assist O&S members in work programming, 
to sift suggestions for work into a realistic annual plan for each committee and to 
provide an angle by which to approach scrutiny topics.  The lens should be 
referred to throughout the year as arising suggestions for work are made. The 
establishment of a lens does not preclude the Committee from using the full 
extent of its scrutiny powers where appropriate. 

Principles of Good Scrutiny 

6. The Constitution requires that the Work Plan of O&S committees shall consist of 
work aligned to the principles of the function. The BCP Council O&S function is 
based upon six principles:  

 Contributes to sound decision making in a timely way by holding decision 
makers to account as a ‘critical friend’;  

 A member led and owned function – seeks to continuously improve through 
self-reflection and development; 

 Enables the voice and concerns of the public to be heard and reflected in the 
Council’s decision-making process; 

 Engages in decision making and policy development at an appropriate time 
to be able to have influence; 

 Contributes to and reflects the vision and priorities of the Council; 

 Agility – able to respond to changing and emerging priorities at the right time 
with flexible working methods. 

Process for agreeing Work Plan items 

7. An O&S committee may take suggestions from a variety of sources to form its 
Work Plan. This may include suggestions from members of the public, officers of 
the Council, Portfolio Holders, the Cabinet and Council, members of the O&S 
Committee, and other Councillors who are not on the Committee. 

8. The Constitution requires that all suggestions for O&S work will be accompanied 
by detail outlining the background to the issue suggested, the proposed method of 
undertaking the work and likely timescale associated, and the anticipated 
outcome and value to be added by the work proposed. No item of work shall join 
the Work Plan of the O&S Committee without an assessment of this information. 

9. Any councillor may request that an item of business be considered by an O&S 
Committee.  Councillors are asked to complete a form outlining the request, which 
is appended to this report at Appendix C. The same process will apply to requests 
for scrutiny from members of the public. We have received a request from a 
Councillor to be considered by the Committee which is attached at Appendix F. 

10. A copy of the most recent Cabinet Forward Plan will be supplied to O&S 
Committees at each meeting for reference when determining items of pre-
decision scrutiny.  The latest version is supplied as Appendix D to this report.   

Resources to support O&S work 

11. The Constitution requires that the O&S Committees take into account the 
resources available to support their proposals for O&S work.  This includes 
consideration of councillor availability, officer time and financial resources.  
Careful and regular assessment of resources will ensure that there is appropriate 
resource available to support work across the whole O&S function, and that any 
work established can be carried out in sufficient depth and completed in a timely 
way to enable effective outcomes.   

135



12. It is good practice for O&S Committees to agree a maximum of two/ three 
substantive agenda items per meeting.  This will provide sufficient time for 
Committees to take a ‘deep dive’ approach to scrutiny work, which is likely to 
provide more valuable outcomes.  A large amount of agenda items can lead to a 
‘light touch’ approach to all items of business, and also limit the officer and 
councillor resource available to plan for effective scrutiny of selected items. 

13. O&S Committees are advised to carefully select their working methods to ensure 
that O&S resource is maximised.  A variety of methods are available for O&S 
Committees to undertake work and are not limited to the receipt of reports at 
Committee meetings. These may include: 

 Working Groups; 

 Sub-Committees;  

 Tak and finish groups; 

 Inquiry Days; 

 Rapporteurs (scrutiny member champions); 

 Consideration of information outside of meetings – including report circulation/ 
briefing workshops/ briefing notes. 

Further detail on O&S working methods are set out in the Constitution and in 
Appendix A – Terms of Reference for O&S Committees. 

Options Appraisal 

14. The O&S Committee is asked to review, update and confirm its Work Plan, taking 
account of the supporting documents provided and including the determination of 
any new requests for scrutiny.  This will ensure member ownership of the Work 
Plan and that reports can be prepared in a timely way.  Should the Committee not 
confirm its forthcoming priorities, reports may not be able to be prepared in a 
timely way and best use of the meeting resource may not be made. 

Summary of financial implications 

15. There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  The 
Committee should note that when establishing a Work Plan, the Constitution 
requires that account be taken of the resources available to support proposals for 
O&S work.  Advice on maximising the resource available to O&S Committees is 
set out in paragraphs 11 to 13 above. 

Summary of legal implications 

16. The Council’s Constitution requires that all O&S bodies set out proposed work in 
a Work Plan which will be published with each agenda.  The recommendation 
proposed in this report will fulfil this requirement. 

Summary of human resources implications 

17. There are no human resources implications arising from this report. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

18. There are no sustainability resources implications arising from this report. 

Summary of public health implications 

19. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 

136



Summary of equality implications 

20. There are no equality implications arising from this report.  Any councillor and any 
member of the public may make suggestions for overview and scrutiny work.  
Further detail on this process is included within Part 4 of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

Summary of risk assessment 

21. There is a risk of challenge to the Council if the Constitutional requirement to 
establish and publish a Work Plan is not met. 

Background papers 

None. 

Appendices   

Appendix A – Overview and Scrutiny Committees Terms of Reference 
 

Appendix B - Current Environment & Place O&S Committee Work Plan 
 

Appendix C – Request for consideration of an issue by Overview and Scrutiny  

Appendix D – Current Cabinet Forward Plan 

 

Appendix E – O&S Framework 

 

Appendix F – Scrutiny Request for Printing and Retention 

137



This page is intentionally left blank

138



BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD / COMMITTEES TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) is a statutory role fulfilled by Councillors who are not 
members of the Cabinet in an authority operating a Leader and Cabinet model. The 
role of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees is to help develop policy, to 
carry out reviews of Council and other local services, and to hold decision makers to 
account. 

PRINCIPLES OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Overview and Scrutiny function is based 
upon six principles:  

1. Contributes to sound decision making in a timely way by holding decision makers 
to account as a ‘critical friend’.  

2. A member led and owned function – seeks to continuously improve through self-
reflection and development.  

3. Enables the voice and concerns of the public to be heard and reflected in the 
Council’s decision-making process.  

4. Engages in decision making and policy development at an appropriate time to be 
able to have influence.  

5. Contributes to and reflects the vision and priorities of the Council. 

6. Agile – able to respond to changing and emerging priorities at the right time with 
flexible working methods.  

MEETINGS 

There are four Overview and Scrutiny bodies at BCP Council: 

• Overview and Scrutiny Board 
• Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
• Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
• Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Each Committee meets 5 times during the municipal year, except for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board which meets monthly to enable the Board to make 
recommendations to Cabinet. The date and time of meetings will be set by full 
Council and may only be changed by the Chairman of the relevant Committee in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer. Members will adhere to the agreed 
principles of the Council’s Code of Conduct.  

139



Decisions shall be taken by consensus. Where it is not possible to reach consensus, 
a decision will be reached by a simple majority of those present at the meeting. 
Where there are equal votes the Chair of the meeting will have the casting vote. 

MEMBERSHIP  

The Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees are appointed by full Council. 
Each Committee has 11 members and the Board has 13 members. No member of 
the Cabinet may be a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Board, 
or any group established by them.  Lead Members of the Cabinet may not be a 
member of Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Board. The Chair and Vice-Chair 
of the Audit and Governance Committee may not be a member of any Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees or Board.  

The quorum of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Board shall be one third 
of the total membership (excluding voting and non-voting co-optees).  

No member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they been directly 
involved. If a member is unable to attend a meeting their Group may arrange for a 
substitute to attend in their place in accordance with the procedures as set out in the 
Council’s Constitution.  

Members of the public can be invited to attend and contribute to meetings as 
required, to provide insight to a matter under discussion. This may include but is not 
limited to subject experts with relevant specialist knowledge or expertise, 
representatives of stakeholder groups or service users. Members of the public will 
not have voting rights. 

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee - The Committee must 
statutorily include two church and two parent governor representatives as voting 
members (on matters related to education) in addition to Councillor members. Parent 
governor membership shall extend to a maximum period of four years and no less 
than two years. The Committee may also co-opt one representative from the 
Academy Trusts within the local authority area, to attend meetings and vote on 
matters relating to education.  

The Committee may also co-opt two representatives of The Youth Parliament and, 
although they will not be entitled to vote, will ensure that their significant contribution 
to the work of the Committee is recognised and valued. 

Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee - The Committee may 
co-opt two independent non-voting members.  The selection and recruitment process 
shall be determined by the Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.   

 

140



FUNCTIONS OF THE O&S COMMITTEES AND O&S BOARD 

Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including the Overview and Scrutiny Board) 
has responsibility for: 

• Scrutinising decisions of the Cabinet, offering advice or making 
recommendations 

• Offering any views or advice to the Cabinet or Council in relation to any matter 
referred to the Committee for consideration 

• General policy reviews, and making recommendations to the Council or the 
Cabinet to assist in the development of future policies and strategies 

• Assisting the Council in the development of the Budget and Policy Framework 
by in-depth analysis of policy issues 

• Monitoring the implementation of decisions to examine their effect and 
outcomes 

• Referring to full Council, the Cabinet or appropriate Committee/Sub-
Committee any matter which, following scrutiny a Committee determines 
should be brought to the attention of the Council, Cabinet or other appropriate 
Committee 

• Preparation, review and monitoring of a work programme  
• Establishing such commissioned work as appropriate after taking into account 

the availability of resources, the work programme and the matter under review 

In addition, the Overview and Scrutiny Board has responsibility for: 

• Considering decisions that have been called-in 
• Undertaking scrutiny of the Council’s budget processes 
• Carrying out the Council’s scrutiny functions relating to crime and disorder, 

and discharging any other statutory duty for which the O&S function is 
responsible, other than those that relate to Flood Risk Management, Health, 
Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Education 

• Overseeing the Council’s overall O&S function including oversight of the work 
plans and use of resource across all O&S bodies 

• Keeping the O&S function under review, suggesting changes as appropriate 
to ensure that it remains fit for purpose 

• Reporting annually to Full Council on the output of the O&S function 
• Maintaining oversight of the training needs of the whole O&S function. 

Figure 1 below provides an outline of the responsibilities of each Committee. 

The remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees is based on the 
division of Portfolio Holder responsibilities. Portfolio Holders may report to more than 
one Overview and Scrutiny body.  

141



Portfolio Holder responsibilities are changeable and from time to time it may be 
necessary to modify the designation of functions across the four Overview and 
Scrutiny bodies. 

  

142



Figure One –Overview and Scrutiny Structure  

143



COMMISSIONED WORK 

In addition to Committee meetings, the Overview and Scrutiny Board and 
Committees may commission work to be undertaken as they consider necessary 
after taking into account the availability of resources, the work programme and the 
matter under review.  

Each O&S body is limited to one commission at a time to ensure availability of 
resources.  

a) Working Groups – a small group of Councillors and Officers gathered to consider 
a specific issue and report back to the full Board/ Committee, or make 
recommendations to Cabinet or Council within a limited timescale. Working Groups 
usually meet once or twice, and are often non-public;  

b) Sub-Committees – a group of Councillors delegated a specific aspect of the main 
Board/ Committee’s work for ongoing, in-depth monitoring. May be time limited or be 
required as a long-standing Committee. Sub-Committees are often well suited to 
considering performance-based matters that require scrutiny oversight. Sub-
Committees usually meet in public;  

c) Task and finish groups – a small group of Councillors tasked with investigating a 
particular issue and making recommendations on this issue, with the aim of 
influencing wider Council policy. The area of investigation will be carefully scoped 
and will culminate in a final report, usually with recommendations to Cabinet or 
Council. Task and finish groups may work over the course of a number of months 
and take account of a wide variety of evidence, which can be resource intensive. For 
this reason, the number of these groups must be carefully prioritised by scrutiny 
members to ensure the work can progress at an appropriate pace for the final 
outcome to have influence;  

d) Inquiry Days – with a similar purpose to task and finish groups, inquiry days seek 
to understand and make recommendations on an issue by talking to a wide range of 
stakeholders and considering evidence relating to that issue, within one or two days. 
Inquiry days have similarities to the work of Government Select Committees. Inquiry 
days are highly resource intensive but can lead to swift, meaningful outcomes and 
recommendations that can make a difference to Council policy; and  

e) Rapporteurs or scrutiny member champions - individual Councillors or pairs of 
Councillors tasked with investigating or maintaining oversight of a particular issue 
and reporting back to the main Board/ Committee on its findings. A main Committee 
can use these reports to facilitate its work prioritisation. Rapporteurs will undertake 
informal work to understand an issue – such as discussions with Officers and 
Portfolio Holders, research and data analysis. Rapporteur work enables scrutiny 
members to collectively stay informed of a wide range of Council activity. This 
approach to the provision of information to scrutiny members also avoids valuable 

144



Committee time being taken up with briefings in favour of more outcome-based 
scrutiny taking place at Committee. 

 

These terms of reference should be read in conjunction with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules outlined in Part 4C of the Council’s Constitution. 

145



This page is intentionally left blank

146



   

 

 

 Key:               Pre-decision or reactive scrutiny item                   Proactive Scrutiny item 

BCP Council Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Work Plan.  Updated 25.07.24 

 
Guidance notes: 

 2/3 items per committee meeting is the recommended maximum for effective scrutiny. 
 The Environment and Place O&S Committee will approach work through a lens of SUSTAINABILITY 

 Items requiring further scoping are identified and should be scoped using the Key Lines of Enquiry tool. 
 

 

 
Subject and background 

How will the scrutiny 

be done? 

Lead Officer/Portfolio 

Holder 
Report Information 

Meeting Date: 11 September 2024 

1. 

Increasing Plant Based Diet 
 

To receive a report on how we can 
increase awareness of Plant Based 
diets. 

Report  This was suggested by 
the Chair and Vice – 
Chair in response to 
public questions to 
Council. 

2. 

 Directorate Budget Awareness 

To receive a presentation on the 
budget, pressures and assumed 
savings 

Presentation and 
Question and Answer 
session 

Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
Operations Officer and 
Director Marketing and 
Communications 

Presentation and 
establishment of a 
working group.  See 
working group section of 
work plan below. 

3. 

Overview and Scrutiny Annual 
Report 

The Overview and Scrutiny 
Specialist is required to report 
annually on the output of the O&S 
function. 

Information only 
Committee Report 

Scrutiny Specialist  Requirement for O&S to 
produce an annual report 
to full Council and share 
with all O&S committees.   
To be received as an 
information only report. 

Meeting Date: 20 November 2024 

147

https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EVkFsZYjvIZAjjeoXi_NaIYB6TY56HhDcohrt47lm5SinQ?e=rdyyeD


   

 

 

 Key:               Pre-decision or reactive scrutiny item                   Proactive Scrutiny item 

 
Subject and background 

How will the scrutiny 
be done? 

Lead Officer/Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Information 

1 
Housing Strategy 

To receive the Housing Strategy 
report. 

Scrutiny of Cabinet 
report prior to Cabinet 
consideration 

Director of Communities 

Portfolio Holder for Housing 
and Regulatory Services 

Follows an all member 
workshop on the housing 
strategy refresh, planned 
for September 2024. 

2 
 

Heathland mitigation projects 

Committee report tbc  Request raised by 
councillors.  This 
requires further scoping 
to identify value added 
scope.– KLOE document 

4 
 

Phosphate mitigation policy and links 
to house building 

Committee report tbc  Request raised by 
councillors.  This 
requires further scoping 
to identify value added 
scope. – KLOE 
document 

Meeting Date: 26 February 2025 

1 
Reserved for pre-decision or reactive 
scrutiny decision or reactive scrutiny 
(awaiting Cabinet FP update) 

   

2 
Climate Action Plan Annual Report Committee Report Climate Team   

3 
Planning Service Improvement  - 

scrutiny 

 

To monitor improvements to the 

planning service, 1 year on from 

Committee Report Head of Planning   

148

https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/ESyPol_VQlFDhbeNWZlNEFcBsoe1L63IEYsj-f0Np3K-SQ?e=174F4Z
https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EVkFsZYjvIZAjjeoXi_NaIYBvZHIebVeRMXDVTh3ZB9Ukg?e=nteK90
https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EYh5hows-aFPmSd1Tsz_X8kBbkRx6XIl8s6DXpGCbZRj6g?e=3ws2iS
https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EYh5hows-aFPmSd1Tsz_X8kBbkRx6XIl8s6DXpGCbZRj6g?e=3ws2iS
https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EVkFsZYjvIZAjjeoXi_NaIYBvZHIebVeRMXDVTh3ZB9Ukg?e=nteK90
https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EVkFsZYjvIZAjjeoXi_NaIYBvZHIebVeRMXDVTh3ZB9Ukg?e=nteK90


   

 

 

 Key:               Pre-decision or reactive scrutiny item                   Proactive Scrutiny item 

 
Subject and background 

How will the scrutiny 
be done? 

Lead Officer/Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Information 

previous scrutiny.  Requested by 

officers. 

Meeting Date: 14 May 2025 

1 

 

Reserved for pre-decision or reactive 
scrutiny decision or reactive scrutiny 
(awaiting Cabinet FP update) 

 
  

2 
Item to be selected from Pro-Active 
Scrutiny topic list 

 

   

3 
Item to be selected from Pro-Active 
Scrutiny topic list 

 

   

Items with Dates to be allocated 

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

Working Groups 

1 
Budget Working Group Working group to meet in 

October 2024 
TBC – dependent upon the 
areas chosen for further 
scrutiny consideration 

It is suggested that the 
committee consider 
establishing the working 

149



   

 

 

 Key:               Pre-decision or reactive scrutiny item                   Proactive Scrutiny item 

 
Subject and background 

How will the scrutiny 
be done? 

Lead Officer/Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Information 

 group at its September 
meeting TBC 

 
    

 
    

Item suggestions for Briefing Sessions 

 
Chemicals Scruitny – Information 
session requested for this at May 
2024 meeting.  

Informal Briefing  This requires further 
scoping – KLOE 
document 

 
Informal Briefing on Climate Action 
Plan Dashboard.  Suggested by the 
Portfolio Holder at May 2024 
meeting. 

 

Informal Briefing Portfolio Holder for 
Environment/ Director of 
Environment 

The purpose of the 
briefing is for the 
committee to establish 
how it will monitor 
progress against Climate 
Action Plan targets. 

 
Planning Service Improvement – 
Potential briefing to monitor this 
improvement journey. 

Informal Briefing Head of Planning Committee to consider 
holding interim briefings, 
to provide 6 monthly 
updates between formal 
committee reporting on 
this topic.  

 

 

150

https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EVkFsZYjvIZAjjeoXi_NaIYB6TY56HhDcohrt47lm5SinQ?e=rdyyeD
https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/lindsay_marshall_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/EVkFsZYjvIZAjjeoXi_NaIYB6TY56HhDcohrt47lm5SinQ?e=rdyyeD


Request for consideration of an issue by Overview and Scrutiny 

 

 

Please complete all sections as fully as possible 

1. Issue requested for scrutiny 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Desired outcome resulting from Overview and Scrutiny engagement, 

including the value to be added to the Council, the BCP area or its 

inhabitants. 

 

 

 

Guidance on the use of this form: 

This form is for use by councillors and members of the public who want to request 

that an item joins an Overview and Scrutiny agenda.  Any issue may be 

suggested, provided it affects the BCP area or the inhabitants of the area in some 

way.  Scrutiny of the issue can only be requested once in a 12 month period. 

The form may also be used for the reporting of a referral item to Overview and 

Scrutiny by another body of the council, such as Cabinet or Council. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee receiving the request will make an 

assessment of the issue using the detail provided in this form and determine 

whether to add it to its forward plan of work.   

They may take a variety of steps to progress the issue, including requesting more 

information on it from officers of the council, asking for a member of the overview 

and scrutiny committee to ‘champion’ the issue and report back, or establishing a 

small working group of councillors to look at the issue in more detail.   

 

If the Committee does not agree to progress the issue it will set out reasons for 

this and they will be provided to the person submitting this form.  

 

More information can be found at Part 4.C of the BCP Council Constitution, under 

procedure rules 2.4-2.9 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s25674/Part%204%20-

%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf 

 

 

 

151

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s25674/Part%204%20-%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s25674/Part%204%20-%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf


 

 

3. Background to the issue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Proposed method of scrutiny  - (for example, a committee report or a 

working group investigation) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Key dates and anticipated timescale for the scrutiny work 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Notes/ additional guidance  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document last reviewed – January 2022 

Contact – democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

152

mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


CABINET FORWARD PLAN – 1 SEPTEMBER 2024 TO 31 DECEMBER 
2024 

(PUBLICATION DATE – 27 August 2024) 
 

 

What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

Corporate 
Budget 
Monitoring 
2024/25 
Quarter One 

Budget Monitoring 
information for quarter 
one. 

No Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 
 

Council 

15 Oct 2024 

All Wards n/a n/a Adam Richens Open 

 

Insurance 
Renewals 

To make decisions in 
relation to key 
insurance renewal 
options 

No Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 

All Wards   Adam Richens Fully exempt 

 

153



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Pay and 
Reward final 
position 

To update members on 
the progress of Pay 
and Reward and to 
seek approval for the 
final arrangements. 

No Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 

   Liz Bowman Open 

 

Monitoring 
Progress with 
the Shared 
Vision for 
Bournemouth, 
Christchurch 
and Poole - Q1 

Setting out how 
progress will be 
monitored for the 
Shared Vision for 
Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole 
including governance 
arrangements and an 
update at Q1 

No Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 

All Wards N/A N/A Sophie Bradfield, 
Vicky Edmonds, 
Isla Reynolds 

Open 

 

Progress 
update on the 
'Best Value 
Notice' 

This report is a 
progress update a year 
on from receiving the 
‘Best Value Notice’ on 
3 August 2023. The 
recommendations were 
welcomed and have 
been implemented. 

No Overview and 
Scrutiny Board 

27 Aug 2024 
 

Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 

All Wards n/a n/a Sophie Bradfield Open 

 

154



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Financing 
Nature 

Present options for 
attracting private 
finance to fund nature 
restoration and 
biodiversity 
enhancements within 
BCP. 

No Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 

All Wards   Ruth Wharton Open 

 

Hurn 
Neighbourhood 
Plan 

To report the findings 
of a formal public 
examination by 
independent examiner 
and to consider 
whether any proposed 
modification to any 
draft Neighbourhood 
Plan should be 
accepted. 

No Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 

Commons   Caroline Peach Open 

 

Commissioning 
& Procurement 
Transformation 
Update 

To update members on 
the history of Strategic 
Procurement - Current 
position & future 
approach 

No Cabinet 

4 Sep 2024 

All Wards   Jeremy 
Richardson, Phil 
Hornsby 

Open 

 

         

155



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Medium Term 
Financial Plan 
(MTFP) Update 

To provide progress on 
delivering a legally 
balanced budget for 
2025/26 

No Cabinet 

2 Oct 2024 

All Wards   Adam Richens Open 

 

Pan Dorset 
Safeguarding 
Children 
Partnership 
2023-2024 
Annual Report 

The production of an 
annual report is a 
statutory responsibility. 
This has been 
endorsed by the four 
statutory partners 
(Dorset Council, BCP 
Council, NHS Dorset, 
Dorset Police) and is 
being shared with 
cabinet as part of those 
governance 
arrangements. 

No Cabinet 

2 Oct 2024 

All Wards   Tammy Lawrence Open 

 

156



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Christchurch 
Bay and 
Harbour 
FCERM 
Strategy 

Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole 
Council (BCP) and 
New Forest District 
Council (NFDC) are 
working together with 
the Environment 
Agency to produce a 
new strategy to protect 
coastal communities 
from tidal flooding and 
erosion risk. It will 
guide how the frontage 
from Hengistbury Head 
to Hurst Spit, 
encompassing 
Christchurch Harbour, 
will be sustainably 
managed for the next 
100 years. 

No Cabinet 

2 Oct 2024 
 

Council 

15 Oct 2024 

Christchurch 
Town; East 
Southbourn
e & Tuckton; 
Highcliffe & 
Walkford; 
Mudeford, 
Stanpit & 

West 
Highcliffe; 
Burton & 
Grange 

Landowners, 
BCP residents, 
businesses, 
organisations, 
BCP services 

Several levels 
of public 
enegagement 
and consultation 
throughout the 
development of 
the Strategy 
between 2021 
and 2023. 

Catherine Corbin, 
Alan Frampton, 
Matt Hosey 

Open 

 

Town Centre 
Improvement 
Fund 

To recommend to 
Cabinet the successful 
grant recipients 

No Cabinet 

2 Oct 2024 

Bournemout
h Central; 

Christchurch 
Town; Poole 

Town 

  Chris Shephard Open 

 

157



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

         

Investment & 
Development 
Directorate - 
Regeneration 
Programme 

To provide a bi-annual 
update on the progress 
of the Council's 
regeneration 
programme 

No Cabinet 

30 Oct 2024 

All Wards   Rob Dunford Open 

 

Housing 
Delivery 
scheme - 
Constitution 
Hill, Poole 

Additional funding for 
demolition and design 
development. 

No Cabinet 

30 Oct 2024 
 

Council 

10 Dec 2024 

Parkstone   Jonathan Thornton Open 

 

Bournemouth 
Towns fund - 
Masterplan 
(Hawkwood 
Road) 

To approve the 
commencement of the 
Community centre as 
the first part of the 
Masterplan. 

No Cabinet 
30 Oct 2024 

 
Council 

10 Dec 2024 

Boscombe 
West 

  Peter Friend, 
Jonathan Thornton 

Open 

 

158



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Aspire Adoption 
Annual Report 
2023-2024 

To present the Aspire 
Adoption Annual 
Report for 2023-2024. 

No Cabinet 

30 Oct 2024 

All Wards   Allan Charlton Open 

 

         

Council Budget 
Monitoring 
2024/25 
Quarter Two 

Budget monitoring at 
quarter two 

No Cabinet 

27 Nov 2024 
 

Council 

10 Dec 2024 

All Wards n/a n/a Adam Richens Open 

 

         

Medium Term 
Financial Plan 
(MTFP) Update 

Present progress in 
delivering a legally 
balance budget for 
2025/26 

No Cabinet 

18 Dec 2024 

All Wards   Adam Richens Open 

 

159



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

         

Budget 2025/26 
and Medium 
Term Financial 
Plan 

To set out for Cabinet's 
consideration and 
recommendation to 
Council the proposed 
2025/26 budget and 
council tax. 

No Cabinet 

5 Feb 2025 

All Wards   Adam Richens Open 

 

Council Budget 
Monitoring 
2024/25 
Quarter Three 

Budget monitoring No Cabinet 

5 Feb 2025 
 

Council 

25 Feb 2025 

All Wards n/a n/a Adam Richens Open 

 

         

Integration of 
Dorset Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
functions 

To seek approval for 
the integration of 
functions from the 
Dorset Local Enterprise 
Partnership into the 
Council 

No Cabinet 

14 Jan 2026 

All Wards   Chris Shephard Open 

 

160



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

         

DfE SEND 
review next 
steps 

To consider the DfE 
review next steps 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

   Rachel Gravett, 
Shirley McGillick, 
Sharon Muldoon 

Fully exempt 

 

Our Place and 
Environment - 
Strategic 
Transport 
Scheme 
Prioritisation 

To present the outputs 
of public engagement 
on Strategic Transport 
Schemes and to seek 
recommendation from 
Cabinet to Council 
relating to the 
progression of the 
schemes in 
consideration of the 
consultation outputs. 
Noting: this is likely to 
include some selected 
schemes being 
promoted as a priority 
at the Western 
Gateway Sub-National 
Transport Body. 

Yes Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards    Open 

 

161



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Affordable 
Fairer 
Broadband for 
all (Award 
Contract) 

In July 2022 Cabinet 
approved 'Accelerating 
Gigabit Fibre' and 
asked the team to 
return to Cabinet to 
award the contract. The 
purpose of this report is 
contract award. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards   Ruth Spencer Open 

 

Bournemouth 
Development 
Company LLP 
Business Plan 

To seek approval for 
the Bournemouth 
Development Company 
Business Plan, extend 
some contractual 
"Option Execution 
Dates" in relation to 
specific sites and 
provide an update in 
relation to the 
independent Local 
Partnerships Review. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Bournemout
h Central 

  Sarah Longthorpe Open 

 

Children's 
Services Early 
Help Offer 

Summary of findings 
and recommendations 
from an ongoing review 
of our current Early 
Help services 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards   Zafer Yilkan Open 

 

162



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Adult Social 
Care Business 
Case 

Adult Social Care services 
locally and nationally have 
faced significant challenges 
in recent years, and as a 
result the Council is holding 
significant risk in relation to 
the ability of the Council to 
deliver its statutory 
responsibilities to adults that 
require support within the 
available budget. The nature 
of these challenges means 
that long term, sustainable 
change is needed to ensure 
that BCP Council Adult 
Social Care services (ASCS) 
are modern, fit for the future 
and affordable. This 
business case sets out a 
proposal for initial 
investment in Adult Social 
Care transformation that will 
lead to improved outcomes 
for adults that draw on 
support in BCP and support 
the Council to deliver this 
within the available financial 
envelope. 

Yes Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards   Chris McKensie Open 

 

163



T
his page is intentionally left blank

164



BCP Council / Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

O&S Framework for scrutiny topic selection 

 

1. Development of this framework and its application by O&S Committees 

Workshops were held with members of O&S committees across December 2023- February 2024, supported by the Centre for Governance 

and Scrutiny (CfGS).  The aim of the workshops was to develop an approach to work programming at BCP for 2024/25 and beyond that is 

based on good practice and addresses improvements already identified for O&S as set out in Assurance Review Action Plan and the O&S 

Action Plan.  One output of this work is the framework set out below. 

 

During 2024, the O&S Board and Environment and Place O&S Committee have been following the principles set out in this framework.  The 

same good practices will be rolled out to all O&S committees in 2024 and used to support future annual work programming. 

 
2. Using a lens to select and approach scrutiny topics 

O&S statutory guidance recommends that a ‘lens’ or key set of priorities be established by O&S committees, to clearly communicate their 

role and how they will add value to the work of the organisation.  The statements also clarify the role of the committee to the public.  

 

Established lenses provide a tool to assist O&S members in work programming, to sift suggestions for work into a realistic annual work 

programme for each committee and should be referred to throughout the year as arising suggestions for work are made. 

 

O&S Board and Environment and Place O&S Committees agreed lenses in 2024.  Children’s Services and Health and Adult Social Care 

O&S Committees have not yet considered the application of lenses to their work.  Lenses are set out below.  It is suggested that these 

lenses be reviewed annually to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

165

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s45375/Appendix%201%20BCP%20Council%20Assurance%20Review%20Action%20Plan%20-%20October%202023.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s46509/Appendix%201%20for%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s46509/Appendix%201%20for%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Action%20Plan.pdf


 

 

 

The Environment & Place O&S Committee will approach work through a lens of SUSTAINABILITY, with a specific 

focus on the following priorities, drawn from the Corporate Strategy: 

 

 Climate change is tackled through sustainable policies and practice 

 Our green spaces flourish and support the wellbeing of being people and nature  

 Our communities have pride in our streets, neighbourhoods and public spaces 

 Good quality homes are accessible, sustainable and affordable for all 

The O&S Board will approach work through a lens of RESIDENT IMPACT AND EXPERIENCE, such as 

considering: 

 

 benefits that could be brought to residents by delivering services in different ways 

 how the areas of highest financial risk for the council may impact on residents  

 the council’s relationship with the public and work that can be done to strengthen this.  

 

The Health and Adult Social Care O&S Committee  will approach work through a lens of ….TBC 

 

The Children’s Services O&S Committee  will approach work through a lens of ….TBC 

166



3. Using a framework to structure O&S activity: 

A framework for supporting different types of scrutiny work is set out in the table below.  Scrutiny is split out into proactive work, 

reactive work and pre-decision scrutiny.  When developing this framework, O&S councillors gave a clear steer that they wish to 

continue to undertake all these elements of scrutiny through their work programmes. 

As with the lenses outlined at 2 above, the scrutiny framework will also be used to communicate the role and intentions of the 

committees to the wider council and the public.  It is suggested that the framework be reviewed annually to ensure it remains fit for 

purpose. 

 

Proactive Scrutiny 
 
 
What is it? 

 Early policy work - work focused on policy development and exploring options for the future.  Also described as ‘overview work’ in BCP.  

 Framed as a series of questions or ‘key lines of enquiry’, to which O&S seeks answers.  These are found through the gathering of evidence, 

with a view to informing future policy.   

 Driven by the O&S committee itself, or may be in response to a suggestion from councillors, community or decision makers. 

 Less likely to directly align to another piece of work already underway in the council, eg. a cabinet report.  

 Fulfils BCP principles of good scrutiny: 

 
‘O&S engages in decision making and policy development at an appropriate time to be able to have influence’ 
‘O&S is a member led and owned function’ 

‘O&S enables the voice and concerns of the public to be heard and reflected in the Council ’s decision-making process’ 
 

Examples 
Cllr suggestions based on their understanding of local needs, eg: 

 What more can we do to meet local people’s housing needs? 

 To what extent do we as a council as a community understand the likely challenges of climate change, and what action do we need to take?  

 
Method for undertaking scrutiny: 

 Either “in committee”, as a whole-meeting challenge session followed up by agreement of recommendations at the next meeting, or a short and 
sharp working group with a group meeting two or three times between meetings. 

 Outcomes are unlikely to be met by an officer report – proactive scrutiny relies on councillors scoping and directing the work and asking for 
specific data, information and evidence to be brought by relevant stakeholders.  

 Recommendations are made, usually to Cabinet or Portfolio Holders.  They must respond to these recommendations. 
 
 

 

167



Pros and Cons 
 Potential to add significantly more value than other work by using powers to gather evidence from stakeholders , investigate an issue in depth 

and find solutions.  These may be used to inform policy in a significant and meaningful way. 
 Potential to select and scope topics to have maximum positive impact on the communities of BCP.  

 Can generate a clearer set of recommendations that can be communicated in the council and to the public.  
 Easier for O&S to own the programme of work and not be affected by other factors (eg. movement of decisions on the Cabinet Forward Plan). 
 Resource intensive for officers and councillors.   

 May require committee to work more flexibly to find capacity for the depth of work, eg. swapping committee meetings to undertake working 
group meetings instead.  

 
 
Method for selection of proactive scrutiny topics: 

 Invite suggestions from councillors annually (through work programming workshops) 

 Invite suggestions from decision makers for O&S to contribute to developing policies/ decisions.  

 Invite suggestions from the public annually (consider how to incorporate into methodology for 2025 work programming) 

 Sift suggestions according to the priorities of lenses as set out above (‘resident impact and experience’ / ‘sustainability’ ) 

 Agree, scope and plan topics to add maximum value. 

 Plan all proactive work on an annual basis to ensure it can be undertaken by an appropriate time to add value and in within resources available.  

 
 

Pre-decision Scrutiny 
 
 
What is it?: 

 Scrutiny of a report close to the point of decision making – eg. a Cabinet report. 

 Predominantly driven by the Cabinet Forward Plan. 

 Sits between ‘proactive’ and ‘reactive’ scrutiny. Some councils undertake a minimal level of pre-decision scrutiny in favour of greater levels of 
deep dive investigations.  BCP councillors have said that pre-decision scrutiny is an important part of the scrutiny process which they are keen 

to see stay in place.  

 Fulfils BCP principle of good scrutiny: 
 

 ‘O&S contributes to sound decision making in a timely way by holding decision makers to account as a ‘critical friend’. 
 

Examples 
Scrutiny of Cabinet reports on: 

 BCP Local Plan 

 BCP 2024/25 budget scrutiny & MTFP update reports 

 Various policies prior to Cabinet/ Council decision 

 
Method for undertaking scrutiny: 

168



 In committee, consideration of a report already written for Cabinet.  Report considered approximately 10 working days prior to the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 Any recommendations or comments made on the report are formally passed to the next Cabinet meeting. 

 The O&S Chairman will attend the Cabinet meeting to report recommendations and/or  give a summary of comments made at O&S. 

 Cabinet must consider any formal recommendations made and respond. 

 
Pros and Cons 

 Publicly demonstrates that decision makers are held to account. 
 Less resource intensive – reports already written for Cabinet. 
 Reactive – hard to plan agendas and relies on a well populated Cabinet Forward Plan to timetable work.  

 Limited impact vs time spent.  O&S is unlikely to be able to have much influence on fully developed policy  and decisions. 
 Potential to establish a ‘shadow cabinet’ and for meetings to become political, which must be managed effectively by O&S Chairs.  
 Potential for Cabinet scrutiny to overwhelm agendas - can lead to additional/ long meetings which can limit effectiveness of scrutiny. 

 Potential to duplicate other scrutiny opportunities – eg. full council debate. 

 
Method for selection of pre-decision scrutiny topics: 
 

 Establish a programme of informal, Teams based briefing sessions at a frequency which can be accommodated by O&S members and support 
officers. Schedule briefings to provide O&S with information on the key aspects of developing decisions.  Aim to hold these as early as possible 
and at least 3 months prior to the decision to be made.  Chairs and Vice Chairs take the lead in this, using the Cabinet Forward Plan and 

informal discussions with decision makers. 

 Using the information provided at briefings and the agreed O&S lenses to determine which forthcoming Cabinet decisions will benefit from a 
councillor maintaining a watching brief and reporting back (rapporteur) or ultimately pre-decision scrutiny at committee. 

 Give notice as early as possible of those items required for pre-decision scrutiny, to enable report authors to work to the relevant O&S 

timescales. 

 Provide regular reporting on out of committee activity into a committee meeting via Chair, to maintain transparency of O&S activity.  

 Note – this framework for selecting pre-decision scrutiny is expected to significantly reduce the number of Cabinet reports being considered by 

O&S committees but will require a commitment from decision makers to share information with O&S in a different way that is both open and 

timely.  The proposed format will also provide decision makers with the opportunity to surface issues with the wider membership of the council 

prior to decision making and to gather informal input to shape direction of policy.  

 

 

Reactive Scrutiny 
 
 
What is it?: 

 Emerging issues that arise throughout the year and can’t easily be planned for in advance.  

 Usually a significant issue of concern or risk to the council, residents or external bodies (eg. Ofsted or Government department) 

 Fulfils BCP principles of good scrutiny: 
 

169



‘O&S contributes to sound decision making in a timely way by holding decision makers to account as a ‘critical friend’; 
‘O&S is agile – able to respond to changing and emerging priorities at the right time with flexible work ing methods’ 
‘O&S Contributes to and reflects the vision and priorities of the council ’; 

 
Examples 

 Targeted scrutiny on council finances at the end of 2022 following concerns about in-year budget 

 Safety valve scrutiny at Children’s O&S Committee 

 Best Value and Assurance Review reports. 

 Decisions ‘called in’ by O&S 
 

Method for undertaking scrutiny 
 O&S Councillors review a suite of information regularly outside of the committee space – eg. corporate performance reports, medium term 

financial plan updates, complaints data or resident surveys. 

 ‘Red flags’ are elevated to committee for more formal scrutiny to take place.  Usually, a report is requested from officers. 

 Any recommendations or comments made on the report are formally passed to the relevant decision maker, usually Cabinet/ Council. 

 Cabinet/ Council must consider the recommendations made and respond. 

 O&S may ask to receive regular updates outside of committee, to maintain a closer eye on the matter until it is resolved. 
 

Pros and Cons 
 Important governance mechanism to assist the council in resolving issues of concern.   
 Provides public demonstration of scrutiny on issues that may be causing press interest or community concern and gives opportunity for public to 

engage. 
 Limited impact vs time spent.  O&S may ask decision makers to reconsider an issue or make recommendations expressing concerns but cannot 

change a decision.   

 Can disrupt workplans owing to the need to scrutinise a matter quickly. 
 Potential to duplicate other scrutiny opportunities – eg. full council debate. 

 
 
Method for selection of reactive scrutiny topics: 
 

 Committee members ‘horizon scan’ by reviewing a suite of information on a regular basis in their own time.  These are provided by email or in a 
designated webspace.  Rapporteurs may be established to monitor designated areas of interest, sharing the load across the committee.  

 Emerging trends or red flags are raised by committee members informally to the Chair & Vice Chair. 

 Chair and Vice Chair take the lead in raising concerns with relevant decision makers and seeking more information.  Using this information and 

the lenses established by committees, they determine which matters warrant elevating to committee.   

 In all cases, O&S will prioritise work where it can have the most value and will avoid duplicating efforts underway elsewhere in the council to 

resolve arising issues.  Priority will therefore be given either to those areas of highest concern and which are generating significant public and 

media attention; where data trends indicate that concerns are at risk of becoming embedded, or where attempts to find solutions by Cabinet or 

service areas have not worked.   

170



 For these matters, a report is requested to the next available committee meeting for more formal and forensic scrutiny to take place.  Work 

plans may be adjusted to make room for this arising work within existing resources. 

 Following formal scrutiny, O&S may ask to receive regular updates outside of committee, to maintain a closer eye on the matter until it is 

resolved. 

 Nb. ‘Call-in’ decisions will follow a separate process as outlined in the constitution.  

 

 
 

4. Next steps 

 The O&S Board and Environment and Place O&S Committees have adopted this framework and agreed lenses for their work. 

 In 2024, all remaining O&S committees will be asked to adopt this framework and establish lenses or a limited set of high-level priorities. 

 The framework will accompany all work programme reports to committee and should be referred to as a structure to underpin ongoing 

work programming activity.  

 The framework will be reviewed annually by O&S Chairs, and lenses reviewed annually by O&S Committees in annual work 

programming, to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

 171



T
his page is intentionally left blank

172



Request for consideration of an issue by Overview and Scrutiny 

 

 

Please complete all sections as fully as possible 

1. Issue requested for scrutiny 

 

The impact financially and environmentally on email and other electronic document  
retention, whether the Council could be improving its data retention and use strategy to 
reduce its Digital Carbon emissions, as well as the cost impact. 

 

2. Desired outcome resulting from Overview and Scrutiny engagement, 

including the value to be added to the Council, the BCP area or its 

inhabitants. 

 

To establish the current data use and retention polices of the council, and whether there is 
scope for reduction of the environmental and financial impact of those policies.  
 

Guidance on the use of this form: 

This form is for use by councillors and members of the public who want to request 

that an item joins an Overview and Scrutiny agenda.  Any issue may be 

suggested, provided it affects the BCP area or the inhabitants of the area in some 

way.  Scrutiny of the issue can only be requested once in a 12 month period. 

The form may also be used for the reporting of a referral item to Overview and 

Scrutiny by another body of the council, such as Cabinet or Council. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee receiving the request will make an 

assessment of the issue using the detail provided in this form and determine 

whether to add it to its forward plan of work.   

They may take a variety of steps to progress the issue, including requesting more 

information on it from officers of the council, asking for a member of the overview 

and scrutiny committee to ‘champion’ the issue and report back, or establishing a 

small working group of councillors to look at the issue in more detail.   

 

If the Committee does not agree to progress the issue it will set out reasons for 

this and they will be provided to the person submitting this form.  

 

More information can be found at Part 4.C of the BCP Council Constitution 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info

=1&bcr=1 

 

 

 

 

173

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


3. Background to the issue 

Data retention relating to size of documents and emails is an important issue for a council as 
a public body due to information being required for future reference and potential public 
access rules.  
However that retention also can have a significant environmental and financial impact, 
especially where its potentially superfluous, for example email signatures, reply alls on non 
consequential topics and retaining emails that say ‘thanks’. 
5mb is estimated to have a 95g carbon emission per year, an organisation holding 1 TB of 
data is therefore creating almost 20 tonnes of Carbon emissions. Some of this will be entirely 
necessary, however there may be an opportunity to save a significant amount with an 
improved data retention focus and policy.  
 

4. Proposed method of scrutiny  - (for example, a committee report or a 

working group investigation) 

Committee report 

 

5. Key dates and anticipated timescale for the scrutiny work 

As par of the transformation project it seems timely to prepare a report within the 24/25 
municipal year as part of the Environment and place ongoing work on climate change. 
 

6. Notes/ additional guidance  

 

 

y 

 

 

 

Document last reviewed – January 2022 

Contact – democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

174

mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Plant-based and reduced meat and dairy diets: discussion paper
	Appendix 1 for Plant-based diets discussion paper

	8 O&S Budget working group - scoping report
	Appendix 1 for O&S Budget Working Groups Scoping Report
	Appendix 2 for O&S Budget Working Groups Scoping Report

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report
	Appendix 1 for Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report
	Appendix 2 for Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report
	Appendix 3 for Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report
	Appendix 4 for Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report

	10 Work Plan
	Appendix A - terms of ref 28.09.23 update
	Appendix A - Overview and Scrutiny Committees Terms of Reference updated 28.09.23
	Principles of Overview and Scrutiny
	Meetings
	Membership
	Functions of the O&S Committees and O&S Board

	A&G pages
	Appendix A - Overview and Scrutiny Committees Terms of Reference updated 28.09.23
	Commissioned Work


	App B - O & S Work Plan
	App C - Scrutiny request form Jan 22 update
	App D - Cabinet Forward Plan
	App E - OS framework latest
	App F - 24-25 OS request Data retention and storage - Scruitiny request




